
 

 

 

 
To: Members of the Communities 

Scrutiny Committee 
Date: 

 
3 December 2021 
 

 Direct Dial: 
 

01824 712554 

 e-mail: democratic@denbighshire.gov.uk 

 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
You are invited to attend a meeting of the COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE to be 
held at 10.00 am on THURSDAY, 9 DECEMBER 2021 in VIA VIDEO CONFERENCE. 
 
 
Yours sincerely  
 
G. Williams 
Head of Legal, HR and Democratic Services 
 
 
AGENDA 
 
PART 1 - THE PRESS AND PUBLIC ARE INVITED TO ATTEND THIS PART OF 
THE MEETING 
 
1 APOLOGIES   

 

2 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  (Pages 5 - 6) 

 Members to declare any personal or prejudicial interests in any business 
identified to be considered at this meeting. 

 

3 URGENT MATTERS AS AGREED BY THE CHAIR   

 Notice of items which, in the opinion of the Chair, should be considered at the 
meeting as a matter of urgency pursuant to Section 100B(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 

 

4 MINUTES  (Pages 7 - 12) 

 To receive the minutes of the Communities Scrutiny Committee held on 21st 
October 2021 (copy enclosed). 

 

5 STAKEHOLDER/COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT ACTIVITY FOR 
POTENTIAL CENTRAL RHYL AND CENTRAL PRESTATYN COASTAL 
DEFENCE SCHEMES  (Pages 13 - 48) 

Public Document Pack



 

 To consider a joint report by the Council’s Flood Engineer and Project 
Managers (copy enclosed) which seeks the Committee to examine the scope 
and findings of the consultation for the schemes and formulate 
recommendations to Cabinet in relation to the approach taken. 
 

10.10am – 11am 
 

6 NEW WASTE AND RECYCLING OPERATING MODEL GENERAL 
UPDATE AND COMMUNICATIONS PROGRESS  (Pages 49 - 126) 

 To consider a report by the Council’s Waste and Recycling Manager (copy 
enclosed) which seeks the Committee to examine the progress made to date 
with the project, and seeks its views on a suite of household waste and 
recycling policies. 
 

11am – 11.50am 
 

7 SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME  (Pages 127 - 148) 

 To consider a report by the Scrutiny Coordinator (copy enclosed) seeking a 
review of the committee’s forward work programme and updating members 
on relevant issues. 
 

11.50am – 12.05pm 
 

8 FEEDBACK FROM COMMITTEE REPRESENTATIVES   

 To receive any updates from Committee representatives on various Council 
Boards and Groups 
 

12.05pm – 12.15pm 
 

BREAK 12.15pm - 1pm 
 
9 DENBIGHSHIRE'S GYPSY AND TRAVELLER ACCOMMODATION 

ASSESSMENT (2021)  (Pages 149 - 250) 

 To consider a joint report by the Council’s Strategic Planning & Housing 
Manager and the Lead Project Manager (copy enclosed) which presents the 
Committee with the conclusions of the Task and Finish Group established to 
support the work on the new Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation 
Assessment.  The report also seeks the Committee to formulate 
recommendations to Cabinet in relation to the draft Assessment. 
 

1pm – 2pm 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 
Councillors 
 



 

Councillor Huw Williams (Chair) 
 

Councillor Graham Timms (Vice-Chair) 

Brian Blakeley 
Alan Hughes 
Hugh Irving 
Tina Jones 
Merfyn Parry 
 

Anton Sampson 
Peter Scott 
Glenn Swingler 
Cheryl Williams 
 

 
COPIES TO: 
 
All Councillors for information 
Press and Libraries 
Town and Community Councils 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 

 

 

 
Code of Conduct for Members 
 

DISCLOSURE AND REGISTRATION OF INTERESTS 
 
  

I, (name)   

  

a *member/co-opted member of 
(*please delete as appropriate) 

Denbighshire County Council  

 
 

 

CONFIRM that I have declared a *personal / personal and prejudicial 
interest not previously declared in accordance with the provisions of Part III 
of the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members, in respect of the following:- 
(*please delete as appropriate) 

Date of Disclosure:   

   

Committee (please specify):   

   

Agenda Item No.   

   

Subject Matter:   

   

Nature of Interest: 

(See the note below)* 

 

 
 

 

   

Signed   

   

Date   

 

 
*Note: Please provide sufficient detail e.g. ‘I am the owner of land adjacent to the application for 
planning permission made by Mr Jones', or 'My husband / wife is an employee of the company which 
has made an application for financial assistance’. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



 

COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the Communities Scrutiny Committee held by video conference on 
Thursday, 21 October 2021 at 10.00 am. 
 

PRESENT 
 

Councillors Hugh Irving, Tina Jones, Merfyn Parry, Peter Scott, Glenn Swingler, 
Graham Timms (Vice-Chair), Cheryl Williams and Huw Williams (Chair) 
 
Councillor Brian Jones - Lead Member for Waste, Transport and the Environment 
 

ALSO PRESENT 

 
Head of Legal, HR and Democratic Services (Monitoring Officer) (GW), Flood Risk 
Engineer (WH), Head of Highways and Environmental Services (TW), Scrutiny 
Coordinator (RhE), Democratic Services Officer (KE), Committee Administrators (SJ, 
Host) (RTJ  
 
Natural Resources Wales Officers – Daniel Bryce-Smith, Paula Harley and Keith Ivens. 
Councillor Anton Sampson 

 
1 APOLOGIES  

 
No apologies for absence were received. 
 

2 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 
No declaration of interests were raised. 
 
The Head of Legal, HR and Democratic Services advised the Committee that 
corporate support for the Committee would, following the appointment of the former 
Corporate Director:  Economy and Public Realm to the role of Chief Executive, be 
provided by himself and the Head of Finance/Section 151 Officer on an alternate 
basis until further notice. 
 

3 URGENT MATTERS AS AGREED BY THE CHAIR  
 
No urgent matters had been raised with the Chair prior to the meeting. 
 

4 MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the Communities Scrutiny Committee held on 9 September 2021 
were submitted. 
 
Matters arising – 
 
Councillor Merfyn Parry queried whether there was an update to the Wildflower 
Meadow Project and whether there was going to be any further debate on the 
matter. The Scrutiny Coordinator informed Councillor Parry that the matter was 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



included on the forward work programme for September 2022, however would 
communicate with officers and see if a written report could be circulated to 
members of the committee. 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 9 September 2021 be received 
and approved as a correct record. 
 

5 SECTION 19 FLOOD INVESTIGATION REPORT INTO THE FLOOD EVENT ON 
20TH JANUARY 2021  
 
The Lead Member for Waste, Transport and the Environment alongside the Head of 
Highways and Environmental Services and the Flood Risk Engineer presented the 
20th January 2021 Flood Event – Section 19 Flood Investigation Report (previously 
circulated). 
 
During their introduction they explained that between 18th and 20th January 2021, 
Storm Christoph brought strong winds, heavy rain and snow, with the most intense 
rainfall occurring over North Wales and northern England, bringing localised 
flooding to many areas. The Met Office reported that 50 to 100mm of rain fell widely 
across Wales and north-west England, with over 100mm across upland areas of 
Wales. Denbighshire experienced the effects of this Storm, with heavy and 
prolonged rain flooding around 67 homes and 6 businesses on the 20th January. 
The majority of the flooding was from main river sources. Natural Resources Wales 
(NRW), as the relevant flood risk management authority for main rivers, had carried 
out its own flood investigations. NRW’s flood investigation reports were included as 
appendices to the overarching investigation report. 
 
Denbighshire County Council, as a Lead Local Flood Authority, had a duty under 
Section 19 of the Flood and Water Management Act to investigate flooding in its 
area. 
 
The purpose of the investigation report was to address the following key questions: 
 

 Why did the flooding happen? 

 How likely it was for that scale of flooding to happen again? 

 What improvement actions were needed to ensure flood risk in the County 
was appropriately managed in future?  

 
Prior to commencing the discussion, the Chair advised the Committee that the 
Flood Risk Management and Riparian Land Ownership Task and Finish Group, 
which was currently examining flood matters and land ownership issued had 
realised that these were extremely complex areas.  Organisations such as NRW 
and the Council were risk management authorities, however they were very rarely 
the landowners whose responsibility it was to ensure the maintenance of rivers and 
watercourses that traversed their land. 
 
 In response to Committee members’ questions the following details were provided:   
 

 NRW officers clarified that landowners as riparian owners were responsible for 
maintaining rivers within their land boundaries. Denbighshire County Council 

Page 8



(DCC) and NRW were flood risk management authorities, with NRW being 
responsible for main rivers and larger watercourses and DCC being the risk 
management authority of ordinary watercourses.   

 NRW and DCC could use their powers to carry out works on waterways for 
the purpose of alleviating potential flood risks. If a landowner wished to carry 
out work they were legally allowed to, however this work would need to ensure 
there was no detrimental effect on nature, the river’s ecosystem or o other 
people. Flood Risk Activity Permits (FRAPs) would be required prior to any 
works being carried out. 

 It was noted that Llanynys had been omitted from the report, the local member 
requested that Llanynys be included in the report, as he did not want the 
village to be miss out on any potential future flood risk alleviation work. 

 Reference had not been included in the report to the loss of Pont Llannerch as 
the report dealt with the effect of flooding on properties. However, this did not 
in any way diminish the impact the loss of the bridge had on the communities 
it served, or on the wider transport network in the county.  A public 
consultation exercise on the development of a replacement transport link had 
recently closed and the results were currently being analysed. 

 Officers confirmed they had received funding from Welsh Government (WG), 
to look at natural flood defences, this would hopefully develop over the next 
couple of years. However, it was stated if the natural defences were highly 
saturated then they impact of lessening flooding would be minimal. 

 Confirmed that drainage problems were not the cause of the flooding in the 
Clwyd Street area of Ruthin. The flooding was due to a mass volume of water 
which no flooding defence scheme could have stopped.  Drains and gullies 
were regularly cleared. Highways drainage systems were inspected and 
cleaned at least once a year, however problem areas were cleared more 
frequently. 

 NRW had updated its flood risk modelling work on the Ruthin area following 
the January 2021 flood event.  As a result it was currently applying for permits 
to undertake some further flood risk mitigation work in the area and work was 
scheduled to start the following work on the bund located at Cae Ddol. 

 NRW were exploring the possibility of including flood risk measures for the 
Rivers Ystrad at Brookhouse as part of a wider network review. 

 NRW and DCC officers agreed that neither organisation could continue to fight 
the forces of nature.  The organisations as well as residents would need to 
find ways of working with nature, including educating residents on how to 
mitigate and manage their own flood risks.   
 

Members registered their concerns in relation to the perceived lack of progress with 
the Old Gaol in Ruthin, and felt the repair work was not being prioritised.  The site, 
which was a main tourist attraction, would likely not be back in operation until July 
2022, midway through the next tourism season. 
 
The Chair informed the Committee that residents/business owners of flooded 
properties in the Mill Street/Clwyd Street area of Ruthin had received a copy of the 
Section 19 Flood Investigation Report and had subsequently forwarded some 
questions for the Committee to ask on their behalf.  The Vice-Chair read out the 
questions which related to the Council’s flood risk management responsibilities, 
drainage related matters and an issue relating to a non-return valve situated close 

Page 9



to the Old Gaol.  Officers advised that the issues regarding the Council’s risk 
management responsibilities and drainage had already been explained during the 
discussion.  The purpose of the non-return valve was to stop water from the River 
Clwyd from entering into the drainage system causing additional problems.  The 
valve had operated as expected.  The query relating to highway gullies being 
blocked had been dealt with during Stage 2 of the Council’s Complaints Procedure 
and officers were not in a position to comment further at this stage as the matter 
may be referred to the Public Services Ombudsman for further investigation. 
 
At the conclusion of an in-depth discussion it was:  
 
RESOLVED: to –  

 
(i) receive the findings and conclusions of the Section 19 January 2021 

Flood Investigation Report; and  
to note the assurances given by Natural Resources Wales that the 
recommendations identified in its flood investigation reports would be carried 
out 
 

6 FLOOD RISK MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITIES IN RELATION TO THE RHYL 
CUT AND PRESTATYN GUTTER  
 
The Lead Member for Waste, Transport and the Environment, supported by the 
Head of Highways and Environmental Services (HHES) and the Flood Risk 
Manager presented the Flood Risk Management Responsibilities in relation to the 
Rhyl Cut and Prestatyn Gutter report (previously circulated) to the Committee. In 
addition to Denbighshire County Council officers three representatives from Natural 
Resources Wales (NRW) were in attendance for the discussion - Keith Ivens, 
Daniel Bryce-Smith and Paula Harley. 
 
The report presented conclusions of the joint study, led by NRW, into whether 
improvements could be made to the management of the Rhyl Cut and Prestatyn 
Gutter, adjacent drains and sewers – a complex network of watercourses in the 
Rhyl and Prestatyn area, which comprised of natural watercourses, some of which 
had been modified as well as constructed waterways.  The report also outlined 
each organisation’s responsibilities in relation to flood management and flood 
mitigation. 
 
Following the flooding that affected parts of Rhyl and Prestatyn in July 2017, NRW 
commenced a review of the hydrology, management and maintenance of Rhyl Cut 
and Prestatyn Gutter, which are classed as “main river” watercourses. Denbighshire 
County Council (DCC) and Welsh Water (WW) agreed to support NRW with the 
project, which would also hopefully provide a better understanding of how each 
organisation’s assets interact, particularly during times of heavy rainfall. 
 
The project was carried out in three phases. 

(i) Phase 1 which involved a flood risk modelling study, to give NRW a better understanding of 

the hydrology of the river catchments. 

Page 10



(ii) Phase 2 that resulted in a catchment management report, which took a broad overview of 

the management of Rhyl Cut and Prestatyn Gutter and the areas surrounding the two 

watercourses. 

(iii) Phase 3 built upon the recommendations within the Phase 2 management report and 

involved discussions within NRW’s operational maintenance teams to consider the impacts 

of maintenance within different sub-reaches of the watercourses. There was still some 

work to carry out in terms of producing a comprehensive maintenance and management 

plan and this would require a process of public and stakeholder consultation. 

 
The Committee was shown a presentation by NRW officers outlining the work which 
had been carried out by NRW, DCC and WW. The first three stages had now been 
delivered, the findings of which would allow flood risk management teams to 
develop long term management and maintenance strategies. 
 
The approach which was taken for the third phase was an evidence-based one 
using detailed hydraulic modelling.  This work had included an assessment on the 
impact of channel vegetation (roughness), bed levels, and blockages at key 
locations. This has improved NRW’s understanding of localised maintenance and 
informed efficient risk-based management techniques within each sub-reach. 
 
During the third phase NRW had also been able to identify potential opportunities 
for capital interventions to reduce flood risk. It recognised the current risk of flooding 
to the communities of Prestatyn and Rhyl and has plans in place to undertake a full 
appraisal of options for improvement works, commencing with a Strategic Outline 
Case (SOC) in 2022. 
 
During the ensuing discussion:   
 

 members thanked officers for the work which had been carried out, however some felt 

that aspects of the work should have been carried out sooner.   

 NRW confirmed that issues such as the maintenance of property gardens and walls and the 

need to safeguard debris etc, from entering or falling into the Rhyl Cut and causing 

blockages was a matter for the riparian landowners i.e. individual property owners.  NRW 

were not the owners of the Cut, it had permitted powers insofar as to undertake work to 

mitigate the risk of flooding from the watercourse.  For this purpose, NRW had access 

points at certain locations along the Cut to enable it to gain access to undertake the 

necessary maintenance work.  This avoided the need for it to seek the agreement of 

multiple riparian landowners in order to undertake essential flood maintenance work. 

 The Monitoring Officer confirmed that he would liaise with the Council’s Legal Services 

Department to confirm whether the Council was a riparian land owner for any part of the 

Rhyl Cut or Prestatyn Gutter.  

 NRW officers confirmed that the annual programme of flood maintenance work was 

carried out on both the Cut and Gutter from late August onwards, once the bird nesting 

season had ended.  The maintenance worked commenced on the lower reaches working 

up towards the higher reaches 

The Committee:   
 
RESOLVED subject to the above observations to: 

Page 11



 
(i) receive the contents of the report, appendices and presentation; and  

(ii) seek Denbighshire County Council officers to establish whether the Council itself was a 

riparian landowner for any part the Rhyl Cut or the Prestatyn Gutter. 

 
7 SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME  

 
The Scrutiny Coordinator (SC) submitted a report (previously circulated) seeking 
members’ review of the Committee’s work programme and provided an update on 
relevant issues. 
 
Discussion focused on the following – 
 

 The SC advised that there were three substantial items being discussed at the next 

meeting, members were asked whether they would be happy to hold the meeting in two 

separate sessions on the same day in order to facilitate the timing of the discussion on the 

Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment. Members agreed with this proposal. 

 5 additional items had been added to the Committee’s forward work programme at the 

recent Scrutiny Chairs and Vice-Chairs Group meeting, details of which were included in 

the report. 

 Councillor Merfyn Parry queried with the SC whether there was an update on the report 

that had been requested some time ago on the community impact of the closure of Ysgol 

Rhewl. The SC informed Councillor Parry the item was still on the forward work 

programme. The SC informed members that discussions were underway between officers 

from the Education Service and officers in the Business Improvement and Modernisation 

Service on how to progress this work.  

 
RESOLVED: subject to the above comments and inclusions to confirm the 
Committee’s forward work programme. 
 

8 FEEDBACK FROM COMMITTEE REPRESENTATIVES  
 
No feedback had been received by Committee members. 
 

Meeting concluded at 11:45am 
 
 

Page 12



 

Report to Communities Scrutiny Committee 

Date of meeting 9 December 2021 

Lead Member / Officer Councillor Brian Jones, Lead Member for Waste, 

Transport and the Environment / Tony Ward, Head of 

Highways and Environmental Services 

Report author Matthew Hazlewood / Helen Johnson / Wayne Hope 

Title Stakeholder/community engagement for potential 

Central Rhyl and Central Prestatyn Coastal Defence 

Schemes 

1. What is the report about?  

1.1. The report details of the stakeholder and community consultation activity of 

Prestatyn and Central Rhyl flood defence schemes during 2021. 

2. What is the reason for making this report?  

2.1. To provide an update report on stakeholders and community engagement for 

Prestatyn and Central Rhyl flood defence schemes in line the recommendation 

from the Communities Scrutiny Committee meeting dated, 10th December, 2020 

(see extract from the minutes below):  

Flood Risk Management across Denbighshire  

Resolved Article (iv)  

the respective Member Area Groups (MAGs) should be engaged with in relation 

to the design and development phases of the Central Rhyl Coastal Defence 

Scheme and the Central Prestatyn Coastal Defence Scheme during the course 

of the next 12 months and that the conclusions of this phase of the schemes be 

reported back to the Committee in due course. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



 
 

3. What are the Recommendations?  

3.1. That the Committee examines the scope and findings of the stakeholder and 

public consultation for the schemes, comments accordingly, and recommends 

to Cabinet (18th January 2022) that it is satisfied with the consultation approach 

and findings. 

3.2. That the Committee confirms that, as part of its consideration, it has read; 

understood; and taken account of the Wellbeing Impact Assessments (attached 

at Appendices 3a and 3b). 

4. Report details 

4.1. Prestatyn 

The existing coastal defences along Rhyl Golf Course frontage are about 70 

years old and in poor condition, which means they could be breached in the 

next 30 years. 

If the existing defences fail in this location, the flood risk to over 2,000 

properties in the Prestatyn area will increase significantly. This is because low 

land elevations behind the defences will allow any tidal flood water to spread 

and flood a wide area. 

After an appraisal of options, the preferred option (indicative cost £25m) is an 

earth embankment that follows the boundary of Rhyl Golf Club and is set back 

from the front-line defences.  As the current front line defences become 

increasingly overtopped during storm events, flood water will be contained 

within the golf course until it can discharge back to the sea.  The extent of the 

proposed scheme, and an image of the proposed design, can be seen in 

Appendices 1a and 1b. 

Rhyl Golf Club, Prestatyn MAG, Denbighshire committees and staff have been 

the focus of consultation on this development.  A public drop-in engagement 

event is also being organised for mid-December, 2021.  The timeline of 

consultation with stakeholders, and the general responses, can be found in 

Appendix 1c.  

Page 14



 
 

The consultation and targeted engagement process has provided some useful 

feedback which will be incorporated into the final proposals. In addition to the 

targeted engagements, professional stakeholders have also been consulted 

e.g. Natural Resources Wales and The Crown Estate. Natural Resources Wales 

were particularly interested about the potential impact of the scheme on their 

pumping station on Rhyl Golf Course, any concerns raised have been 

addressed. 

4.2. Central Rhyl   

The central area of Rhyl (between Splash Point and the Drift Park) is 

currently protected by sea defences that are deteriorating. The Council wants 

to ensure that existing defences are replaced well ahead of time, to protect 

this popular part of Rhyl's coastline from flooding and coastal erosion. Design 

elements for consideration are: 

 Rock armour scour protection, buried beneath the existing sand level, and 

concrete repairs to the existing sea wall, towards the eastern end of the 

proposed scheme area.  

 Concrete stepped revetment to absorb energy from the waves, incorporating 

beach access steps and a large beach access ramp, between the Drift Park 

and Rhyl SeaQuarium. 

 A new raised promenade and back of the promenade sea defence wall, 

between the Drift Park and Rhyl SeaQuarium. 

 Widening the promenade adjacent to the Children's Village. 

The extent of the proposed scheme, and an image of the proposed design, 

can be seen in Appendix 2a and 2b. 

The location of the scheme, and the importance of the coastline to Rhyl, 

required public consultation as well as Denbighshire committees, staff and local 

stakeholders affected by the scheme.  The timeline of consultation, with 

responses, can be found in Appendix 2c and 2d.  

The consultation and targeted engagement process has provided some useful 

feedback which will be incorporated into the final proposals. In particular, 

Page 15



 
 

extensive discussions have taken place with Denbighshire Leisure Ltd and Rhyl 

SeaQuarium. In addition to the targeted engagements, professional 

stakeholders have also been consulted e.g. Natural Resources Wales and The 

Crown Estate.  

5. How does the decision contribute to the Corporate 

Priorities?  

5.1. Denbighshire Council’s Corporate plan (2017-22) has two priorities that are 

relevant in this case; Environment and Younger People. Progression of the 

schemes will meet an ambition under the Environment priority to protect 

residents from flooding.  Work experience and work opportunities for younger 

people should be available during future construction phases.   

6. What will it cost and how will it affect other services? 

6.1. There are no cost implications from the stakeholder and consultation activities, 

as development work for both schemes are 100% grant funded from Welsh  

Government. 

6.2. Communities & Customers and Business Improvement & Modernisation have 

been assisting (e.g. with web site development and surveys).  

7. What are the main conclusions of the Well-being 

Impact Assessment 

7.1. Prestatyn Summary: The aim of the project is to reduce flood risk in Prestatyn. 

Provided this aim is fulfilled, the result will be a more prosperous, resilient, 

healthy, equal and globally responsible Denbighshire.  See Appendix 3a for the 

full assessment. 

7.2. Central Rhyl Summary: The aim of the project is to reduce flood risk in Central 

Rhyl. Provided this aim is fulfilled, the result will be a more prosperous, resilient, 

healthy, equal and globally responsible Denbighshire.  See Appendix 3b for the 

full assessment. 

Page 16



 
 

8. What consultations have been carried out with Scrutiny 

and others? 

8.1. Prestatyn: For details of stakeholders and committees consulted please refer to 

the consultation timeline in section 1c of appendix 1.  

8.2. Central Rhyl: For details of stakeholders and committees consulted please refer 

to the consultation timeline in sections 2c and 2d of appendix 2.  

9. Chief Finance Officer Statement 

9.1. There are no direct financial implications relating to the engagement phase of 

these projects, although obviously both projects will require significant financial 

investment by the Council if progressed. 

10. Risks 

10.1. There is a risk that the Committee do not support the consultation approaches 

of both schemes, as this could result in delaying the submission of business 

cases for these schemes to Cabinet, Council and Welsh Government.  This 

could jeopardise our ability to obtain funding for 85% of the cost of both 

schemes from Welsh Government, due to the existence of funding deadlines.   

11. Power to make the decision 

11.1. Scrutiny’s power to make the recommendation in relation to this matter to 

Cabinet is as per Section 21 of the Local Government Act 2000 and as outlined 

in Sections 7.2, 7.3 and 7.4.2(d) of the Denbighshire Council Constitution.  

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 Prestatyn coastal flood alleviation scheme location, design and 

consultation timeline 

1a Prestatyn frontage 

 

Although the entire frontage (shown by the red line in the location plan 

above) will eventually need improvements, the Central Prestatyn Coastal 

Defence Scheme focuses on the area of most immediate concern, adjacent 

to Rhyl Golf Club: see below 

 
Page 19



1a Cont’d Prestatyn flood risk map adjacent to Rhyl Golf Club 

 

1b Prestatyn coastal flood alleviation design 

 

 

 

Page 20



1c Prestatyn stakeholder engagement timeline  

The below details key engagement in 2021 up to the submission date for scrutiny, 

25th Nov 2021. 

Incidences of where an adaptive approach to design and consultation are highlighted 

in bold 

Date  Stakeholder  Reason Response 

10/12/21 Scrutiny Advice on 
consultation 

Engage with local MAG’s 

01/03/21 Cabinet 
Briefing 

Update on schemes 
and discussion about 
proceeding to 
planning 

Proceed to planning application 
stage with no guarantee of 
funding of the schemes. Future 
cabinet briefing update required 

19/04/21 Prestatyn 
MAG  

Presentation on the 
scheme design and 
issues 

More information required on the 
reasoning for the location of the 
scheme. A special MAG meeting 
to be scheduled for June 

27/05/21 Rhyl Golf 
Club 

Discuss the design 
option and 
construction 
methodology 

RGC understood the need for 
the design but require more info 
on the methodology and how it 
will affect the club. Joint press 
release issued on how DCC and 
RGC are working together. 
Regular meetings put in place 
and Councillors Tony Thomas 
and Barry Mellor were updated 
about the meeting. 

30/06/21 Special 
Prestatyn 
MAG 

Special meeting to go 
through technical 
aspects of the design 

Low attendance, those raising 
issues previously were not 
present. Design and information 
were sent to non-attendees but 
no responses received. 

31/08/21 Rhyl Golf 
Club 

Discuss the 
construction method 
of the scheme 

RGC were made aware that the 
construction method would 
require closure of the club at 
certain times. RGC asked for 
work to start in Oct / Nov rather 
than in the Spring. This has 
been taken on board. 

20/09/21 Rhyl MAG Update on Prestatyn 
scheme 

Rhyl members received the 
presentation and understood the 
nature of the project. 

28/10/21 Rhyl Golf 
Club 

Ongoing discussions DCC continues to have 
productive discussions with 
RGC 

16/11/21 Prestatyn 
MAG 

Update on Prestatyn 
scheme 

Meeting cancelled due to ICT 
issues.  Will request to attend 
future meeting instead. 

 

Future planned engagement includes: Cabinet Briefing 06/12/21, Strategic 

Investment Group (SIG) 14/12/21, Cabinet 18/01/22, Full Council 22/02/22, re-

scheduled MAG (date tbc). 
Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 Central Rhyl coastal flood alleviation scheme location, design and 

consultation timeline 

2a Central Rhyl frontage and location of the 3km+ scheme (blue / green below) 

 

  

Page 23



2b Central Rhyl design comparing existing infrastructure with proposed 

visualisations of the scheme 

 

 

 

Page 24



 

 

 Page 25



 

 

  

Page 26



2c Central Rhyl stakeholder engagement timeline  

The below details key engagement in 2021 up to the submission date for scrutiny, 

25th Nov 2021. 

Incidences of where an adaptive approach to design and consultation are highlighted 

in bold 

Date  Stakeholder  Reason Response 

10/12/20 Scrutiny Advice on 
consultation 

Engage with local MAG’s 

01/03/21 Cabinet 
Briefing 

Update on schemes 
and discussion about 
proceeding to 
planning 

Proceed to planning application 
stage with no guarantee of 
funding of the schemes. Future 
cabinet briefing update required 

20/04/21 Rhyl MAG Presentation on the 
scheme design and 
issues 

Rhyl MAG noted the proposals, 
but made no particular 
comments. 

10/05/21 Planning and 
Public 
Protection 

Meeting looking for 
synergy between 
Central Rhyl flood 
defence scheme and 
the Central Prom 
project. 

The Central Rhyl flood defence 
scheme will design in an access 
point onto the beach that will 
complement the future Central 
Prom landscaping project  

19/05/21 Rhyl 
Regeneration 
Board 
Meeting 

Update on the design 
and the synergies 
with other Rhyl 
projects 

The meeting recognised the 
Central Prom and Central Rhyl 
flood defence schemes are 
different in nature but will work 
together to provide better links 
to accessing the beach. A future 
Rhyl Regen board meeting will 
be attended to update on the 
future of the rock revetment on 
the beach as this was raised as 
a concern. 

13/07/21 Kiosk lease 
holders 

Jones Redfearn 
notify kiosk lease 
holders that leases 
will cease if the 
scheme goes ahead  

Kiosk lease holders have 
instructed an intermediary to 
enter negotiations with Jones 
Redfearn, who are acting on 
DCC’s behalf. 

21/07/21 
to 
11/08/21 

Online and 
postal public 
consultation 

Receive views on the 
design for Central 
Rhyl 

Public and Rhyl Town Council 
concerned over the design 
particularly access to the beach 
and impacts on tourism.    
 
The feedback updated the 
design. The rock armour was 
removed from a 500m section of 
the design, subject to review 
and WG approval, as the current 
beach level can provide 
protection. 
 
A visualisation model of the 
design was developed and will 
be shown to Denbighshire 

Page 27



Leisure and a joint meeting of 
Rhyl Town Council and Rhyl 
MAG 
 

08/10/21 Denbighshire 
Leisure / Cllr 
Bobby Feely 

Walk the site of 
proposed scheme 
and talk through 
implications to the 
SC2 building  

Positive talks but final response 
from DL dependant on the 
construction programme and the 
affects to accessing SC2.  

14/10/21 Combined 
Rhyl Town 
Council / 
MAG 

Present the 
visualisation of the 
scheme and answer 
questions on the 
design to alleviate 
issues received from 
the online 
consultation  

Visualisation was well received 
and attendees were very 
supportive of the scheme. 

17/11/21 Rhyl Regen 
Board 

To update on the 
scheme 

Future meeting 

 

Future planned engagement includes: Cabinet Briefing 06/12/21, Strategic 

Investment Group (SIG) 14/12/21, Cabinet 18/01/22 and Full Council 22/02/22   

 

 

 

 

 

Page 28



Coastal defence works at
Prestatyn
Well-being Impact Assessment Report
This report summarises the likely impact of the proposal on the social, economic, environmental
and cultural well-being of Denbighshire, Wales and the world.

Assessment Number: 983

Brief description: Coastal defence works at Prestatyn to reduce the risk of flooding and
coastal erosion.

Date Completed: Version: 0

Completed by:

Responsible Service: Highways & Environmental Services

Localities affected by
the proposal: Prestatyn,

Who will be affected by
the proposal?

The residents and business owners of Prestatyn will be positively
impacted as the proposed flood defence scheme will safeguard their
homes and businesses.

Was this impact
assessment completed
as a group?

No

Appendix 3a

Page 29



IMPACT ASSESSMENT SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION
Before we look in detail at the contribution and impact of the proposal, it is important to consider
how the proposal is applying the sustainable development principle. This means that we must act "in
a manner which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the
ability of future generations to meet their own needs."

Score for the sustainability of the approach

 ( 3 out of 4 stars ) Actual score : 29 / 36.

Summary for each Sustainable Development principle

Long term

The project will be carried out in a way that ensures that are minimal
negative impacts on the natural environment. There may be opportunities
to improve biodiversity in the built environment. Flooding of properties
creates a large amount of contaminated, non-recyclable waste. Post flood
clear up operations use a considerable amount of energy/fuel, therefore
this project will reduce this risk. There are strong links between flooding
and climate change (sea level rise). The project will draw these issues to
the attention of Denbighshire residents. Flood risk is understood to have a
negative impact on the economic prosperity of communities, Therefore,
reducing flood risk will have a positive impact. The project involves heavy
civil engineering work which will provide an opportunity for local
employment in that sector. Reduced flood risk will encourage potential
future employers to invest in the area. Coastal engineering is a specialism
and the project has the potential to enable to development of local skills in
this field. By developing this scheme it will protect as many properties as
possible to the highest economically achievable standard.

Prevention

Coastal defence works at Prestatyn will reduce the risk of flooding and
coastal erosion. The project will make Prestatyn more resilient to future
flood events. The current and ongoing risk of flooding of properties has a
significant negative impact on the prosperity of the county, as
demonstrated by the floods that affected the region in 2012 and 2013.
Therefore, the project will have a positive impact on the community. The
project will have the greatest positive impact on the most vulnerable
members of the community. People with protected characteristics are our
most vulnerable residents during a flood event. Reducing the risk of
flooding will improve their well-being. One of the consequences of flooding
is high insurance costs, which could result in poverty. The project could
make properties cheaper to insure for residents.

Integration

The existing beach at this location is sometimes floods the coastal path
and over onto the Golf Course. Whilst the project won't stop this
happening it should reduce this likelihood of flooding the surrounding
properties. Peoples concerns and fears of being flooded have a significant
impact on their emotional and mental well-being. The project will
significantly reduce this likelihood.

Collaboration

We have consulted with the Council's Countryside Service team and
Natural Resources Wales. We have consulted with Local councillors,
Prestatyn Golf Club, MAG and the community. The project involves heavy
civil engineering work which will provide an opportunity for local
employment in that sector. Reduced flood risk will encourage potential
future employers to invest in the area. Coastal engineering is a specialism
and the project has the potential to enable to development of local skills in
this field. By reducing the risk of flooding it will reduce the need to drain
resources from the emergency services once a flood clean up is needed.

Page 30



Well-being Goals

A prosperous Denbighshire Positive

A resilient Denbighshire Positive

A healthier Denbighshire Positive

A more equal Denbighshire Positive

A Denbighshire of cohesive communities Positive

A Denbighshire of vibrant culture and thriving
Welsh language Neutral

A globally responsible Denbighshire Positive

Involvement
We have consulted with local members in Prestatyn, Prestatyn Golf Club,
community groups, local businesses and are keeping the public up to date
with regular communications in the local newspapers.

Summary of impact

Main conclusions

The aim of the project is to reduce flood risk in Prestatyn. Provided this aim is fulfilled, the result will
be a more
prosperous, resilient, healthy, equal and globally responsible Denbighshire.

Evidence to support the Well-being Impact Assessment

 We have consulted published research or guides that inform us about the likely impact of the
proposal

 We have involved an expert / consulted a group who represent those who may affected by the
proposal

 We have engaged with people who will be affected by the proposal

Page 31



THE LIKELY IMPACT ON DENBIGHSHIRE, WALES AND THE
WORLD

A prosperous Denbighshire

Overall Impact Positive

Justification for
impact

The positives to this proposal way outweighs any short terms negatives.
The opportunities for work experience, training, apprenticeships and the
use of local businesses is positive.

Further actions
required

The main negative in this proposal is the need to use lorries for
transporting the materials to site. Although we cannot mitigate these
impacts as the lorries are not Electric, the need to use them is relatively
short lived.

Positive impacts identified:

A low carbon society

If there is less risk of flooding then more people can cycle, walk.
Reducing the risk of flooding will reduce the need to use emergency
services and their large fire engines/ambulances/boats etc reducing the
carbon emissions.

Quality
communications,
infrastructure and
transport

Our project will put Denbighshire in better stead for operating in more
extreme and frequent weather events as it will reduce the risk of flooding
due to rising sea levels.

Economic
development

The project could help lower house insurance premiums for residents. 
Through community benefits, there will be a number of work experience
places to be taken by local young adults who may want a career within
civil engineering. 

Quality skills for the
long term

As young adults have work experience opportunities then hopefully they
will go on to qualify in their chosen fields and take forward quality skills
for their futures, and possibly for their families futures.
A positive outlook on employment will bring positive health and well
being.

Quality jobs for the
long term

Local community benefits will see the need for local young adults to
engage with work experience and apprenticeship opportunities.

Childcare

The Welsh Government have a scheme called Childcare Offer in Wales
which financially helps parents of 3/4 year olds with childcare needs.
Some employers offer childcare voucher schemes in which the
government help with childcare costs. 

Negative impacts identified:

A low carbon society The initial use of lorries transporting materials to site will necessitate the
need to use roads and carbon emissions from the lorries.

Quality
communications,
infrastructure and
transport

Economic
development

Quality skills for the
long term

Quality jobs for the
long term

Page 32



Childcare More young adults who gain employment may need access to affordable
childcare.

A resilient Denbighshire

Overall Impact Positive

Justification for
impact The project will make Prestatyn more resilient to future flood events.

Further actions
required

Through consultation with the Council's Countryside Service team and
Natural Resources Wales.

Positive impacts identified:

Biodiversity and the
natural environment

The project will be carried out in a way that ensures that are minimal
negative impacts on the natural
environment.

Biodiversity in the
built environment

There may be opportunities to improve biodiversity in the built
environment.

Reducing waste,
reusing and
recycling

Flooding of properties creates a large amount of contaminated, non-
recyclable waste. The project will reduce this likelihood.

Reduced energy/fuel
consumption

Post flood clear up operations use a considerable amount of energy/fuel,
this project will reduce that.

People’s awareness
of the environment
and biodiversity

There are strong links between flooding and climate change (sea level
rise). The project will draw these issues to the attention of Denbighshire
residents.

Flood risk
management The project will reduce the likelihood of flooding in Prestatyn.

Negative impacts identified:

Biodiversity and the
natural environment

Biodiversity in the
built environment

Reducing waste,
reusing and
recycling

Reduced energy/fuel
consumption

People’s awareness
of the environment
and biodiversity

Flood risk
management

A healthier Denbighshire

Overall Impact Positive

Justification for
impact

The project will have a beneficial impact on the mental well-being of
residents currently at risk of flooding.

Page 33



Further actions
required

By working with local residents and community groups as the project
develops to ensure that residents fears and concerns are recognised and
addressed.

Positive impacts identified:

A social and physical
environment that
encourage and
support health and
well-being

The coastal path will be re routed if it is subject to flooding to take it
around the Golf Course then back on to the Promenade. This is used for
walking and cycling etc.

Access to good
quality, healthy food N/A

People’s emotional
and mental well-
being

Peoples concerns and fears of being flooded have a significant impact on
their emotional and mental well-being.
The project will significantly reduce this likelihood.

Access to healthcare N/A

Participation in
leisure opportunities

If there is a future need to re-route the coastal path around the current
Golf course then this will continue the coastal path for residents that use it
for physical activity.

Negative impacts identified:

A social and physical
environment that
encourage and
support health and
well-being

Access to good
quality, healthy food

People’s emotional
and mental well-
being

Access to healthcare

Participation in
leisure opportunities

A more equal Denbighshire

Overall Impact Positive

Justification for
impact

The project will have the greatest positive impact on the most vulnerable
members
of the community.

Further actions
required n/a

Positive impacts identified:

Page 34



Improving the well-
being of people with
protected
characteristics. The
nine protected
characteristics are:
age; disability;
gender
reassignment;
marriage or civil
partnership;
pregnancy and
maternity; race;
religion or belief;
sex; and sexual
orientation

People with protected characteristics are our most vulnerable residents
during a flood event. Reducing the risk of flooding will improve their well-
being.

People who suffer
discrimination or
disadvantage

Reducing the risk of flooding will improve their well-being. Even if the
coastal path has to be re-routed in the future then it will still be able to be
used for physical exercise and mental well-being

People affected by
socio-economic
disadvantage and
unequal outcomes

One of the consequences of flooding is high insurance costs, which could
result in poverty. The project could
make properties cheaper to insure.

Areas affected by
socio-economic
disadvantage

Protecting Prestatyn from possible flooding will help the area's businesses
and keep access to services open

Negative impacts identified:

Improving the well-
being of people with
protected
characteristics. The
nine protected
characteristics are:
age; disability;
gender
reassignment;
marriage or civil
partnership;
pregnancy and
maternity; race;
religion or belief;
sex; and sexual
orientation

People who suffer
discrimination or
disadvantage

People affected by
socio-economic
disadvantage and
unequal outcomes

Areas affected by
socio-economic
disadvantage

A Denbighshire of cohesive communities
Page 35



Overall Impact Positive

Justification for
impact

Reducing flood risk will improve the strength and long term viability of the
community.

Further actions
required n/a

Positive impacts identified:

Safe communities
and individuals

Following previous flood events, crime e.g., burglary, has been an issue
during the recovery phase. Reducing the likelihood of flooding will have a
positive impact.

Community
participation and
resilience

There is already a strong community in Prestatyn, with a good knowledge
of flood risk. The community will be
engaged with as the project develops.

The attractiveness of
the area

Connected
communities

Any flooding could disrupt the connectivity to broadband and travel
infrastructure, therefore reducing the likelihood of flooding will reduce this
issue.

Rural resilience Reducing the likelihood of flooding will help build a resilient rural
community.

Negative impacts identified:

Safe communities
and individuals

Community
participation and
resilience

The attractiveness of
the area The 3m high bund may be seen as slightly unsightly

Connected
communities

Rural resilience

A Denbighshire of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language

Overall Impact Neutral

Justification for
impact n/a

Further actions
required n/a

Positive impacts identified:

People using Welsh n/a

Promoting the Welsh
language Welsh policy will be implemented on the construction site

Culture and heritage n/a

Negative impacts identified:

People using Welsh

Promoting the Welsh
language Page 36



Culture and heritage

A globally responsible Denbighshire

Overall Impact Positive

Justification for
impact n/a

Further actions
required n/a

Positive impacts identified:

Local, national,
international supply
chains

It's likely that the project will maximise the use of the local supply chain.

Human rights Procurement will be carried out with due cognisance of human rights law.

Broader service
provision in the local
area or the region

n/a

Reducing climate
change n/a

Negative impacts identified:

Local, national,
international supply
chains

Human rights

Broader service
provision in the local
area or the region

Reducing climate
change

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Central Rhyl Coastal Defence
Works
Well-being Impact Assessment Report
This report summarises the likely impact of the proposal on the social, economic, environmental
and cultural well-being of Denbighshire, Wales and the world.

Assessment Number: 982

Brief description: Coastal defence works at Central Rhyl to reduce the risk of flooding and
coastal erosion.

Date Completed: Version: 0

Completed by:

Responsible Service: Highways & Environmental Services

Localities affected by
the proposal: Rhyl,

Who will be affected by
the proposal?

The residents and business owners of Rhyl will be positively impacted as
the proposed flood defence scheme will safeguard their homes and
businesses.

Was this impact
assessment completed
as a group?

No

Appendix 3b

Page 39



IMPACT ASSESSMENT SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION
Before we look in detail at the contribution and impact of the proposal, it is important to consider
how the proposal is applying the sustainable development principle. This means that we must act "in
a manner which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the
ability of future generations to meet their own needs."

Score for the sustainability of the approach

 ( 3 out of 4 stars ) Actual score : 33 / 36.

Summary for each Sustainable Development principle

Long term

The project will be carried out in a way that ensures that are minimal
negative impacts on the natural environment. There may be opportunities
to improve biodiversity in the built environment. Flooding of properties
creates a large amount of contaminated, non-recyclable waste. Post flood
clear up operations use a considerable amount of energy/fuel, therefore
this project will reduce this risk.There are strong links between flooding
and climate change (sea level rise). The project will draw these issues to
the attention of Denbighshire residents. Flood risk is understood to have a
negative impact on the economic prosperity of communities, Therefore,
reducing flood risk will have a positive impact. The project involves heavy
civil engineering work which will provide an opportunity for local
employment in that sector. Reduced flood risk will encourage potential
future employers to invest in the area. Coastal engineering is a specialism
and the project has the potential to enable to development of local skills in
this field. By developing this scheme it will protect as many properties as
possible to the highest economically achievable standard.

Prevention

Coastal defence works at Central Rhyl will reduce the risk of flooding and
coastal erosion. The project will make Central Rhyl more resilient to
future flood events. The current and ongoing risk of flooding of properties
has a significant negative impact on the prosperity of the county, as
demonstrated by the floods that affected the region in 2012 and 2013.
Therefore, the project will have a positive impact on the community. The
project will have the greatest positive impact on the most vulnerable
members of the community. People with protected characteristics are our
most vulnerable residents during a flood event. Reducing the risk of
flooding will improve their well-being. One of the consequences of flooding
is high insurance costs, which could result in poverty. The project could
make properties cheaper to insure for residents.

Integration

The project is likely to result in improved opportunities for beach based
leisure activities and local businesses will also benefit from the project, it
will also have a beneficial impact on the mental well-being of residents
currently at risk of flooding. The existing beach at this location is
occasionally stripped of sand due to coastal erosion. The project should
reduce this likelihood and will conserve a sandy beach. There's an
opportunity to improve the quality of the existing beach at Central Rhyl,
with an access point for all users, which will encourage greater use by
residents and tourists. Peoples concerns and fears of being flooded have a
significant impact on their emotional and mental well-being. The project
will significantly reduce this likelihood.

Page 40



Well-being Goals

A prosperous Denbighshire Positive

A resilient Denbighshire Positive

A healthier Denbighshire Positive

A more equal Denbighshire Positive

A Denbighshire of cohesive communities Positive

A Denbighshire of vibrant culture and thriving
Welsh language Neutral

A globally responsible Denbighshire Positive

Collaboration

We have consulted with the Council's Countryside Service team and
Natural Resources Wales. We have consulted Rhyl Town Council, Rhyl
MAG and the community. We are working with other council projects
(Central Prom project) to provide access onto the beach. The project
involves heavy civil engineering work which will provide an opportunity
for local employment in that sector. Reduced flood risk will encourage
potential future employers to invest in the area. Coastal engineering is a
specialism and the project has the potential to enable to development of
local skills in this field. By reducing the risk of flooding it will reduce the
need to drain resources from the emergency services once a flood clean
up is needed.

Involvement

We have consulted with local members in Rhyl, community groups, local
businesses and are keeping the public up to date with regular
communications in the local newspapers and online / paper based
consultations.

Summary of impact

Main conclusions

The aim of the project is to reduce flood risk in Central Rhyl. Provided this aim is fulfilled, the result
will be a more
prosperous, resilient, healthy, equal and globally responsible Denbighshire.

Evidence to support the Well-being Impact Assessment

 We have consulted published research or guides that inform us about the likely impact of the
proposal

 We have involved an expert / consulted a group who represent those who may affected by the
proposal

 We have engaged with people who will be affected by the proposal

Page 41



THE LIKELY IMPACT ON DENBIGHSHIRE, WALES AND THE
WORLD

A prosperous Denbighshire

Overall Impact Positive

Justification for
impact

The positives to this proposal far outweighs any short terms negatives.
The opportunities for work experience, training, apprenticeships and the
use of local businesses is positive.

Further actions
required

The construction emissions for the proposed scheme are estimated to be
7,800tCO2e. This includes the embodied carbon within the proposed
construction materials, transport of materials to site, and the use of plant
on-site. Materials were estimated to account for 86% of these emissions
with concrete being the largest contributor (45% of the total construction
emissions). Mitigation to reduce the emissions associated with the
proposed scheme include the use of standardised precast concrete
elements and the reuse of existing infrastructure (including the sky tower
and children’s village walls). In addition, the use of 85% recycled steel
rather than world average steel throughout the proposed scheme could
result in additional savings of up to 1,000tCO2e. The existing coastal
defences between Splash Point and the Events Arena are also to be
retained instead of being replaced as part of the scheme. The works to the
coastal defences Splash Point and the Events Arena are limited to repairs
and rock scour protection. Further work is ongoing to investigate the
potential to reduce the overall extent of rock scour protection for the
proposed scheme, which would if realised would likely introduce further
construction emission savings. It’s worth noting that although there will be
a significant upfront carbon cost due to the construction works (mostly
quantities of concrete and rock/fill) the scheme itself is a response to the
effects of climate change in order to protect nearly 600 properties from
flooding and coastal erosion; and safeguard the future of the town’s tourist
economy. A negative in this proposal is the need to use lorries. Main
issues might be access into the town and foot access to business during
construction. A park and ride alternative will be looked into . Although we
cannot mitigate these impacts, the need to use them is relatively short
lived.

Positive impacts identified:

A low carbon society

If there is less risk of flooding then more people can cycle, walk.
Reducing the risk of flooding will reduce the need to use emergency
services and their large fire engines/ambulances/boats etc reducing the
carbon emissions.

Quality
communications,
infrastructure and
transport

Our project will put Denbighshire in better stead for operating in more
extreme and frequent weather events as it will reduce the risk of flooding
due to rising sea levels.

Economic
development

The project could help lower house insurance premiums for residents. 
Through community benefits, there will be a number of work experience
places to be taken by local young adults who may want a career within
civil engineering. 
The project will safeguard future tourism opportunities in Rhyl.

Quality skills for the
long term

As young adults have work experience opportunities then hopefully they
will go on to qualify in their chosen fields and take forward quality skills
for their futures, and possibly for their families futures.
A positive outlook on employment will bring positive health and well
being.

Page 42



Quality jobs for the
long term

Local community benefits will see the need for local young adults to
engage with work experience and apprenticeship opportunites.

Childcare

The Welsh Government have a scheme called Childcare Offer in Wales
which financially helps parents of 3/4 year olds with childcare needs.
Some employers offer childcare voucher schemes in which the
government help with childcare costs.

Negative impacts identified:

A low carbon society

The main negative in this project is the significant upfront Carbon impact
due to the the construction works (mostly quantities of concrete and
rock/fill)
Some other issues might be access into the town and foot access to
business during construction. A park and ride alternative will be looked
into .

Quality
communications,
infrastructure and
transport

Economic
development

Some disruption to local businesses but the scheme will work with
businesses to limit disruption

Quality skills for the
long term

Quality jobs for the
long term

Childcare More young adults who gain employment may need access to affordable
childcare.

A resilient Denbighshire

Overall Impact Positive

Justification for
impact The project will make east Rhyl more resilient to future flood events.

Further actions
required

Through consultation with the Council's Countryside Service team and
Natural Resources Wales , DCC Climate change project team and the local
community of Rhyl .

Positive impacts identified:

Biodiversity and the
natural environment

The project will be carried out in a way that ensures that are minimal
negative impacts on the natural
environment.

Biodiversity in the
built environment

There may be opportunities to improve biodiversity in the built
environment.

Reducing waste,
reusing and
recycling

Flooding of properties creates a large amount of contaminated, non-
recyclable waste. The project will reduce this likelihood.

Reduced energy/fuel
consumption

Post flood clear up operations use a considerable amount of energy/fuel,
this project will reduce that.

People’s awareness
of the environment
and biodiversity

There are strong links between flooding and climate change (sea level
rise). The project will draw these issues to the attention of Denbighshire
residents.

Flood risk
management The project will reduce the likelihood of flooding in Central Rhyl.

Page 43



Negative impacts identified:

Biodiversity and the
natural environment

Biodiversity in the
built environment

Reducing waste,
reusing and
recycling

Reduced energy/fuel
consumption

People’s awareness
of the environment
and biodiversity

Flood risk
management

A healthier Denbighshire

Overall Impact Positive

Justification for
impact

The project is likely to result in improved opportunities for beach based
leisure activities for all users as an access ramp is proposed to be
constructed onto the beach is part of the design and will have a beneficial
impact on the mental well-being of residents currently at risk of flooding.

Further actions
required

By working with local residents and community groups as the project
develops to ensure that residents fears and concerns are recognised and
addressed.

Positive impacts identified:

A social and physical
environment that
encourage and
support health and
well-being

A promenade that has less likelihood of flooding will encourage physical
activity on it ie walking, cycling etc.

Access to good
quality, healthy food N/A

People’s emotional
and mental well-
being

Peoples concerns and fears of being flooded have a significant impact on
their emotional and mental well-being.
The project will significantly reduce this likelihood.

Access to healthcare N/A

Participation in
leisure opportunities

There's an opportunity to improve the access onto the existing beach at
Central Rhyl, which will encourage greater use for physical activity by
residents and tourists.

Negative impacts identified:

A social and physical
environment that
encourage and
support health and
well-being

Access to good
quality, healthy food

Page 44



People’s emotional
and mental well-
being

Access to healthcare

Participation in
leisure opportunities

A more equal Denbighshire

Overall Impact Positive

Justification for
impact

The project will have the greatest positive impact on the most vulnerable
members of the community.

Further actions
required n/A

Positive impacts identified:

Improving the well-
being of people with
protected
characteristics. The
nine protected
characteristics are:
age; disability;
gender
reassignment;
marriage or civil
partnership;
pregnancy and
maternity; race;
religion or belief;
sex; and sexual
orientation

People with protected characteristics are our most vulnerable residents
during a flood event. Reducing the risk of flooding will improve their well-
being.

People who suffer
discrimination or
disadvantage

They will be able to use the promenade and live in Rhyl without fear of
flooding.

People affected by
socio-economic
disadvantage and
unequal outcomes

One of the consequences of flooding is high insurance costs, which could
result in poverty. The project could
make properties cheaper to insure.

Areas affected by
socio-economic
disadvantage

Tourism will be better protected without the fear of flooding therefore
helping the area of Rhyl's businesses and residents working in Rhyl.

Negative impacts identified:

Page 45



Improving the well-
being of people with
protected
characteristics. The
nine protected
characteristics are:
age; disability;
gender
reassignment;
marriage or civil
partnership;
pregnancy and
maternity; race;
religion or belief;
sex; and sexual
orientation

People who suffer
discrimination or
disadvantage

People affected by
socio-economic
disadvantage and
unequal outcomes

Areas affected by
socio-economic
disadvantage

A Denbighshire of cohesive communities

Overall Impact Positive

Justification for
impact

Reducing flood risk will improve the strength and long term viability of the
community.

Further actions
required n/a

Positive impacts identified:

Safe communities
and individuals

Following previous flood events, crime e.g., burglary, has been an issue
during the recovery phase. Reducing the likelihood of flooding will have a
positive impact.

Community
participation and
resilience

There is already a strong community in Central Rhyl, with a good
knowledge of flood risk. The community will be
engaged with as the project develops.

The attractiveness of
the area

Connected
communities

Any flooding could disrupt the connectivity to broadband and travel
infrastructure, therefore reducing the likelihood of flooding will reduce this
issue.

Rural resilience Reducing the likelihood of flooding will help build a resilient rural
community.

Negative impacts identified:

Safe communities
and individuals

Page 46



Community
participation and
resilience

The attractiveness of
the area

Connected
communities

Rural resilience

A Denbighshire of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language

Overall Impact Neutral

Justification for
impact n/a

Further actions
required n/a

Positive impacts identified:

People using Welsh

Promoting the Welsh
language Welsh policy implemented on the construction site

Culture and heritage

Negative impacts identified:

People using Welsh

Promoting the Welsh
language

Culture and heritage

A globally responsible Denbighshire

Overall Impact Positive

Justification for
impact

The project will maximise the use of the local supply chain, including
employment, skills and materials.

Further actions
required n/a

Positive impacts identified:

Local, national,
international supply
chains

It's likely that the project will maximise the use of the local supply chain.

Human rights Procurement will be carried out with due cognisance of human rights law.

Broader service
provision in the local
area or the region

Reducing climate
change

Negative impacts identified:

Page 47



Local, national,
international supply
chains

Human rights

Broader service
provision in the local
area or the region

Reducing climate
change

Page 48



 

Report to Communities Scrutiny Committee 

Date of meeting 9th December 2021 

Lead Member / Officer Councillor Brian Jones: Lead Member for Waste, 
Transport and the Environment / Tony Ward: Head of 
Highways and Environmental Services 

Report author Tara Dumas, Waste and Recycling Service Manager 

Title New Waste & Recycling Operating Model General 
Update and Communications Progress. 

1. What is the report about? 

1.1. On 18th December 2018, Cabinet approved a new operating model for the 

collection of household residual waste and recycling, i.e. a source segregated 

kerbside weekly recycling service, along with a four weekly residual waste 

collection for households on the “standard” service (Appendix I refers). This 

report provides a general update on progress and the latest communications 

initiatives planned to raise awareness of the service change over the next six 

months. It also details the proposed suite of Household Waste and Recycling 

Policies intended for adoption in the New Year to support the service both now 

and in the future model. 

2. What is the reason for making this report? 

2.1. As the implementation date for the new Operating Model moves closer, it is 

important that Members are fully informed with regard to progress with the project.  

The Waste Project Board have committed to reporting regularly to this Committee. 

3. What are the Recommendations? 

3.1. That Members discuss the progress made by the Project Team delivering the new 

Waste and Recycling Service to residents by summer 2023. 

3.2. That Members consider and endorse the suite of household waste and recycling 

policies (Appendix II) and note that the Head of Highways and Environmental 

Services intends to ensure the policies are adopted through the delegated 

decision process by March 2022. 

3.3. That the Head of Highways and Environmental Services brings a future report to 

the Communities Scrutiny Committee on the pilot project outcomes in West Rhyl 

(use of microchips in waste containers), Bron y Crest (Communal bin service 

change) and Elected Member Recycling Experience initiatives. 

Page 49

Agenda Item 6



 
 

4. Report details 

4.1.   General project update 

The mobilisation for this Service Change is complex, consisting of a number of 

“work streams”.  Appendix III maps out the status of the key milestones reported 

to the last Committee.  The majority are still on track and we are still projected to 

roll out the new service in early summer 2023. The Phase 1 groundworks contract 

for the new single centralised depot in Denbigh is well underway.  Photos 

illustrating the scale and current status of the earthworks next to the Colomendy 

Industrial Estate are detailed in Appendix IV, along with plans for the Phase 2 

construction element for the Council’s section of land.     

Critical to the timeline has been the “route planning” for the new service.  This has 

now been completed.  Every household has been allocated a future collection 

round for their weekly recycling collection and residual waste collection with both 

collections being made on the same day of the week.  We now know the number, 

and sizes, of the new recycling vehicles we need to purchase for the new service.  

Due to the pressures the manufacturing industry is facing from Covid-19 and 

Brexit, we have brought forward the procurement for these vehicles to make sure 

they are delivered on time.  An option to supply up to one third of the main 

recycling fleet as fully electric Ultra Low Emission Vehicles (ULEVs) has been 

included in the specification which will significantly lower the carbon footprint of 

the service.  We intend to award the contract in January. 

4.2.   Optimising Environmental benefits through the adoption of UK and localised 

waste policies 

Members are reminded that the Cabinet decision on 18th December 2018 was 

predominantly based on environmental and wider economic benefits. Appendix V 

refers to an updated version of the Benefits Realisation Plan. 

The urgency of the climate change crisis has led to a series of Government policy 

changes.  The timing and design of the new service means we are well-placed to 

ensure we operate a greener service fit for the future which is more capable of 

meeting statutory environmental targets.  

4.2.1 Extended Producer Responsibility Scheme (EPRS) 

The EPRS will be launched in late 2023. This legislation will ensure producers, 

manufacturers and key suppliers are financially obligated to the recovery cost of 

their packaging.  The proposed legislation will incentivise them to make recyclable 

products and products with more recycled content.  A key driver for this scheme is 

to ensure the quality of the recyclables we collect.  Local councils will be paid to 

collect packaging waste we target on our kerbside service. The details of exactly 

what is funded and how payments will be provided has still to be confirmed, but it 

is anticipated that this will include most operational costs generally incurred, such 

as vehicles, staffing and transfer station infrastructure.  Denbighshire Council will 

be re-numerated at a set rate typical of costs arising from our family group (i.e. of 

similar demographics, size and geographical distribution and collection system 

Page 50



 
 

type).  Payments could be reduced or withheld if quality standards are not met 

The EPRS second consultation closed in June 2021 and responses are currently 

being reviewed before the details of the new scheme are announced. 

4.2.2 Deposit Return Scheme (DRS) 

This scheme will see the return of the partial consumer refund when packaging is 

returned to a collection point (often a sales outlet).  The details of the scheme to 

operate in Wales and England have yet to be confirmed but as a minimum could 

follow the Scottish model (due to be launched in 2022), offering a 20p return for 

most drinks containers (glass, metal and plastic).  Anti-Littering lobbyists have 

advocated the introduction of the scheme in the UK as it has been proven to 

significantly reduce litter in countries that have adopted a DRS.  It is also proven 

to increase recycling rates in countries that do not have consistent or 

comprehensive kerbside collection rates.  Behaviourists predict that pro-recycling 

behaviours will increase across populations where the DRS is operated and that 

these behaviours will not just be confined to those waste materials in scope of the 

scheme, especially as people learn that their waste has a value. 

Welsh Authorities are amongst the most successful in the World for the capture 

rate of drinks containers and there is concern that the DRS is a duplication of 

effort.  Local Authorities operating kerbside sort systems rely on the income from 

the sale of the recovered containers to help fund the infrastructure we need to 

prepare it for resale.  Recognising this risk, the Welsh Government and WRAP 

Cymru are supporting trials in order to find a workable solution for households to 

be able to claim their deposits back through the Council kerbside schemes.  This 

would reduce the need for as much DRS collection infrastructure which could be 

very costly, with consumers picking up the cost through increased purchase costs. 

Despite achieving our best ever cleanliness scores this year, on-the-go drinks 

related litter was found on 22% of Denbighshire streets surveyed by Keep Wales 

Tidy (Local Environmental Audit and Management System (LEAMS) Report 

2021/22).  Our street cleansing service collects significant amounts of recyclable 

containers from the roadside and open spaces every year too.  It is therefore 

certain that an incentive programme such as the DRS would have a beneficial 

impact on our local environmental quality and clean-up costs.  Finding an efficient 

solution that compliments, rather than competes with the Welsh kerbside recycling 

blueprint is therefore very important.  The much anticipated case study is due to 

be released soon. 

4.2.3 Denbighshire’s Household Waste and Recycling Collection Policy 

In order to ensure that people use our waste services to their full potential so that 

we can optimise service efficiency and recycling performance, it is recommended 

we set out our service user requirements. Existing policies and procedures have 

been updated and brought together in one single document [Appendix II(a)].  

Members are asked to review and endorse the Household Waste and Recycling 

Collection Policy.  Appendix II(b) highlights amendments to the policy once the 

Page 51



 
 

new waste operating model is operational. The final policy will be adopted through 

the Delegated Decision process by 1st April 2022.  

4.4 Communications Update:  Preparing our residents for change 

Appendix VI outlines the communication plan to date. To summarise, key 

activities between now and June 2022 are: 

 West Rhyl Project -  Microchipping containers (wheeled bins and gull proof 

sacks) – A trial to evaluate the benefits in regard to reducing escaped waste, 

abandoned bins/bins left out/stolen, contamination of recycling, recycle rates.  

This project has been delayed due to recruitment issues but a project officer is 

now in post and preparation for the changes are underway. 

 On-going monitoring and engagement from the communal bin collection point 

trial at Bron y Crest, Denbigh.  A new collection system was installed in 

November.  Early indications are that the quality of the recycling has 

significantly increased from those actively engaging, but more education is 

needed to encourage more items to be recycled.  A second site for the trial 

expansion will be identified in the New Year in the West Rhyl area. 

 Elected member “standard service” experience – Ward Members currently 

using the blue/black bin kerbside service will be given the opportunity to 

experience the new service for 8 weeks in February and March next year. For 

this time, members will use a trolley box and reusable sack instead of their 

blue bin and will be issued with a larger black bin (if needed). Weekly recycling 

collections will be undertaken (including food waste) and the residual waste 

will be collected every four weeks.  Those who need it will be given additional 

capacity for hygiene waste.  Volunteers will be asked to complete a simple 

observational diary and feedback comments to officers at the end of the trial.  

Members will be contacted in December to promote the opportunity and a 

“case study” report will be available by the end of April 2022.  

 January will see the launch of the B INformed quarterly newsletter.  It will be 

available in hard copy format at One Stop Shops and libraries.  Households 

will be encouraged to sign up to receive future editions.  The newsletter aims 

to ensure households are aware of the forthcoming changes to their bin 

service, and understand why the changes are being made.  Initially, every 

household’s black bin will be tagged to promote the e-version of the 

Newsletter. All residents signing up to regular updates by the end of March 

2022 will have the chance to be entered into a free prize draw.  The Service 

aims to get at least 1 in 5 households signed up by Summer 2023. 

 The service will launch a Denbighshire Specific online “Recycling A to Z”.  

Members will be given the opportunity to view this helpful educational tool 

ahead of its public launch in January.  The A to Z is relevant to our current 

recycling system and will be updated to reflect the additional things we can 

recycle once the new waste model rolls out.  

Page 52



 
 

 A comprehensive list of Frequently Asked Questions about the new service 

has been produced.  Initially these will be used internally to help the 

Communications Team and front of house staff responded to queries about 

the service.  The FAQs will be launched in the second B INformed newsletter 

in April 2022. A small sample of FAQs can be viewed in Appendix VII. 

5. How does the decision contribute to the Corporate Priorities? 

5.1. Detailed in the Cabinet Report 18th December 2018.  The project also contributes 

significantly to the Council’s ambition to become Carbon neutral by 2030. 

6. What will it cost and how will it affect other services? 

6.1. The Council is still operating within the affordability window set by Cabinetto 

reduce the annual cost of the service by at least £500K (Appendix VIII refers). 

7. What are the main conclusions of the Well-being Impact Assessment 

(WBIA)?  

7.1. The original WBIA 407 carried out in 2018 and was updated in April 2021. The 

latest version of the WBIA can be found here: 

http://wellbeingad.denbighshire.gov.uk/Assessments/Assessment/en/407 

8. What consultations have been carried out with Scrutiny and others? 

8.1. A Recycle More Residents’ Survey was carried out in 2018. In addition to those 

groups consulted up to and included in the Communities Scrutiny report 24th 

October 2019, the service has also reported to: Cabinet Briefing (depot update) 

October 2020 and April 2021; Performance Scrutiny (Trade Waste element) 

March 2021; and SIG (Microchipping and In-Cab technology) March 2021; 

Communities Scrutiny Committee May 2021; Cabinet (19 October 2021). 

9. Chief Finance Officer Statement 

9.1. There are no direct financial implications of this report with Members being asked 

to note the progress being made on the project. With cost pressures from 

increased supply/material costs affecting Depot, Fleet & Container costs, the £2m 

risk contingency within the overall project cost is projected to be fully utilised to 

deliver the service change (Appendix V). As noted on 6.1 the projected annual 

revenue savings for the service continues to be on target, to meet the prudential 

borrowing cost of the project. 

10. What risks are there and is there anything we can do to reduce them? 

10.1 A comprehensive risk register is maintained on the Council’s Verto system and 

monitored by the Project Board. 

11.   Power to make the decision 

11.1 Section 21 of the Local Government and Section 7.4 of the Council’s Constitution. 

Page 53

http://wellbeingad.denbighshire.gov.uk/Assessments/Assessment/en/407
http://wellbeingad.denbighshire.gov.uk/Assessments/Assessment/en/407


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1: Service design at a glance

every 2 weeks
240 litres
mixed dry 
recycling

every 2 weeks
140 litres

(70 litres each week) 

non-recyclable 
waste

every 2 weeks
40 litres

nappies and 
incontinence 

waste

free opt-in service

weekly
23 litres

food waste 
recycling

every 4 weeks
240 litres 

(60 litres each week)

non-recyclable 
waste

every 2 weeks
unlimited capacity
textile collections 

by Co-options 
Social Enterprise

weekly
313 litres

source segregated recycling
including food waste, 

batteries, 
small electrical items

STANDARD SERVICE (approximately 44,526 households)

CURRENT SERVICE FUTURE SERVICE

P
age 55



every 2 weeks
2 single-use sacks 

mixed dry 
recycling

every 2 weeks
2 single-use 

sacks 
non-recyclable 

waste

weekly
23 litres

food waste 
recycling

weekly
2 single-use sacks

non-recyclable waste
(placed inside a re-useable gull-proof sack)

weekly
143 litres 

source segregated recycling 
including food waste, batteries, 

small electrical items and textiles 
(three smaller re-useable bags placed inside a blue gull-proof sack)

SACK SERVICE (approximately 1,442 households)

CURRENT SERVICE FUTURE SERVICE

P
age 56



every 2 weeks
mixed dry 
recycling

every 2 weeks
non-recyclable 

waste

weekly
food waste 

recycling

weekly 
food waste 

recycling

weekly
source segregated recycling 

with restricted lids and 
see-through end panels to reduce 

contamination

COMMUNAL BIN SERVICE  (approximately 1,892 households)

every 2 weeks
non-recyclable 

waste

CURRENT SERVICE FUTURE  SERVICE 

P
age 57



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix II: DENBIGHSIRE COUNCIL DOMESTIC WASTE 
COLLECTION POLICY 
 
Appendix II (a): Draft policies to be approved through delegated 
decision process by 31st March 2022. 
 
Introduction 
 
The Council is responsible for the collection, treatment and disposal of 
domestic waste; it also provides facilities for recycling and bulky items. 
This document sets out how domestic waste collection works and 
provides details of all aspects of the service and how to access them. 
More current domestic waste collection service details are 
available by clicking the ‘Bins and Recycling’ heading on the Council’s 
website https://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/recycling. 

 
1. Domestic waste and recycling collection service for individual 
Properties (standard service) 
 
Denbighshire Council currently operates an alternate weekly collection 
for household non-recyclable waste alternating each week with dry 
recycling, and garden waste collections. The Council expects residents 
to use wheeled bins for these collections, unless the Council has 
granted an exception. By exception some households will be provided 
with a weekly sack collection service (See section 3a). 

 
A weekly food waste collection service is in place for the majority of 
households, with the exception of some remote rural properties in the 
south of the county and areas of Denbigh where access for the waste 
collection vehicle is not possible. By March 2022, all households will be 
serviceable by a food waste vehicle. Orange kerbside food waste 
caddies, silver kitchen caddies and an annual supply of compostable 
liners are provided free of charge.   Households in areas where the 
service operates are expected to recycle any food waste they want the 
council to take away.  The council will seek to have 100% coverage of 
the food waste service by 2022. 

 
1a. Domestic residual (non-recyclable) waste (black 2-wheeled bin 
service) 
The standard service for residual waste is currently one 140 litre black 
wheeled bin per household.  Provision will be made for households that 
meet the Council’s criteria for a larger black residual waste bin (see 

Page 59

https://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/recycling


Section 18). Residual waste is classified as household waste that cannot 
be recycled or composted through the standard Council kerbside 
services. Dry recyclable materials, food waste or garden waste are not 
accepted in the black wheeled bin, with the exception of food waste 
being allowed in the black bin only where the council cannot offer a 
weekly kerbside food waste service to that household.  
 
Some Denbighshire households may have a 180l black bin, issued as 
part of the original roll out of a wheeled bin service.  It is acceptable to 
present a 180l bin for collection.  If the bin goes missing or becomes 
damaged beyond repair, it will be replaced by a 140l bin subject to 
receipt of payment. 
 
Charges apply for the supply of all domestic residual wheeled bins (new, 
replacement or additional where applicable) and those charges will be 
updated annually and published on the council website. 
 
 
1b. Domestic recyclable waste (Blue wheeled bin) 
The standard bin for dry mixed recyclable waste is one 240l blue 
wheeled bin. Items that Denbighshire Council can collect in the blue bin 
are: 

• Clean paper and cardboard, including toilet/kitchen roll tubes, 
cereal 
boxes wrapping paper (but not foil) and greetings cards; 

• Glass bottles and jars (with lids separate); 
• Plastic bottles (with lids or trigger spray); 
• Plastic containers (bottles, pots, tubs and trays) 
• Tins and cans (both steel and aluminium); 
• Tin Foil (clean)  
• Newspapers and magazines; 
• Catalogues and telephone directories; 
• Envelopes. 
• Waxed cartons 

 
A more detailed list is available on the Council’s website 
https://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/recycling. 
 
All material should be as clean and dry as possible.  The materials must 
be presented “loose” in the bin.   Items are not allowed to be presented 
in bags. 
 

Page 60

https://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/recycling


If a household occasionally needs to present extra recycling, the 
recycling can be presented loose in a cardboard box with the exceptions 
of glass bottles and jars which should always presented in the blue bin 
itself for safety of the operational crews.  
 
Recycling capacity is not restricted.  Residents are able to pay for the 
use of, and present additional 240 litre blue bins.  Bins must be 
purchased through the council so that they meet the required safety 
standards for emptying (LINK HERE TO WEB PAGE). 
 
Re-useable sacks are available from the council for households who 
need to present smaller amounts of extra recycling on a regular basis, 
and do not have room to store an additional bin.  A charge applies for 
reusable sacks requested, unless distributed as part of a temporary 
campaign or service change.  Alternatively, additional blue bins can be 
supplied by the Council for a supply charge (Set annually through the 
fees and Charges register from April 1st 2021). 
 
 
2. Individual properties unsuitable for 2 or 4 wheeled bins (Sack 
Collection service) 
 
This service is available where the curtilage of a property is inaccessible 
to our standard waste collection vehicles that empty wheeled bins (for 
example, steep drive, steps, no storage, narrow lanes, unmade roads or 
a difficult location to access.)  Residents are provided with pink 
disposable sacks for presenting residual waste and clear disposable 
sacks for presenting dry mixed recycling on an alternate weekly basis.  
Waste must be presented at an agreed collection point. A decision as to 
whether a property warrants a sack collection will be made following an 
assessment by a Council Officer.  
 
Recyclable waste accepted in the clear sacks is: 

• Clean paper and cardboard, including toilet/kitchen roll tubes, 
cereal 
boxes wrapping paper (but not foil) and greetings cards; 

• Glass bottles and jars (with lids separate); 
• Plastic bottles (with lids or trigger spray); 
• Plastic containers (bottles, pots, tubs and trays) 
• Tins and cans (both steel and aluminium); 
• Tin Foil (clean)  
• Newspapers and magazines; 

Page 61



• Catalogues and telephone directories; 
• Envelopes. 
• Waxed cartons 

 
Households will be considered unsuitable for 2 or 4 wheeled bins in the 
following circumstances: 
 

a) Access to the location is not possible with a Refuse Collection 
Vehicle supporting bins lifts.  

b) The property has no storage for wheeled bins (garages and other 
outbuildings would constitute as suitable storage, as well as an 
outside space within the curtilage of the property/ land that would 
not block a fire exit or safe passage in and out of the main 
dwelling).   

c) It is unsafe to expect the occupants or the waste collection crews 
to manoeuvre the bins to suitable a collection point (usually 
because of steps or long distances between the curtilage of the 
property and agreed collection point. 

d) The household consists of only elderly or infirm occupants who opt 
to have a sack system in order to avoid requesting the Assisted 
Collection Service, as they are able to manage the sacks 
independently. 

e) Regular contamination of recycling bins by a household results in 
the temporary or permanent removal of bins and the household is 
issued with transparent recycling sacks labelled with the address 
so that contamination can be carefully monitored. 

f) Other exceptional circumstances agreed by the Council. 
 

These properties will be allocated to the council’s sack collection 
service.  Residual (non-recyclable) rubbish will be presented in a 
translucent disposable “pink” sack. Dry recyclables will be presented in a 
clear disposable sack.  The residual and dry recyclable waste will be 
collected every week on the same day of the week.  The only exception 
to this is the area of West Rhyl where a trial is underway to reduce the 
impact of seagulls attaching waste.  Properties in West Rhyl will be 
asked to present their disposable sacks in a microchipped reusable 
sack.  
 
There are no restrictions on the amount of sacks can be presented by a 
single household but all waste is expected to be separated so not 
recycling is present of the pink sacks, and no residual waste is present 
in the clear sacks.  

Page 62



 
Disposable sacks are provided free of charge by the council. In 
exceptional circumstances where the Council has been obliged to 
remove wheeled bins from a property, due to residents repeatedly failing 
to use the bins properly, or due to the bins being left out repeatedly on 
the public highway for extended periods (other than on collection day, or 
awaiting a missed collection), the Council reserves the right to charge 
residents for the supply of DCC authorised disposable sacks.  In certain 
cases, the landlord may be liable for these charges through the 
requirements set out in the Landlords Licencing Scheme (Add Link). 
 
Households using a sack service wishing to subscribe to the chargeable 
garden waste service may be offered 3 x re-useable sacks (depending 
on locations) (See Policy 5) However, if the location is inaccessible to all 
garden waste collection vehicles the household will not be eligible for 
this service.   
 
By May 2023, all existing sack properties will be reviewed, in order to 
provide a re-useable sack outer cover wherever possible, to help 
prevent waste escaping into the environment due to adverse weather 
and attack by animals.  This outer container will be supplied free of 
charge on the first occasion.  Charges will apply for replacement re-
useable sacks. 
 
 
3.  Properties most suited to communal “bulk” bins (360l 2 wheeled 
bins or 660l, 1100l 1280l four wheeled bins) 
 
The Council’s preferred method of storage and containment is 2-wheelie 
bins allocated to individual tenancies.  However, where operational 
requirements or localised infrastructure dictates, the Council may 
determine that certain flats or houses of multiple occupation utilise bulk 
containers for the storage and collection of their waste and recycling.  
Residents will present their residual waste in Black 4 wheeled bins, and 
dry mixed recycling in Blue 4 wheeled bins.  Recyclable waste permitted 
in the blue 4 wheeled bins are: 
 

• Clean paper and cardboard, including toilet/kitchen roll tubes, 
cereal 
boxes wrapping paper (but not foil) and greetings cards; 

• Glass bottles and jars (with lids separate); 
• Plastic bottles (with lids or trigger spray); 
• Plastic containers (bottles, pots, tubs and trays) 

Page 63



• Tins and cans (both steel and aluminium); 
• Tin Foil (clean)  
• Newspapers and magazines; 
• Catalogues and telephone directories; 
• Envelopes. 
• Waxed cartons 

 
 
Households that are unsuitable for a sack collection or regular wheeled 
bin system may include: 
 
3a. A single property that is one of multi-occupation (HMO) where there 
are more than 5 tenants sharing one address, and space restrictions on 
site mean that 360l two wheeled bins or bulk containers (660l or bigger) 
are more suitable, and take up less space than attempting to supply 
individual bins to each independent tenancy. Where storage restrictions 
apply, or cross contamination of waste becomes an issue, these 
properties may be added to a sack collection system (see Policy 3). 
 
3b. The property is part of a private development and the land owner/ 
landlord (and/or property management agent) has allocated a communal 
bin storage area at the location for shared use by all residents.  
 
 
An assessment to determine container requirements will be made by a 
Council Officer, following which the managing agent or landlord will be 
advised of the quantity, type and size of containers, (together with where 
the containers are to be located for collection).  Only waste presented 
within the containers will be removed. Additional waste placed outside of 
the container or any other household items placed around or near to the 
containers will not be taken by the Council.  It is the responsibility of the 
landlord or property management company to remove this waste. The 
waste collection crew must have unobstructed access to the waste 
containers.   
 
In all scenarios the shared container(s) must be stored within the 
curtilage of the property.  If access to the bin store area is not provided, 
then the landlord (and/or property management agent) is responsible for 
ensuring the container is presented at a designated collection point and 
returned as soon as possible after it is emptied.   
 

Page 64



In instances where the waste collection vehicle or collection crew cannot 
access the property, the agreed location of the containers will be such 
that the Council’s waste collection service will be able to manoeuvre the 
containers to the collection vehicle via a minimal unobstructed distance 
(20M, or less if the ground is uneven [e.g. gravelled, cobbled]) and 
across surfaces that do not prevent the free wheeled movement of the 
container. The container must not be required to be pulled to the 
collection vehicle via an inclined gradient that causes the load bearing 
weight to exceed that suitable for the handling of a single operative, nor 
will the container be stored upon steps or behind a kerb. Where the 
container is to be stored in a locked secure area, access to the secure 
area must be available at the time the collection occurs. 
 
It is the responsibility of the landlord or property management company 
to ensure that all reasonable steps are taken to prevent unauthorised 
use of the bins store by households external to that property. 
 
The Council must be provided with keys or key code access to any 
locked storage areas.  
 
In the event that these conditions are not satisfied and a collection of 
waste is missed, the council is not required to return until the next 
scheduled collection day and it will be the responsibility of the managing 
agent/ landlord to make alternative arrangements to dispose of the 
waste in advance of the next scheduled collection. 
 
From 1st November 2021, the council will levy an annual rental charge 
for the supply of all 4-wheeled bin containers. Replacement charges will 
apply if bins are lost, and repair charges will be payable if the bins 
become damaged due to vandalism (See Policy 25/ Appendix 2).  
 
On occasion, the council may provide an on street waste collection 
“station” for use restricted to specific households.  The Council will be 
responsible for the provision and maintenance of these stations and the 
landlord’s/ property management agent (where applicable) is be 
responsible for ensuring new tenants are provided with details on how to 
access these stations. 
 
4. Organic Waste 
4a. Food Waste 
The council provide a weekly food waste collection service for the 
majority of households, with the exception of some remote rural 

Page 65



properties in the south of the county and areas of Denbigh where access 
for the waste collection vehicle is not possible.  
 
By March 2022, all households will be serviceable by a food waste 
vehicle.  
 
Food waste includes ALL cooked and raw foods, including bones but 
excluding used cooking oil.   Cut flowers are also permitted.   
 
Orange 23litre kerbside food waste caddies, silver kitchen caddies and 
an annual supply of compostable liners are supplied free of charge.   
Households in areas where the service operates are expected to recycle 
any food waste they want the council to take away.  The council will 
seek to have 100% coverage of the food waste service by 2022. 
 
If identified, the Council will reject Black bins (or pink refuse sacks) 
containing food, providing the household can be serviced by a food 
waste collection round.  A tag or sticker will be placed on the rejected 
container.  Householders must remove the food waste and place it in the 
orange caddy before representing the containers correctly on the next 
scheduled collection day.  Households identified as not recycling food, 
despite being eligible for the food waste service will be subject to the 
Council’s Household Waste and Recycling Enforcement procedures. 
 
Residents can request replacement compostable liners in the following 
ways: 

• Tie a food waste liner (or the reorder tag at the end of the roll) to 
the to the handle of the orange kerbside caddy and the collection 
crew will leave a roll in or next to the caddy after the caddy has 
been emptied (Preferred and most efficient, environmentally 
friendly method).  Please remember to remove the tag/liner once 
you have received your new roll.  

• Collect a roll of liners from your local library, one stop shop or 
public Council reception area. 

• If the other methods cannot be used, caddy liner stocks can be 
replenished by requesting a roll online on the council website or 
telephoning the contact centre.   

 
4b. Garden Waste 
Garden waste is collected on a fortnightly basis through a chargeable 
subscription 
service. Garden waste bins are green and have a 140 litre capacity. 
Residents can 

Page 66



subscribe for additional bins to be emptied as part of the service. Garden 
waste is 
classed as: 

• Grass cuttings and leaves 
• Cut flowers 
• Trimmings 
• Hedge cuttings 
• Weeds 
• Small braches/twigs 
• Wind fallen fruit 

Further details are available on the Council’s website 
www.denbighshire.gov.uk/gardenwaste. 
 
The Council charges for the kerbside collection of garden waste.  The 
service operates all year round (Up to 26 collections per year, weather 
permitting).  
 
 
“Difficult to access” Households (i.e. those on a sack collection for 
refuse) wishing to subscribe to the garden waste service may be offered 
3 or 6 x 50 litre re-useable green dumpy sacks (depending on locations).  
This service is also chargeable. 
 
 
5. Prohibited items – all waste containers  
The following items are prohibited from all containers: 
 

• Hazardous waste (e.g. asbestos and plasterboard) 
• Liquids (including paint and oil) 
• Soil, rubble and stone 
• Hot ashes 
• Electrical items and batteries 
• Loose dust (e.g. plaster, cement dust or vacuum dust). 

 
These items can pose a threat to human health and safety or could 
cause damage to the waste collection vehicle and waste treatment 
infrastructure if not disposed of carefully. For example, batteries and hot 
ashes can cause fires either in the waste collection vehicle or waste w 
transfer station. Soil and rubble can cause a wheeled bin to become 
overweight and cause manual handling injuries, or impact injuries if it 
falls off the bin lift during the emptying process.  
 

Page 67

http://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/gardenwaste


Failure to comply with this Policy will result in non-collection of waste, 
and residents will be responsible for making their own arrangements for 
safe and appropriate disposal.  Some prohibited items can be taken to 
any of Denbighshire’s Household Recycling Centres (See Policy 26 for 
the Use of Household Waste Recycling Centre Policy).  
 
Many retailers provide free household battery disposal points, including 
large supermarkets and electrical stores.  Large retailers or electrical 
equipment have a duty to takeback all items where the length of the 
longest side is 25cm or more. 
 
In all cases, where prohibited items are identified by our waste collection 
crew, wheeled bins will be tagged to inform the household why the bin 
has been rejected.  
 
Residents who do not observe this Policy may also be liable to action 
under the Council’s Waste and Recycling Enforcement Policy (Link to 
Policy 25 / Appendix 1). 
 
. 
6. Presentation of waste and recycling containers on collection day 
 
6a.  All waste containers are to be presented correctly at the kerbside or 
at an agreed designated collection point by 7am on the scheduled 
collection day to guarantee they will be collected.  Bins must be 
presented with wheels and/or handles (if applicable) facing outwards.  
Collection times will vary as the service make round changes on a 
regular basis to optimise completion times.  Bins not presented at the 
time the collection vehicle passes will not be emptied and the council will 
not return for them. Residents missing their collections will have to 
dispose of the waste themselves at a local Household Waste Recycling 
Centre or wait until their next scheduled collection. Residents taking 
waste to a household recycling centre must ensure all waste is pre-
sorted.  No recycling or food waste is allowed in residual waste (See 
Policy 26 for the Use of Household Recycling Centres).   
 
6b. Residents are responsible for ensuring that bins awaiting collection 
are not causing an obstruction to pedestrians or motorists.   
 
6c. The Council must return the bin to any designated collection point 
after collection. Waste containers must be returned by waste collection 
crews in a manner that does not obstructed the footways, or driveways. 
 

Page 68



6d. Residents are responsible for ensuring that all waste containers are 
presented with the lids (where applicable) closed.  No side waste is 
accepted.  All waste must be contained within the container (With the 
exception of additional recycling as detailed in Policy 1) 
 
6e. Waste collection crews are responsible for clearing up any spillages 
that they cause where is it safe to do so.  Exceptions may apply on the 
dry recycling service during periods of high winds where bins are 
presented “overfilled” by householders causing waste to escape from the 
container.  This is especially the case if the container is presented next 
to a busy road, and where the speed limit exceeds 30mph. 
 
6f. Residents must make every effort to present their wheeled bins ON 
the day of collection as close as possible to 7am. Households presenting 
their bins the night before could are at risk of being issued a fixed 
penalty for littering should waste escape for their container while it is 
waiting to be collected.  Similarly, households could be issued with a 
littering fixed penalty if waste escapes from the bin due to it being 
overfilled.  (Putting you bin out the night before also increases the risk 
that someone else contaminates your bin by placing the wrong waste in 
it.) 
 
Enforcement action will not be taken to households awaiting a late 
collection providing households have presented their waste in 
accordance with the Household Waste and Recycling Policies (i.e. If a 
bin is presented correctly with all waste contained within a closed lidded 
bin). 
 
6g. Residents presenting bins on the public highway (including 
pavements) should take their bins back onto their property as soon as is 
reasonably practicable and in any case by 7am on the next day after 
collection.  Wheeled bins left out after this time are not permitted to be 
on the public highway and will be subject to enforcement procedures 
under Section 46 of the environmental Protection Act, 1990. 
 
6h. All bins must remain on residents’ properties, except when they are 
to be emptied on the day of collection, or awaiting a late collection. 
Householders have a responsibility for keeping the bins safe while they 
are on their property and to protect them from misuse and damage. 
From 1st November 2021, Charges apply for replacement bins (see 
Section 15). 
 

Page 69



6i. Households who are not able to present their own waste container 
due to infirmity or disability may be entitled to register on the Council’s 
Assisted Collection Service (See Policy 16).  Successful applicants will 
agree an accessible collection point from inside the curtilage of the 
resident’s property. 
 
 
7. Collection from Private and un-adopted roads 

The decision (whether or not to travel on un-adopted roads) will be a 
managerial one - based upon the following criteria: 

• Risk assessment by service managers, particularly in relation 
to the following hazards: 
 Health and safety risks (reversing in restricted spaces 

etc.); 
 risk of causing damage to non-DCC assets including the 

structure of the road / manhole covers / parked vehicles 
/street furniture/ overhanging vegetation/ bridge weight 
and height restrictions; 

 Operational considerations, including ease or otherwise 
of utilising the un-adopted road including the amount of 
reversing required, availability of required turning circle 
and round efficiencies (i.e. the availability of a suitable 
sized waste collection vehicle in that location on the 
given collect day).  

In all cases where householders are making (or are likely to make) 
incorrect assumptions about where to present their waste for collection 
– the householder will be formally notified what the Waste Collection 
Authorities requirements are. 

 
8. Overweight bins 
If any bin is too heavy to be moved safely by the collection operative or 
lifted by the 
collection vehicle, the bin will be left at the point of presentation. 
Collection 
operatives will place a sticker or tag on the bin with an indication as to 
why the wheeled bin was not emptied.  It is likely that heavy bins contain 
prohibited items (see Policy 6) and the householder may be subject to 
the Council’s enforcement procedures.  
 

Page 70



When a bin is found to be too heavy or damaged and cannot be moved 
safely, the 
householder will be required to reduce the weight of the bin, before 
presenting it on 
the next scheduled collection day. Any prohibited items will also have to 
be removed.  The Council will not return to empty the bin before the next 
scheduled collection day. 
 
 
9. Damaged bins 
9a. If your wheeled bin is damaged, it may not be emptied.  Bins with 
missing wheels, broken handles or severe cracks on the main body of 
the bins will not be emptied as if the waste collect crew deem it is unsafe 
to manoeuvre or empty them.  If we are unable to empty your bin 
because it is too damaged, we will tag or sticker the bins to explain why.  
You must arrange for your bin to be repaired or replaced (from the 
1stNovember 2021, charges apply for supply of replacement bins). 
 
9b. If the bin is damaged by the Operational Crews during the lifting 
process, the crews will report the damage and automatically order a free 
replacement bin which will be delivered before your next collection day 
for that waste type, and no later than 10 working days.  Occasionally, the 
Council are unable to supply waste containers within 10 working days 
due to national shortages.  In such cases, disposable sacks will be 
provided until a container can be sourced and delivered.  
 
 
10. Bin/sack contamination 
Residents are required to present the correct type of waste in each 
individual waste container. If incorrect waste is presented in any 
container, the council reserve the right not to empty/collect the container. 
 
Plastic carrier type bags or any film storage bags are not permitted in 
either the blue recycling bin (or clear recycling sacks provided to 
households on our sack service), food waste caddy or green garden 
waste bins.  Only compostable food waste caddy liners supplied by the 
Council should be used to hold recycled food. Dry recycling needs to be 
loose within your blue bin, blue re-usable sack or clear disposable sack.  
 
Biodegradable or Compostable packaging of any type must not be 
placed in any recycling containers, including the garden waste bin.  The 
only exception is the use of compostable liners supplied by the Council 
for the food waste service. 

Page 71



 
The contents of the blue recycling bin (or clear disposable sack), food 
waste caddy and green garden waste bins will be inspected before 
emptying. If any other material, other than that specified in Policy 1, is 
present in any of the containers, these will not be emptied and a sticker 
or tag will be placed on the bin advising the reasons why. The Council 
will not return to collect these bins prior to the next scheduled collection 
day and residents must remove the incorrect waste, to ensure the 
contents of the bin(s) comply with the Council’s waste collection 
requirements. 
 
The black wheeled bin (or pink disposable sack) may also be inspected.  
If recyclable items are found in the bin, the Council has the right to 
decline collection of the bin.  Households failing to sort their rubbish into 
the correct containers on at least 4 occasions over a 12-month period 
will be subject to a £100 fixed penalty notice See Household Waste 
Enforcement Policy Appendix 1)  
 
 
11. Presentation of excess waste 
 
11a.  Closed lids 
All bins must be presented with closed lids. If a bin is presented with the 
lid raised, it 
may not be safe to empty. If a bin is presented overfilled with the lid 
open, it will not be emptied and the collection crew will leave a sticker on 
the bin advising of the reason. 
 
The resident must either take the waste to a Household Waste 
Recycling Centre, arrange for a private collection from a registered 
waste carrier or wait until the next scheduled collection, when the bin 
must be presented with excess waste removed and the lid closed. 
 
11b.  Side waste / excess waste (All containers except blue bins) 
Excess and side waste presented outside a bin will not be taken by the 
collection crews at any time. If excess waste is presented the Council 
may take formal enforcement action.   
 
11c.  Side / excess waste (Blue bins for dry mixed recycling only) 
Residents may place out extra dry recycling waste for collection by the 
side of their blue bin.  The items must be presented loose in a cardboard 
box (which will not be returned) or a re-usable bag or kerbside style box 

Page 72



(which will be returned).  Glass bottles and jars must only be presented 
in the blue bin for safety reasons. 
 
Residents should only present extra waste on the day of collection (not 
the night before) to try to keep the waste dry and prevent it from 
escaping in windy weather.  Residents are advised NOT to put out extra 
waste during extreme weather conditions and must take responsibility 
for clearing up wind-blown litter that has escaped from their waste.  
 
 
12. Missed collections 
Where a bin has been presented correctly but has not been emptied, the 
Council will return to empty the bin within 48 working hours of it being 
reported, providing the report of a missed collection has been made 
within 72 working hours of the collection round taking place. 
 
Most waste collection vehicles are fitted with CCTV cameras and in-cab 
technology, which provides the Council with real time information on the 
bin collection service. This real time information may be used to 
investigate any reported collection issues. 
 
There could be a reason why your bin was not collected.  If we rejected 
your bin the operational crew will place a tag or sticker on your bin to 
explain why, as well as report the issue at the time through the vehicle 
telematics systems. 
 
The operational crew use on on-board telematics system to record all 
households where bins were not presented at the time of the collection.   
 
We will not return for rejected bins or bins not placed out on time by a 
household. 
 
To report a missed bin collection please visit www.denbighshire.gov.uk/ 
 
13. Wheeled bin repairs 
The Council offers a wheelie bin repair service for the replacement of 
lids, wheels and axles. If the main body of a bin is cracked, this cannot 
be repaired, householders will need to purchase a replacement bin (See 
Policy 14 on container charges). 
 
 
 
 

Page 73



14. Charges for the supply and delivery of new or replacement bins 
14a. From November 1st 2021, there is a charge for the supply and 
delivery of new or replacement bins, including the initial provision to 
householders or developers of new properties. The charge for a new bin 
will be reviewed annually and published as part of the Council’s Fees 
and Charges register. 
 
The charges apply if residents request a replacement bin due to the bin 
being lost, stolen or damaged.  If a resident requests to exchange a bin 
for a different size, or the removal and replacement of a contaminated 
blue recycling or green garden waste bin, charges will also apply. 
 
The only exception to this is where a household requests to exchange a 
large bin for a small and is thereby able to continue to present their bins 
for collection i.e. does not need to apply to the assisted collections 
service. In this instance, a bin exchange will be carried out free of 
charge. 
 
14b. For tenanted properties, it is a landlord’s responsibility to supply 
both and blue and black bins for their tenants upon the signing of a new 
tenancy agreement, for which the same charges apply. VAT is payable.  
However, it is the tenant’s responsibility to ensure that landlords agree to 
this provision before they enter into an agreement, as the council can 
only enforce this provision with licenced landlords.  
 
14c. If the loss or damage is proven to be the fault of the refuse 
collection crews or collection vehicles no charge will apply. However, 
this will be at the discretion of Denbighshire County Council. Collection 
crews have a duty to report any damage they cause to bins or if a bin 
falls into the back of a wagon during collection.  If this happens a new 
bin will be ordered for you automatically if the collectors know which 
household the bin came from.  If the resident believes the damage was 
done by the crews, it must be reported within two weeks (10 working 
days) of the collection when the alleged damage took place to be eligible 
for a free replacement.  From December 2021, operational crews will be 
reporting all pre-existing damage to bins through the on-board tracker 
system and this evidence will be used to substantiate claims against the 
Council.  On board cameras will also be used to substantiate claims 
where necessary. 
 
14d. Payment must be made when a bin is ordered and bins will not be 
delivered until receipt of the payment. This payment is non-refundable. 
Bins will be delivered within10 working days of receipt of payment. 

Page 74



 
14e. The bin remains the property of the Council and must remain at the 
house/flat if the ownership/tenancy of the property changes hands 
(unless it is an authorised additional bin, in which case the bin can be 
transferred to another property within Denbighshire Council.  If approved 
additional bins are transferred to another property in the Denbighshire 
County Area, it is the responsibility of the resident to notify us of the new 
address so the bin can be approved to be emptied at the new address. 
 
No refunds are given should a household wish us to collect an unwanted 
bin, but the collection will be provided free of charge.  If a household has 
paid for a bin that they are not entitled to and present the bin with waste 
at the kerbside (for example they present two black bins but are only 
permitted to have one emptied), DCC reserve the right to recover the bin 
and no refund will be given.  
 
For more information, see Policy 25 in the Waste Container Charges 
Policy (Add link) 
 
 
15. Wheelie bin identification 
15a. Residents should ensure their bins are clearly marked with their 
house/flat number.  This will help recover their bin should it go missing 
and enable the crews to return bins to the correct collection point once 
emptied.  It also helps crews to report the correct address, should a bin 
be damaged during the emptying process. Bin numbering reduces theft, 
or bins being taken in error by another household. From February 2021, 
all bins delivered by the council will contain the house number or a 
sticker for the household to complete with the house name (Which must 
be completed).  These stickers must not be removed. 
 
15b. The Council intend to supply microchipped black bins to all 
households when new containers are delivered in 2023 as part of the 
service change. Residents must not attempt to remove or interfere with 
the microchip.  The cost of repair or replacement of bins due to any 
damaged caused to the bin or microchip will fall to the person liable for 
the council tax payments of the property to which the bin is registered, at 
the time the damage was reported. 
 
The microchip holds no personal data about the occupiers of the 
property.  It simply assigns a bin to an address.  The microchip will be 
read every time the bin is emptied and helps the Council record any 
exceptional events with the collection process (e.g.  Bin in Wagon, 

Page 75



Contamination, Side Waste Presented, bin damaged during emptying 
process, bin too heavy).  This will assist the Council to target our 
educational and enforcement resources to optimise recycling behaviours 
and also improve the services we offer. 
 
A microchip trial in the West Rhyl area of the County will be rolled out in 
2021/22 where both re-useable sacks and 2 wheeled bins will be fitted 
with microchips.  
 
 
16. Assisted Collections Service 
 
16a.  Eligibility criteria 
The Council provides an Assisted Collections Service on request to 
residents due to age and infirmity, mobility or certain medical conditions, 
providing there is no-one else living at the property who is capable of 
presenting the bins.  The service can also be requested for a temporary 
short-term application (due to recovery from surgery or broken bone, for 
example).  
 
16b.  Application Process 
Requests must be made via the Council’s website 
www.denbighshire.gov.uk/  or the Council’s contact centre (01824 
706000) and each application will be considered on its individual merits. 
During the assessment process, the Council reserves the right to verify 
the information provided by contacting applicants either by telephone, a 
visit, requesting medical documentation from a GP or other medical 
practitioner (at no cost to the Council), or utilising records such as the 
Electoral Register. 
 
An application will be assessed and applicants informed of the outcome 
within 15 working days of receipt of a fully completed application. Until 
formal notification of approval is provided, the resident is responsible for 
presenting the bin(s). 
 
16c. The collection 
Where an assisted collection is provided, the collection crew will collect 
bins from the normal storage point and return them to the same point 
once emptied. Residents must ensure that bins are accessible on the 
property and any gates are unlocked on collection day.  Dogs must be 
kept away from the storage area during the collection, or the collection 
may not be able to take place. The Council will not return for a collection 
if the collection crew report that there is no access to the property or 

Page 76

http://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/


bins.  Operational crews must close all gates used to access the 
property after returning the empty container(s) to the agreed storage 
location.  
 
16d. Renewal of applications 
Approved applications will automatically expire after 3 years.  Applicants 
will receive a reminder notice 12 weeks before the expiry date and will 
be instructed to reapply for the service if it is still needed.   If a renewal 
has not been completed by the expiry date, the residents address will be 
removed from the assisted collection database and assisted collections 
will stop.  
 
16e. Cancellation of the service 
Applicants must inform the council if they move home and no longer 
require he service at the address on the application.  We also ask that 
families of loved ones that have passed away or have moved into 
supported living, contact the Council to let us know the service is no 
longer needed, at their earliest convenience. 
 
 
17. NEW Requests for additional residual (black) bin capacity 
 
17a.  Eligibility for additional residual waste capacity (Large 
families) 
 

• Large families of six or more persons permanently residing at a 
property, may request additional residual (black) bin capacity. 

 
Requests must be made via the Council’s website 
www.denbighshire.gov.uk/  or the Council’s contact centre (01824 
706000)  Each application will be assessed based on the requirement of 
the household and household size.  The Council reserves the right to 
verify the information provided at any time by contacting applicants 
either by telephone, a visit or utilising records such as the Electoral 
Register.  
 
The Council retain the right to audit the waste presented by any 
households authorised for additional residual waste capacity.  Any such 
assessment will be triggered should the operational crews report that 
household is not recycling, or not recycling properly so that we can take 
steps to ensure that an applicant is fully utilising the Council’s recycling 
services. Should it be determined that this is not the case, the household 
will receive one final written warning and provided with a recycling guide. 

Page 77

http://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/


Further instances (within a 12-month period) will result in the 
authorisation for additional residual waste capacity being withdrawn. 
 
Applicants will be advised in writing within 15 working days of the 
outcome of their request. If the householder is entitled to increased 
capacity, they will be required to pay for the supply of the larger (or in 
some cases extra) black bin. The council will maintain a database to 
confirm approval of the additional container at the applicant’s property. 
 
Unauthorised additional bins will not be emptied and will be removed if 
re-presented. 
 
Authorised additional bins will be reviewed regularly, to ensure 
householders still qualify for the service. When a review of the 
householder’s status is undertaken, if the household no longer meets the 
Council’s criteria, or if the completed review questionnaire is not 
received by the Council, residents will be informed that they are 
no longer eligible for additional capacity collections and the additional 
bin will not be emptied. At the request of the resident, the extra black bin 
will be removed at that time, free of charge. 
 
The approval of an additional capacity bin is at the discretion of 
Denbighshire Council’s operating in accordance with this policy. 
 
17b. Non-Infectious Hygiene Waste  
A household generating a significant quantity of non-infectious clinical 
waste, due to medical conditions of an individual who is permanently 
resident there will be entitled to apply for additional waste capacity. 
Applications are considered for families with children in disposable 
nappies, or from households where regular disposal of Absorbent 
Hygiene Products is required. 
 
Non-infectious clinical waste is classified as low grade clinical waste 
such as: 

• Dressings/swabs and bandages 
• Disposable bedding 
• Used disposable bed pans and liners 
• Incontinence pads 
• Disposable nappies 
• Wipes and gloves 
• Stoma bags 

Page 78



• Empty urine containers where there is no risk of blood 
contamination 

 
Requests can be made via the Council’s website 
www.denbighshire.gov.uk/  or the Council’s contact centre (01824 
706000). 
 
Each application will be individually assessed and the Council reserves 
the right to verify the information provided by contacting applicants either 
by telephone, a visit or utilising records such as the Electoral Register. 
This assessment may include an on-site waste audit, to assess that an 
applicant is fully utilising the Council’s recycling services. Applicants will 
be advised in writing within 15 working days of the outcome of their 
request. 
 
If an application is approved and the householder is entitled to increased 
capacity, the householder may proceed to order a back bin, for which 
charges apply.  Unauthorised bins will not be emptied.  The council has 
a right to recover unauthorised containers supporting the Council logo if 
presented without authorisation on the public highway.  
 
All hygiene waste must be bagged securely to prevent the escape of 
fluids and smells. Authorised additional bins will be reviewed regularly, 
to ensure householders still qualify for the service. If, when a review of 
the householder’s status is undertaken, a household no longer meets 
the Council’s criteria, or if the completed review questionnaire is not 
received by the Council, the householder will be advised in 
writing and the additional bin will no longer be emptied.  
 
At the request of the resident, the additional bin will be removed at that 
time, free of charge.  
 
 
18. Disposal of medical waste arising from GP issue or treatment in 
the home 
 
18a. Needles/ Injection equipment (sharps) 
If you use injecting equipment your GP should prescribe you with the 
appropriate container e.g. a sharps box and local chemists provide 
disposal facilities for these. Needles or used sharps containers must not 
be put in any of your bins for disposal. Any bin containing this type of 
waste will not be collected. 
 

Page 79

http://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/


18b.  Infectious waste 
All waste arising from treatment issued by a nurse or doctor at home 
should be taken away by the practitioner.  During the Covid pandemic, 
the waste may be bagged placed in the residual bin, unless the waste 
arises from the treatment of an infectious disease.  Infectious waste 
must be taken away by the practitioner and not be placed in any council 
waste container. 
 
18c.  Covid precautions 
If anyone in the household is self-isolating due to testing positive for the 
Covid-19 virus all waste must be isolated for at least 72 hours before 
being presented for collection.  Tissues, masks, Covid testing kits and 
PPE must be double bagged and placed in the residual bin. 
 
19. Requests for additional recycling bin capacity 
If a household requests additional recycling capacity, an additional blue 
recycling bin can be ordered (charges apply). For households on the 
Council sack collection service, additional clear sacks can be requested  
via the Council website www.denbighshire.gov.uk/  or the Council’s 
contact centre (01824 706000), or collected in person from a One Stop 
Shop or library. 
 
 
20. Abandoned bins 
When the Council deems a bin to be abandoned, arrangements will be 
made for these to be removed within 15 working days. Abandoned bins 
will either be re-used or recycled, depending upon their condition. 
 
To report a suspected abandoned bin, please visit the Council website 
www.denbighshire.gov.uk/  or the Council’s contact centre (01824 
706000). 
 
 
21. Collection of unwanted bins 
If a householder no longer requires a bin at their property, this can be 
collected using the Council’s Bulky Waste Service (See Policy 22).  The 
council will collect unwanted bins free of charge upon the delivery of any 
replacement containers. The council will hold a small stock of used 
containers so that they may be distributed to refugee/asylum seekers 
and other households moving into the area as part of a re-settlement 
scheme. 
 

Page 80

http://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/
http://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/


Free bin exchanges are applicable to households requesting to 
downsize their bin as a larger bin is too difficult for them to move. This 
normally applies to elderly or infirm residents who have no one living 
with them to help move their bin, and where an assisted collection 
service can be avoided as the householder prefers to put out their own 
bin for collection independently. 

DCC council waste containers cannot be taken to any household 
recycling park.  When a new replacement waste container is supplied, 
the council will must away the old, damaged one at the time of delivery. 

 
22. Collection of white goods, bulky items and furniture  
The Council offers a chargeable service for the collection of bulky items 
that do not fit into a 140l or 240ltr wheelie bin, the cost of which is 
reviewed annually and published as part of the Council’s Fees and 
Charges register. Please refer to the Council’s website 
www.denbighshire.gov.uk/   to find out what items the Council accept on 
the Bulky Waste Service.  Items will be collected within 15 working days 
from the time of booking.  Payments must be processed and paid in full 
before the visit is scheduled.  The Council will retain the booking fee in 
the event of cancellations, but refund the per item charge. 
 

23. Encouraging compliance to the Household Waste and 
Recycling Service (Add link to Household Waste and Recycling 
Enforcement Policy) 

23a. Presentation of waste 

Section 46 of the Environmental Protection Act, 1990 gives the council 
powers to prescribe: 

• What containers (size, colour and specification) must be used for 
specific waste types 

• Where and when the waste container should be presented for 
collection 

• When waste containers should not be present on the public 
highway. 

The legislation also provides the council with the legal right to refuse to 
collect waste that has not been presented correctly, such as excess 
waste, prohibited waste and waste put in the wrong bin. 

Page 81

http://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/


The Policy (Add link to Household Waste and Recycling Enforcement 
Policy) explains how the Council applies enforcement action.  The 
Council recognises that sometimes people make mistakes and that 
some people may have genuine difficulties in complying with all the 
council’s requirements.  Therefore, we operate a minimum 4 step 
education/enforcement procedure, should we identify a household that 
has not complied to the Waste and Recycling Collection Policies relating 
to the kerbside collection of household waste. The final stage of the 
procedure results in a £100 fixed penalty being issued to a named 
householder.  Where we encounter vulnerable households, who appear 
to lack understanding or physical capability to adhere to all our policies, 
we will not evoke the fixed penalty final stage. Instead officers will work 
with the residents and known carers (and landlords where applicable) to 
help people manage their waste as best they can.  Exemptions from 
recycling some or all aspects of waste can be put in place where 
evidenced by a council waste officer and/or carer/medical practitioner. 

23b. Householder Duty of Care 

Occasionally the Council identifies individuals that have fly tipped waste, 
or given their waste to someone else who had subsequently fly tipped 
their waste.  People who dump their waste face a £200 fixed penalty 
charge, or even prosecution if the waste dumped is hazardous or 
excessive in size.  

Enforcement procedures are dealt with under Section 33 of the 
Environmental Protection Act.  Dumped waste will be treated as a fly 
tipping offence instead of a Section 46 offence if at least one of the 
following applies: 

• The waste dumped is more than one street away from the home of 
the householder.   

• The waste dump Contains bulky waste items that cannot fit into a 
wheeled bin or is considered prohibited waste (See Policy 6 
above).  

• The size of the waste dump is greater than 6 refuse sacks. 
 

Residents must ensure they always dispose of their waste responsibly.  
The Householder Duty of Care (section 34 of the Environmental 
Protection Act), puts a legal requirement on the householder to make 
sure that anyone taking waste away on their behalf also disposes of the 
waste responsibly.  If this is a paid for service, the householder must 

Page 82



carry out a range of checks to make sure the company collecting you 
waste is a registered waste carrier and has deposited your waste at a 
licensed waste site.  

 

24. Waste Container Charges  

From 1st November 2021, charges apply for some of Denbighshire 
Council’s waste containers. Disposable sacks, food waste cadies and 
compostable liners remain free of charge.  Please see for further 
details.)  The Delegated decision to introduce charges and supporting 
Waste Container Charging Policy can be found here (ADD LINK)  

 

25. Use of Household Waste Recycling Parks 

25a.  Denbighshire Council has three static household Recycling Parks, 
where a range of unwanted household items can be taken.  From April 
2022, Denbighshire residents will also be able to access household 
waste parks in Conwy County.  From April 2022, charges will apply for 
DIY and construction waste and some other non-household items.  (Add 
link Household Recycling Park Policy) details the requirements for 
accessing and using the recycling parks.  

 

25b. Pop-Up Recycling Parks 

A year-round Pop-Up Recycling Park Service is offered in Corwen (1st 
and 3rd Saturday mornings and Llangollen (2nd and 3rd Saturday 
mornings) for residents of the Dee Valley MAG area.  Visit 
www.denbighshire.gov.uk/   to find out locations, times and what waste 
can be accepted. 

25c. Booking system  

Anyone accessing a recycling park must book a slot through the 
Council’s Website, or by telephoning the contact centre. Proof of 
booking and residency will be required  

Restrictions apply to the size and type of vehicle that can be used to 
bring waste to the recycling parks.  Permits may be requested by 
householders wishing to use a commercial vehicle to transport their own 

Page 83

http://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/


household waste. Further details are provided here: (Add link Household 
Recycling Park Policy). 

 

 

 

APPENDIX II (b):  Waste and Recycling Policy Matrix 
The following matrix highlights which policies are unchanged from current practice, 
amended or new for the current policy.   Column 5 also highlights which policies will 
be amended in the New Waste Operating Model and summarises what those 
changes will be.  Policies omitted from this table are unchanged from current 
practice and will stay the same when the new waste model is implemented.  

Policy 
Ref. 

Policy Name Status 
(unchanged, 
amended, 
new) 

Highlight any 
immediate 
changes to current 
policy here if 
applicable 

Impact of New Waste Operating 
Model 

1a Domestic 
waste and 
recycling 
collection 
service for 
individual 
Properties 
(standard 
service) 

unchanged n/a  Frequency of residual waste 
collection reduces to 4-weekly 
Residual bin size increases to 240l 
(except single person households). 
 
 

1b  updated Presentation of 
additional recycling 
clarified 

Frequency of dry recycling 
increases to weekly 
Household batteries and small 
electrical and electronic items 
added to list of recyclables 
collected weekly. 
Textiles added to dry recyclables 
(to be collected every two weeks 
by a third sector operator). 
 
Recycling container is a 3 
compartment trolley box plus 
additional re-useable sack for 
extra cardboard.  

A. Top compartment (40l): 
• Newspapers and 

magazines, office type 
paper; 

• Catalogues and telephone 
directories; 

• Envelopes (plastic 
windows removed). 

B. Middle compartment (70l): 

Page 84



• Plastic bottles (with lids or 
trigger spray); 

• Plastic containers (bottles, 
pots, tubs and trays) 

• Tins and cans (both steel 
and aluminium); 

• Tin Foil (clean)  
• Waxed cartons 
C. Bottom compartment 

(55l): 
• Clean cardboard, 

including toilet/kitchen roll 
tubes, cereal 
boxes wrapping paper (but 
not foil) and greetings 
cards; 

• Glass bottles and jars 
(with lids separate) 

 
Re-useable blue sack: 
Additional material of either A, B or 
C (Items from A, B and C cannot 
be presented mixed together) 
 
Necessary to restrict how much 
brown card can be presented on 
any one collection day to prevent 
RRV’s reaching full capacity - all 
recycling must be presented within 
a DCC container.  Remove section 
on presenting extra waste in a 
cardboard box. Add – additional 
re-useable sacks can be 
requested free of charge for up to 
12 months after the roll out 
completes, and can be used for 
any waste stream other than glass 
(which must be placed in a rigid 
container).  
 

2 Households on 
the sack 
collection 
service 

Updated Service now 
collects both 
residual and 
recycling sacks 
weekly (used to be 
fortnightly) and 
restrictions on 
number of sacks 
presented has been 
removed. 
Introduction of 
microchipped Gull 
proof sacks in Trial 
area of West Rhyl.  

County wide introduction of 
micro-chipped gull proof sacks 
(subject to outcome of West Rhyl 
trial).  

3 Communal bins Unchanged n/a  

Page 85



4a Food waste Updated Food waste 
recycling 
mandatory for all 
households where 
the service is 
offered. 
Expansion to all 
households 
planned by March 
31st 2022. 
Clarification that 
cut flowers allowed 
in the food waste 
caddy. 
 
Clarification on 
what is accepted: 
Food waste 
includes ALL 
cooked and raw 
foods, including 
bones but 
excluding used 
cooking oil.   Cut 
flowers are also 
permitted.   
 

Food waste to be collected on 
same vehicle as dry recycling  
(One Pass)  

4b  Garden Waste Unchanged n/a unchanged 
5 Prohibited 

items 
Unchanged n/a Unchanged 

6 Presentation Unchanged n/a Collection time to change from 
7amto “from 6.30am”  to enable 
split shifts at central depot. 

7  Private and un-
adopted roads 

Unchanged n/a Unchanged but policy will need to 
be reinforced as current policy has 
been undermined since coming 
into force in 2014. 

8 Overweight 
bins 

Unchanged n/a Microchipping of bins enables 
accurate recording of households 
presenting overweight bins. 

9 Damaged bins Updated Charges apply for 
replacements 
Process for crews 
reporting bins they 
damage needs to 
be reinforced 

No change 

10  Contaminated 
bins 

Updated Rejection of 
residual bin and 
evoking of 
enforcement 
procedures for 
presenting 

Need for further source 
segregation by residents to be 
outlined as per Policy 1 above. 

Page 86



recycling in black 
bin 

11 Excess waste Updated Clarification on 
responsibility for 
windblown waste 
as a result of 
extreme weather 
now included.  

 

12 Missed bins Updated New Requirement 
to report a missed 
collection within 72 
hours of missing 
the scheduled 
collection. 

Unchanged 

13 Wheeled bin 
repairs 

Updated £5 charge 
introduced for a 
wheeled bin repair 
November 2021 

n/a 

14 Wheeled bin 
Charges 

New New policy 
outlining charges of 
supply of waste 
containers. 
Clarifies containers 
issued as part of 
the roll out of the 
new service will be 
free of charge.  

Policy already includes charges for 
additional and replacement trolley 
boxes and other containers to be 
used in the new waste operating 
model. 

15 Waste 
container 
identification 

New Request for 
residents to put 
house/flat number 
on bin and 
requirement NOT 
to remove 
containers 
numbered by the 
council. 
Note that Residual 
waste containers to 
be microchipped in 
trial areas. 

All residual waste containers and 
gull proof sacks to be 
microchipped to the address 
presenting the containers.  

16 Assisted 
Collections 

Updated Requirement for 
household to 
renew every 3 
years. 
Option  for 
household to 
choose to  reduce 
container size free 
of charge to avoid 
need for 
assistance. 

Unchanged 

Page 87



18a Sharps Unchanged n/a No change 
18b Infectious 

waste 
Updated Amended to 

reduce risk to 
medical 
practitioners during 
pandemic 9as per 
government 
request) 

No change 

18c Covid 
precautions 

New Current advice on 
website added to 
formal policy (72 
hour rule) 

No change  

19 Additional 
recycling 
capacity 

Updated Updated to reflect 
charging policy 

Charges will also apply for 
additional trolley boxes but for 
the first 12 months after the roll 
out, additional re-useable sacks 
will be supplied in request free of 
charge that can be used for any 
single dry recycling streams other 
than glass which must be 
presented in a rigid container.  

20 Abandoned 
bins 

No change n/a No change 

21 Collection of 
unwanted bins 

Updated Free exchange 
offered to 
households 
wanting a smaller 
container to avoid 
need for assisted 
collection service 
Collection accepted 
through chargeable 
bulky waste  
Bins prohibited 
from being take to 
the household 
waste Recycling 
Centres for 
disposal 

No change 

22 Bulky Waste Unchanged n/a Unchanged 
23 Enforcement 

Policies 
Updated Mandatory 

requirement to 
recycle food waste 
clarified 
Right to evoke 
enforcement 
procedure for 
households failing 
to remove 
recyclables from 
residual waste 

List of acceptance criteria to be 
updated to be consistent with 
Policy 1. 

Page 88



Right to issue 
Section 46 notices 
as a first stage (as 
opposed to third 
stage) if deemed 
appropriate by the 
Waste and 
Recycling manager 
to deal with a 
particular waste 
issue within a 
locality (e.g.  
communal 
collection point (in 
order to evoke 
“right not to 
collect”).  Two 
further warnings 
will still be issued 
post notice before 
FPN is issued to any 
individual 
household. 
 

24 Container 
charges 

NEW Delegated decision 
report  - charges in 
place for some 
containers from 1st 
November 2021 

No Change as new policy includes 
charges for future waste 
containers. 

25a HRC Policy NEW To be approved at 
Cabinet 19th 
October 2021 

No change 

25b Pop-Up 
recycling 
events 

Unchanged n/a – although 
what is accepted at 
the sites after 
charges for DIY 
waste are 
introduced needs 
to be determined.  

No change (increase in demand 
expected after move to monthly 
collections). 

25c HRC booking 
system 

NEW Not linked to waste 
operating model – 
but linked to 26.1. 

No change 

 

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix III: New Waste Operating Model Key Milestones Update

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4               onwards             

West Rhyl 
Project begins

Main vehicle 
procurement

Benefits Plan 
achieved

Phase 1 Depot 
works awarded

Communal / 
Trade  service 

launch

Trolley box 
deliveries

AHP service 
launched

Phase 2 Depot 
infrastructure

Black bin 
exchange

New central 
depot opens

Main ops staff 
recruitment

AHP treatment 
facility built 

Electric vehicle 
trial data

Behaviour 
Change Unit 

est. 

Waste 
Collection 

policy review

In Cab 
technology 

Campaign 
launch

P
age 91



Changes since last reported in May 2021
Brought forward:
• Vehicle procurement – to manage supply chain risk
• Campaign launch – to enhance general awareness of new waste model and help build  electronic 

database of service users we can keep regularly informed.
• Operational Staff recruitment – to manage industrywide recruitment issues a series of cohorts will 

be recruited (the first in January), working closely with the Working in Denbighshire Team

Delayed
• West Rhyl Project – due to recruitment challenges now overcome.
• Behaviour Change Unit established – due to management capacity issues to complete team 

restructure and recruitment challenges of environmental crime officers. Key posts currently 
advertised.

• Electric vehicle trial data – due to delays in supply chain of ULEVs to trial authorities, data is not 
expected before Q2 2022.

• In-Cab Technology – Procurement exercise completed to schedule but limitations of suppliers able 
to meet our requirements means alternative procurement route now needs to be considered.

• AHP treatment facility – A recycling solution has not yet been secured in the region due to 
immaturity of the markets and technologies.  Welsh Government and LA partners continue to 
explore routes to market suitable to achieve a recycling solution that is affordable and improves 
the carbon footprint of the current Energy to Waste solution.  This is ongoing work.

Blue (1) : 
Complete

Green (11): 
on track

Amber (5)
Experiencing 

obstacles

Red (0) 

P
age 92



Appendix IV 

Phase 1 Enabling Works – Extension of Colomendy Industrial Estate, Denbigh including proposed site 

for new Central Depot to support New Waste Operating Model as of November 2021. 

 

 

  

 

 

Shows Plots 3, 4 & 5 

expansion sites for key 

Denbigh businesses   

 Plot 2 - photo shows access 

road infrastructure for 

business plot from the 

Colomendy Industrial Estate 

 Plot 4– Plot 4 photo shows extent of land 

gradient from Graig Road (top) to Llwyn Goch/ 

The Green (bottom) – approx. 100M difference 

(Impermeable membrane in foreground 

installed to assist drainage on Plot 4) 

Page 93



 

 

 

 Plot 1 (DCC) photo view 

towards Graig Road) (to the 

left reddish soil denotes 

approx. position of proposed 

vehicle wash facilities and 

fuel tank beyond it. 

Plot 1 (DCC) View from just 

below the main staff parking 

zone (with Graig Road behind 

photographer). Yellow digger 

plant in background denotes 

approx. location of future 

transfer station building and 

offices.  Immediate 

foreground is the location of 

highway waste material bays. 

Plot 1 (DCC) Photo taken from 

fleet car park area showing 

staff car parking area 

adjacent to Graig Road.  

Electric Charge points to be 

installed along grey wall to 

charge new recycling fleet. 

Page 94



Appendix V:   Benefits Realisation Plan with update, New Waste Operating Model 

ID Benefit to be 
Delivered 

Period over 
which benefits 
will be realised 

Milestones Key Dates 
for specific 
outcomes 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Dependencies Update 

BEN.4703.01 Annual Saving in 
costs to deliver 
Waste Service against 
current Service 
Baseline (£500K min) 

Financial Year 
following 
implementation 
of new Service 
Model 

Review 
progress 
against savings 
target quarterly 
following 
implementation 

From June 
2023 

Tara 
Dumas 

Full roll out and 
bedding in of new 
Service Model 

£2M Risk contingency 
projected to be fully 
utilised to deliver the 
service change due to 
cost pressures from 
increased supply / 
material costs 
affecting Depot, Fleet 
& Container costs 

BEN.4703.02 Extended Producer 
Responsibility  
Scheme ready - 
providing high quality 
materials to market 
to optimise collection 
scheme support  
from producers (£) 

Scheme starts 
October  2023 

Annually from 
Q3 2023 

From Q3 2023 
onwards 

Tara 
Dumas 

EPR legislation 
adoption. Funding 
levels/criteria and 
dates yet to be 
finalised by UK 
Government. 
Source segregated 
service guarantees 
optimal income for 
recycling 
packaging 
collected. 

EPR consultation 
(Phase 2) closed June 
2021.  Awaiting 
Central Government 
report of findings and 
proposals. 

BEN.4703.03 Achieve  2024/25 
statutory 70% 
recycling target 

2024/25 Statutory 
quarterly 
Waste Data 
Flow 
submissions -
ongoing 

May 2025 for 
unverified 
data/Sept 
2025 for 
verified data 

Tara 
Dumas 

See below No change 

P
age 95



ID Benefit to be 
Delivered 

Period over 
which benefits 
will be realised 

Milestones Key Dates 
for specific 
outcomes 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Dependencies  
Update 

BEN.4703.03a Improved Recycling 
Performance through 
reduced residual 
waste capacity 
(increasing capture of 
recyclable materials 
currently collected 

Ongoing Quarterly & 
Annual waste 
data flow 

From June 
2023 

Tara 
Dumas 

Full roll out and 
bedding in of new 
Service Model 

No change 

BEN.4703.03b Absorbent Hygiene 
Product (AHP) waste 
collected from Spring 
2023 to be recycled 
from 2024/25 

2024/25 onwards Quarterly & 
Annual waste 
data flow 

2024/25 full 
year effect of 
AHP 
treatment 

Tara 
Dumas 

Technology 
Innovation and 
supporting 
government 
funding grants 
Continuation of 
Welsh LA’s to 
commit to 
recycling AHP 
Final solution 
affordability 
Market readiness 
for recycled 
products arising 
from process 
Future recycling 
target definitions. 
 

Unsuccessful 
procurement of AHP 
Treatment 
technology provider 
(known Summer 
2021). Other options 
to market now being 
explored, including 
interim arrangements 
to provide a solution 
until Local Authority 
led facilities are 
established. 
 
 

P
age 96



ID Benefit to be 
Delivered 

Period over 
which benefits 
will be realised 

Milestones Key Dates 
for specific 
outcomes 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Dependencies Update 

BEN.4703.03c Improved Recycling 
Performance through 
introduction of  
microchipped 
containers for 
residual waste  

2023/24 onwards All gull proof 
sacks chipped 
and issued by 
September 
2021.  Black 
240l bins 
chipped March 
2021. Roll out 
of new chipped 
bins Q1 2023. 

Part year 
effect on 
recycling 
performance 
felt 2023/24 
(known April 
2024)  Full 
year effect 
2024/25 
known April 
2025. 

Tara 
Dumas 

Full roll out and 
bedding in of new 
Service Model 

Roll out of sacks 
delayed until Q1 2022 
due to staffing and 
supply issues. 
Microchipping bin 
trial to commence Q1 
2022 in West Rhyl 
area. 

BEN.4703.03d Improved Recycling 
Performance through 
introduction of new  
WEEE (Waste 
Electronic and 
Electrical Equipment) 
kerbside service and 
batteries plus full 
coverage for textile 
service 

2023/24 onwards Textile 
expansion to 
70% of county 
by March 2022.  
remainder 
during full 
service roll out 
23/24 

Part year 
effect on 
recycling 
performance 
felt 2023/24 
(known April 
2024)  Full 
year effect 
2024/25 
known April 
2025. 

Tara 
Dumas 

Full roll out and 
bedding in of new 
Service Model.  
Linked to Circular 
Economy Funding 
bid secured Jan 
2021.  

Delays to textile roll 
out due to lack of 
managerial capacity  
Textile service 
expansion now due 
Q1 2022, subject to 
successful 
recruitment of key 
posts within service. 

BEN.4703.04 Facilitation of option 
for neighbouring 
Businesses in 
Colomendy Estate to 
expand 

July 2022 
onwards 

Delivery of 
Phase 1 
Enabling 
Contract - July 
2022 

From July 
2022 

Peter 
Clayton 

Completion of 
Phase 1 Enabling 
Contract 

No change  

P
age 97



ID Benefit to be 
Delivered 

Period over 
which benefits 
will be realised 

Milestones Key Dates 
for specific 
outcomes 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Dependencies Update 

BEN.4703.06 Improved kerbside 
service reliability 
through 
implementation of in 
Cab technology. 

September 2023 
onwards 

KPI suit 
established 
April 2021 
onwards  to 
measure 
missed bin , bin 
delivery issues 
and customer 
complaints on a 
quarterly basis. 

Annual report 
21/22. 22/23, 
23/24. 

Jamie 
Lees / 
Jane 
Williams 

Procurement of In 
Cab technology 
provider 2021/22 
and fully 
integrated by 
March 2022 

Unable to award 
contract through 
procurement 
exercise.  Alternative 
procurement routes 
now being 
investigated. Min 4 
month delay. 

BEN.4703.07 Reduced mileage and 
associated carbon 
emissions  (6% 
target) through 
improved service 
reliability  

To be proved Q1 
2023 before re-
routing 

Baseline 
established 
from 2021/22 
data Q1 

Q1 2022/23 
(before 
routing 
changes) 

Jamie 
Lees 

Procurement of In 
Cab technology 
provider 2021/22 
and fully 
integrated by 
March 2022. 

Delays to securing 
technology provider 
means the service 
reliability will need to 
be proven with 6 
months comparison 
data, as opposed to 
12. 

BEN.4703.08 Low Carbon 
Technology - 
Photovoltaics, Air 
Source Heat Pump, 
EV Charge Points, 
Rainwater Harvesting 
to new Depot 
Building  

Following 
completion of 
Phase 2 Depot 
Development - 
July 2022 - May 
2023 

Quarterly & 
Annual running 
costs / energy 
usage stats 
reviews 

Annual 
building 
performance 
from May 
2023 onwards 

Rob Jones 
/ Dan 
Owens 

Phase 2 Depot 
Development 

No change 

P
age 98



ID Benefit to be 
Delivered 

Period over 
which benefits 
will be realised 

Milestones Key Dates 
for specific 
outcomes 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Dependencies Update 

BEN.4703.09 Reduced carbon 
emissions from waste 
collection fleet due to 
introduction of 
ULEV's 

TBC - Jan 2022 
orders for new 
Fleet to be placed 
following WG 
trials to prove 
concepts - will 
determine 
number ordered 

Roll out of 
ULEV's in 
support of new 
model from 
June 2023 
onwards 

Annual fleet 
performance 
reviews 
following roll 
out of ULEV 
fleet in 
support of 
new model 

Chris 
Brown  

Operational use of 
ULEV Fleet out of 
new Depot 

No change – aiming 
to procure around 
one third of the new 
recycling fleet as fully 
electric. 

BEN.4703.10 Increased 
employment 
associated with new 
Team structure to 
support new Waste 
Model - 20+ FTE 

From July 2023 
 

Roll Out of new 
Service Model 

April to July 
2023 
Increase in 
FTE’s 
recruited and 
increase in 
agency hours 
to be 
monitored 
against KAT 
model 
projections. 

Tara 
Dumas 

Operational set up 
of new staffing 
model to support 
new Service model 

Staggered 
recruitment over a 
12-18 month period 
will realise a 
proportion of this 
benefit early. 

BEN.4703.11 Customer benefit: 
Greater containerised 
capacity to store and 
present segregated 
waste streams (600L+ 
every four weeks) has 
potential to reduce 
littering from over 
flowing bin. 

From July 2023 
 

Procurement of 
containers. 
Roll out of new 
Service Model 

July 2023  
Regular Keep 
Wales Tidy / 
DCC litter 
surveys will 
identify 
impacts to 
cleanliness 
standards  

Tara 
Dumas 

Full roll out and 
bedding in of new 
service model. 

No change 

P
age 99



 

P
age 100



 

Appendix VI:   Latest Communications and Engagement Plan 

This report outlines communications activities to promote changes in the waste and 

recycling service. The activity would provide residents with clear, accurate and timely 

information about the changes and ensure that our communications assist the 

community to be ready for the changes and understand how to use the new system.  

The communications plan is split into five main parts:  

Section A is around general promotion of recycling and behaviour change that is 

needed ahead of the service changes. This is business as usual activity, but critical 

to ensure that we continue to encourage more recycling. We will be utilising national 

assets produced by  

Section B focusses on activity in West Rhyl where a new weekly sack collection will 

be introduced to try and reduce problems with littering and to encourage residents to 

use the facilities provided to them. The WRAP ‘Keeping Up with the Joneses’ 

branding will be used on literature to communicate with residents about the specific 

changes. 

Section C focusses on activity to support the changes to the Commercial Service 

(including businesses, schools and council offices we service) and households 

sharing a large communal 4-wheeled bins.  This service will roll out Q3/4 2022/23, 

ahead of the main service change, in order that the Council and our customers can 

comply with new legislative obligations to collect separate recyclable items. 

Section D focusses on the waste transfer station development in Denbigh. 

These proposed activities aim to keep relevant stakeholders informed of key 

milestones around the project development, and to ensure that any negative 

coverage is minimised. 

Section E is around the main changes to the waste and recycling services. 

These communications activities are high level, with a detailed communications plan 

listing all the activities to be undertaken to be developed by the Council and WRAP. 

Page 101



The proposed activities have been categorised into ‘essential’ activity, ‘optional’ 

activity and ‘nice to have’ actions for discussion purposes. The activities include 

direct marketing, media relations, social media, advertising, community events and 

internal communications. These activities, if approved, will be carried out by the 

Council’s Communications team, WRAP and external designers/printers/producers.  

Colour coding grid 

Green Essential activity 

Orange Optional activity 

Yellow Not a necessity, but nice to have 

SECTION A: General recycling promotion May 2021 onwards 

ACTION TARGET AUDIENCE PERSON 
RESPONSIBLE 

WHEN 

 

Agree 
communications 
plan/approach 

Board Board / SO May 2021 

Completed 

Review and 
revise text for the 
corporate 
website 

 

All Lead JG 
information 
provided by TD  

Environmental 
Services / 
Corporate 
Comms 

November / 
December  
2021 

 

Social media 
schedule - focus 
on enforcement 
process in 
problematic 
areas 

Public Corporate 
Comms 

 May 2022 

Page 102



Use ‘Be Mighty’ 
national 
campaign assets 
from WRAP on 
social media and 
other key 
channels 

Public Council/WRAP Underway 

Supported 
Recycling 
Week 
(September 
20 – 26) 
with 
national 
assets 

Establish regular 
meetings with 
WRAP to 
discuss assets 
and funding 

Nicola 

Peake   nicola@thevynes.com 

Emma Hallett: 

Emma.Hallett@wrap.org.uk 

Lisa Chilcott: 

lisa.chilcott@wrap.org.uk 

SO Underway 
and 
quarterly 

Produce JD for 
part time 
resource to 
support Waste 
and Recycling 
Communications 

Board Lead SO 

TD  

December 
2021 

 

Produce 
instructional 
comms material 
for roll out of 
food waste to 
remaining 
households in 
Denbigh and 
some rural areas 

Targeted households not 
currently offered the food 
waste service 

WRAP 

TD 

January/ 
February 
2022 

Costing for all 
activity including 
WRAP 
contributions 

Board and WRAP SO / TD May/ June 
2021 

Page 103

mailto:nicola@thevynes.com
mailto:Emma.Hallett@wrap.org.uk
mailto:lisa.chilcott@wrap.org.uk


Work with Caru 
Cymru on a 
campaign 
around dog foul 
waste 

Public  Autumn 
2021 

SECTION B: West Rhyl Phase 1 Service Change (Enhance engagement / 
weekly Sack collections and microchipping trials) February 2021 to September 
2021 

ACTION 

 

TARGET 
AUDIENCE 

PERSON 
RESPONSIBLE 

WHEN 

Promotion of Bulky 
Waste Service via 
leaflet drop 

Residents / 
landlords 

WRAP/Council Complete 
February 2021 

Production of ‘Keeping 
Up with the Joneses’ 
leaflet 

For residents of West 
Rhyl 

Residents 

Tenants 

Landlords 

Council/WRAP Complete in 
distribution 

Translation of the 
above leaflet into non-
English or Welsh 
languages spoken 
amongst the residents, 
to produce a basic 
Word document version 

Residents 

Tenants 

Landlords 

Council/WRAP Complete - in 
distribution  

April 2021  

Poster – for communal 
areas, such as on 
noticeboards and bin 
store areas 

Residents 

Tenants  

Landlords 

Council/WRAP Complete – in 
distribution 

Container 
contamination sticker – 
to be placed by 
collections crews 

Residents Council/WRAP Complete – in 
circulation 

Page 104



Info stickers for 
communal bins 
(contamination etc…) 

Residents of 
shared bin 
stores 

Council/ WRAP Complete – in 
distribution 

Internal Engagement 

activity 

 

Frontline staff, 
including 
Customer 
Contact Centre 
staff, collection 
crews and 
Members, 
including West 
Rhyl Ward 
members 

West Rhyl project 
Officer (AC) 

December/ 
January 2021/22 

External Engagement 
activity to prepare for 
service change 

Landlords/RSLs AC  December 2021 
to April 2022 

Develop comms plan 
around microchipping 
project to be launched 
in February 2022 

Members 

Residents 

Media 

MJ /TD Dec 2021 – Jan 
2022 

Develop and print  
leaflets to accompany 
new sack system (gull 
proof sacks) to be 
launched April/May 
2022 

Residents 

Landlords 

AR / WRAP Jan – March 
2022 

Press Release to be 
issued on the day 
scrutiny papers are 
released for May 
Communities Scrutiny 
report including briefing 
spokesperson for 
media interview 

 Residents MJ (paper 
provided by TD in 
advance) 

Scrutiny meeting 
on the 13th May 
Papers due to be 
published on the 
6th May 

Completed 

Press Release to be 
issued on the day 
scrutiny papers are 
released for December 

 Residents MJ  (paper 
provided by TD in 
advance) 

Draft release 
prepared 
pending meeting 

Page 105

https://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/en/news/news-detail.aspx?article=ab14658c-530c-4a4d-8da7-81108c69231d


2021 Communities 
Scrutiny report 
including briefing 
spokesperson for 
media interview 

Engagement with 
Councillors on 
Communities Scrutiny 
in advance of the 
meeting 

Councillors on 
scrutiny and all 
ward members – 
email to 
encourage 
attendance of 
meeting and 
provide sneak 
preview of some 
comms material 
(A to Z and first 
edition of the  

B INformed 
newsletter 

TW Week Before 
December 9th 
Meeting 

 

SECTION C: Trade Waste and Communal Bin Service Change (Launch Autumn 
2022) 

ACTION AUDIENCE PERSON 
RESPONSIBLE 

WHEN 

 

Consult trade 
customers on the 
Environment Act 
requirements  

Develop 
questionnaire and 
information leaflet 

Trade Waste 
customers 
(approx. 600) 

AR/ Comms April to June 2022 

Expand and 
improve trade 
waste content on 
Council’s website 

 

Public / new and 
existing customers 

Corporate Comms/ 
AR 

March/April 2022 

Page 106



Direct marketing to 
Promote food 
waste recycling 
and offer free trials 
to existing 
customers (SME’s) 

SME customers 
and new all 
customers 

AR April 2022 
onwards 

Develop branding 
for trade waste 
service (ensure on 
all 
correspondence) 

Potential new 
customers 

Comms/ AR Feb 2022 

Design Trade 
Waste vehicle 
wraps x 2 

New Customers Comms/Fleet/ 
Waste Service 

Awaiting 
confirmation of 
delivery date 

Agree bin colours 
and branding  for 
trade waste 
containers and 
develop refurb 
programme 

Existing 
Customers 

COMMS/ AR Complete 

Develop landlord / 
property 
management 
engagement packs 
for all bin store 
locations 

Property 
management 
companies and/or 
landlords with 
communal bin 
stores. 

Waste Team / 
COMMS 

April to May 2022 

Develop bin store 
signage for source 
segregated  

Aimed at 
residents/tenants 
using bin stores 

WRAP April to May 2022  

Develop 
instructional 
leaflets for 
residents sharing 
communal bin 
stores  

Aimed at 
residents/tenants 
using bin stores 

AC in conjunction 
with Comms 

Complete – 
currently in trial at 
Bron Y Crest 

Page 107



Bron y Crest  
Source 
Segregated Bin 
store Trial 

Residents DCC housing/ 
Comms/ Waste 
Team (AC) 

December 2021 
onwards – in 
progress 

SECTION D: Denbigh Waste Transfer Station 

ACTION AUDIENCE PERSON 

RESPONSIBLE 

WHEN 

 

Update to Member Area 

Group on the current 

position 

Denbigh 

MAG 

Board via PM Standing Item on 

every Denbigh MAG 

Agenda – Ongoing 

updates provided 

Briefing for wider Members 

 

Members Board / 

Corporate 

Comms 

May 2021 – as part 

of wider attendance 

updated on overall 

Service Change 

proposals to 

Communities 

Scrutiny – 

Completed – 

Attended 

Communities 

Scrutiny May 2021 

 

Further attendance 

at Cabinet and 

Scrutiny at key 

stages in run up to 

Page 108



Service Change as 

required 

Briefing for Town Council 

following appointment of 

Phase 1 Contractor  

Denbigh 

Town 

Council 

Environmental 

Services / 

Corporate 

Comms/ 

Contractor 

Early June 2021 – 

Completed – 

Updated via 

Denbigh MAG and 

local letter drop by 

Main Contractor 

Update for businesses on 

the Colomendy site and 

nearby residents following 

appointment of Phase 1 

Contractor 

(via newsletter) – 

timescales etc. 

Local 

businesses 

and 

residents 

Environmental 

Services 

Early June 2021 – 

Completed – local 

letter drop and 

comms to local 

residents and 

businesses via Main 

Contractor 

Comms around the 

commencement of Phase 

1 enabling works 

 

(NOTE: Phase 1 Enabling 

Works Contract will see 

DCC leading a 

collaboration with 4 

businesses looking to 

extend their current sites 

on the Estate in order to 

deliver initial earthworks, 

drainage works, servicing 

Members 

Town 

Council 

Local 

businesses/ 

residents 

Media 

The public 

Staff 

Corporate 

Comms 

Late June 2021 

Completed – see 

link to Press 

Release 

Page 109

https://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/en/news/news-detail.aspx?article=3cdb1d0d-f22e-4014-ba37-0a93c9dc1e8f


and access to the site with 

each member then able to 

go on and develop out 

their sites according to 

their own Planning 

Permissions and at their 

own timescales to suit 

individual requirements 

following completion of 

Phase 1) 

Comms around the 

completion of Phase 1 

enabling works 

 

 

 

Members 

Town 

Council 

Local 

businesses/ 

residents 

Media 

The public 

Staff 

Corporate 

Comms 

Spring 2022 – exact 

date TBC 

Update content on 

Council’s website following 

appointment of Phase 2 

Contractor 

Public Environmental 

Services / 

Corporate 

Comms/ JG 

Spring 2022 – exact 

date TBC 

Update for businesses on 

the Colomendy site and 

nearby residents following 

appointment of Phase 2 

Local 

businesses 

Environmental 

Services 

Spring 2022 – exact 

date TBC 

Page 110



Contractor (via newsletter) 

– timescales etc. 

and 

residents 

Comms around the 

commencement of Phase 

2 building works for 

proposed DCC Waste 

Transfer Station 

 

 

 

Members 

Town 

Council 

Local 

businesses/ 

residents 

Media 

The public 

Staff 

Corporate 

Comms 

Late Spring 2022 – 

exact date TBC 

Key milestone in the 

project – six months to go 

Members 

Town 

Council 

Local 

businesses/ 

residents 

Media 

The public 

Staff 

Corporate 

Comms 

October 2022 – 

exact date TBC 

Key milestone in the 

project – projected date of 

completion 

Members 

Town 

Council 

Corporate 

Comms 

March 2023 – exact 

date TBC 

Page 111



 Local 

businesses/ 

residents 

Media 

The public 

Staff 

Announcement of site 

becoming operational 

(briefing, news release, 

social media) 

Members 

Town 

Council 

Local 

businesses/ 

residents 

Media 

The public 

Staff 

 

Corporate 

Comms 

Anticipated May 

2023 – exact date 

TBC 

Media opportunity – 

briefing / photos 

Media Corporate 

Comms 

Completion of new 

Depot – May 2023 – 

exact date TBC 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 112



SECTION E: General changes to the service 

ACTION AUDIENCE PERSON 
RESPONSIBLE 

WHEN 

 

Production of 
schedule and 
content for web/ 
social media/ 
press releases- 
including FAQ’s 

Members 

Staff 

Public 

Media 

Key 
stakeholders 

 

Council/WRAP March-May 2022 

Production of “bin 
tag” to signpost  
all residents to  
recycling a to z 
and B INformed 
newsletter 

Public Comms Team/ WRAP 

 

TD 

Dec 2021-January 
2022 

Articles for Council 
publications -  

e.g. quarterly  

B INformed 
newsletter 

 

Residents Council/WRAP January 2022 
onwards 

Production of  a 
poster to be 
placed at Council-
managed outlets 
such as 
community 
centres and 
libraries 

Residents Council/ WRAP March 2022 
onwards 

Page 113



Internal 
Communications 
activity 

(briefing of 
frontline staff, 
Denbighshire 
Today, Intranet, 
team briefings, 
Member briefings 

Frontline staff, 
including 
Customer 
Contact 
Centre staff, 
collection 
crews and 
Waste 
Wardens 

General DCC 
staff 

Members  

Council/WRAP March 2022 
onwards 

Sign-up leaflets 
(nappies and 
incontinence 
service) 

Residents Council/WRAP April 2022 – 
October 2022 

Production of 
householder 
packs  

Residents Council/WRAP September 2022- 
April  2023 

New containers 
leaflet (draft text, 
design and 
translate) 

Residents Council/WRAP November 2022 – 
April 2023 

Production of 
contamination 
stickers – use 
those produced for 
the West Rhyl 
project 

Residents Council/WRAP November 2022 – 
April 2023 

 

Production of 
collections 
calendars 

Residents Council/WRAP April 2023 

Production of 
‘Sorry We Missed 
You’ calling cards 

Residents Council/WRAP November 2022 – 
April 2023 

 

Page 114



Production of RRV 
livery 

Council COMMS/WRAP/FLEET November 2022 – 
April 2023 

Production of 
FAQs which will 
be regularly 
updated  before 
and after the 
service change is 
implemented (in 
light of customer 
feedback) 

Residents Council/WRAP Continually 
updated 

Production of 
animation 

Residents Council/WRAP June 2022 – March 
2023 

Production of pull-
ups for roadshows  

Residents Council/WRAP June 2022 – March 
2023 

Publish FAQs on 
the Council’s 
website 

Residents Council/WRAP June 2023 

Issue householder 
packs to residents 

Residents Council/WRAP April 2023 

Release animation Residents Council/WRAP June 2023 

Bus stop 
advertising  

Residents Council/WRAP June 2023 

Production of 
leaflet dispensers 

Residents Council/WRAP June 2023 

Advertising 
screens 

Residents Council/WRAP June 2023 

Cinema adverts Residents Council/WRAP June 2023 

Page 115



Launch of a 
Coming Soon 
campaign: 

What are the main 
changes? 

Estimated 
timescale. 

Countdown how 
many days until 
delivery 

All 
stakeholders 

Council/WRAP March2023 

Attendance at 
Denbigh and Flint 
Show marquee 

All 
stakeholders 

Comms Sub Group August 2023 

Drop-in sessions 
in the county’s 
libraries 

Residents Comms Sub Group March onwards 
2022 

DCC employees 
awareness 
campaign 

DCC 
employees – 
ambassador 
recycler 
campaign 

Business Development 
Manager (W and R) to 
be lead officer 

September 2022 – 
December 2022 
(Will tie in with roll 
out of new service 
to all DCC 
buildings (signed 
up to trade service 

Eco schools 
campaigns  

Teachers and 
pupils 

Residents/ 
Parents and 
Carers 

Comms Sub group September 22 – 
April 23 (Will tie in 
with roll out of new 
service to all our 
school customers. 

Paid for advert in 
local press – 
Journal and Free 
Press 

Residents Comms Sub Group May/June 2023 

Page 116



Delivery of bins to 
depot (photo 
opportunity) 

Media Comms Sub Group May 2023 

Paid for 
advertising on 
social media 

Residents Comms Sub Group June 2023 

First bins being 
delivered to 
residents. 

(Video and vox 
pop) 

All 
stakeholders 

Comms sub Group June  2023 

 

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix VII Sample of frequently asked questions 

A full set of FAQs have been produced by the service.  A specific landing page on 

the Council website will be developed in January/February to signpost residents to 

information about the new service.  Residents will be able to click on the type of 

service they have now to find out how the changes will affect them.  There will also 

be a section on the reasons for the service change, setting out the economic and 

environmental benefits of the new service.  There are 48 FAQs in total being 

prepared for the launch, and more can be added over time.  A selection of the most 

popular FAQs is detailed below.  Images of containers will support the information. 

Please note all underlined text will have links to further information, to provide those 

who want it with further information. 

 

A4: I have a blue and black bin now, what changes can I expect with the new 
waste and recycling service? 

Dry recycling: 

Your dry recycling includes your cardboard, paper, glass, plastics, cans, and food 
and drink carton (such as Tetra Pak) waste. 

We will collect all your dry recycling every week at the same time as your food 
waste. 

If you currently use a blue wheelie bin, we will swap this with a trolley-box (Trolibocs) 
(add link to image and spec) and a large reusable blue sack for cardboard (add link 
to image and spec). The new system enables you to keep your recycling streams 
separate from each other, to increase the quality of the recycling we collect from you. 

You will also be able to recycle household batteries, small electrical items and 
textiles as part of the new service. 

Organic waste: 

Food waste will continue to be collected weekly, by the same vehicle that collects 
your dry recycling.  Food waste is not allowed in the black bin.  If you do not have an 
orange kerbside caddy, please click here (add link) to order one.  You will also be 
given a small silver kitchen top caddy and compostable liners 

Garden waste will continue to be collected every 2 weeks for those who pay for the 
service. 

Non-recyclable waste: 

We will swap your current black bin for a larger black bin, unless you live alone or 
just with one other person.   

We will only collect the non-recyclable waste from your black bin every four weeks 
because you need to put far less waste inside it because of the other collections we 
have added. There will be special arrangements available for households of six or 
more people through our Larger Household Scheme (add link).     

Page 119



All black bins will contain a built-in microchip to help keep your container safe and 
enable us to contact you if we have any concerns about the way you’re using your 
bin or sack. Use of microchips will be trialled in 2022 in West Rhyl, to inform wider 
use in the new model. 

If crews can see that you haven’t separated your recyclable items correctly, we will 
tag your bin and leave it unemptied, recording your address on our system. This will 
enable us to identify households that need more help support to sort and recycle 
their waste correctly and we will contact you. 

For those households with residents using nappies or incontinence products, a free 
fortnightly Absorbent Hygiene Product (AHP) subscription service will be available. 
This service will be available to all households that have a two-wheeled black bin. 
Once we’re able to recycle this waste, we will offer this service to all households.  

Initially, households that currently use a communal (or shared) bin store area or sack 
collection service will not be eligible for the AHP subscription service. 

C5: How many different recycling containers will there be and what will go in 
each? 

If you live a property with communal (or shared) bin store area, please click here 
(add link) 

If you live in property that currently uses two wheeled bins, we will deliver to you: 

 a 120-litre blue reusable gull-proof sack for your cardboard 
 a Trolibocs with three compartments: 

 a 45-litre compartment for your paper. You may also place any small 
electrical items here to be recycled. 

 A 70-litre compartment for your plastics, cans and food and drink 
cartons (such as Tetra Pak). 

 A 55-litre compartment for your glass bottles and jars  
 a small pink container for your household batteries that can be hung on your 

Trolibocs handle. 

If you live in property that currently uses single-use sacks, we will deliver to you: 

 a 120-litre blue reusable gull-proof sack with three separate smaller re-useable 

bags inside: 

 a 30-litre bag for your paper and small pieces of card 

 a 30-litre bag for your plastics, cans and food and drink cartons (such 

as Tetra Pak) 

 a 30-litre bag for your glass bottles and jars 

 space down the full length of the inside of your gull-proof sack to present 

larger pieces of cardboard and small electrical items to be recycled 

 a small re-useable pouch for your household batteries (presented inside your 
gull proof sack) 

All homes will be given two single-use sacks provided by our Denbighshire-based 
Social Enterprise partner, Co-Options, for your textiles. Co-Options will give you a 

Page 120

https://www.pembrokeshire.gov.uk/absorbent-hygiene-products


replacement sack each time you put out a filled sack to be collected. You may also 
request extra sacks by contacting Co-Options directly. (insert link) 

All households should already have a 23-litre outdoor orange caddy for your food 
waste, and a smaller silver caddy to store your food waste inside before you place it 
inside your outdoor caddy and supply of compostable liners.  Food waste recycling is 
mandatory.  Please click here (ADD LINK) to order your free food waste recycling 
equipment 

A9: What are you going to do with all the old blue and black wheelie bins we 
no longer need? 

We will deliver your new Trolibocs on a day we collect your recycling from your blue 
bin. As soon as we’ve emptied your blue bin, we will remove it.   

All blue bins will be fully recycled.  The blue bins contain a high proportion of ‘virgin’ 
(or ‘raw’) plastic and we’re able to sell them to a re-processor where the pellets 
produced from recycling the plastic can be used to make new bins, or other plastic 
products. The rubber wheels and metal axles can also be recycled, although we will 
keep some to give out as spares for our black bins if needed in the future. 

You may choose to keep your blue bin if you want to use it for personal storage.  We 
will send you a tag that you can place on your blue bin if you want to keep it, so that 
we don’t take it away on the day we deliver your Trolibocs.  Please note that if you 
choose to keep your blue bin, there will be a charge to collect it should you wish us 
to remove it at a later date, or you may take it at any time to your local Waste and 
Recycling Centre to be recycled.  

Did you know it’s possible for you to convert your blue bin into a water butt, helping 
you to store rainwater for use in your garden?  Click here to find out more, and to 
request a ‘conversion kit’, ADD LINK. 

 

A11: Will the new recycling system cause more littering? 

No. Providing you don’t overfill your new containers, and are able to close the lids on 

each one, you won’t cause waste to escape into the environment.  

The top container in your Trolibocs has a lockable lid, meaning it’s less likely to 

enable waste to escape or to be opened by animals. 

The orange food waste caddy has a lockable handle. 

The blue sack for your cardboard, and the gull-proof blue and black sacks are 

designed so they can be fully closed, and have a Velcro strap so that you can fasten 

them to a post, rail or other fixed point to stop them blowing away.  They also have a 

weighed bottom to keep them grounded and prevent them from easily blowing away. 

Trolibocses can sometimes blow over in high winds, just like the current blue bins.  

We advise you don’t put out your containers until the morning of your collection to 

reduce the chance they could be blown over during the night.  You can also use the 

Velcro strap on your blue sack to secure it around the trolley.   

Page 121



You should securely store all your recycling and non-recyclable waste containers on 

your own property unless it is your collection day. 

 

A12: I’m concerned the new system requires more lifting and carrying (manual 

handling) than the current system. Should I worry about this?  

Most households will be issued with a Trolibocs (add link to image and specification) 

for their dry recycling – cardboard, paper, glass, plastics, cans, and food and drink 

cartons (such as Tetra Pak).  Its ergonomic handle and large wheels make it easier 

to manoeuvre than the current blue bin, for both residents and our collection crews  

Your new blue sack for cardboard can be hung from the Trolibocs handle using its 

Velcro strap, so it doesn’t have to be lifted.  If it just contains cardboard, your blue 

sack should not be very heavy. The strap also prevents it from blowing away in high 

winds if you have nothing else to secure it with.  

For households that currently use single-use sacks which will be replaced with a re-

useable black gull-proof sack for their non-recyclable waste, these will have handles 

and additional grab handles on the bottom for extra support and will help our 

collection crews to empty their contents safely into our waste collection vehicles. 

  

There is no doubt the crews will have to work a little harder to help us collect your 

recycling once the new service is rolled out, so we’re increasing the number of 

operational staff to help load and empty all the different compartments.  

 

Our collection crews will be trained thoroughly in manual handling techniques and 

will be monitored to make sure they’re following safe practices.   

The new containers are designed to “rest” on a lip on our collection vehicles whilst 

they’re being emptied, to reduce any load-bearing weights. 

B8: What about bad smells? 

Using your lockable food waste caddy for any food waste and putting it out for 
collection every week will help avoid your waste from smelling badly. 

If anyone in your household uses nappies or incontinence products, you will be able 
to subscribe to a free fortnightly Absorbent Hygiene Product (AHP) collection service 
(add link).  

Bagging any animal waste and putting it inside your bag or bin for non-recyclable 
waste will minimise the risk of smells. It is important to tie the poo bag securely. 

Some residents living with a cat or dog may be concerned their black bag or bin will 
smell badly if animal faeces are left in there for up to four weeks between collections.  
We recommend you place all animal faeces in a tightly closed bag, then place this 
inside your bag or bin.  

Some residents further reduce any smells by storing bagged faeces inside a 
separate container, such as a carrier bag, storage box, bucket or caddy-type 
container, then empty them into their black bag or black bin just before it’s put out on 

Page 122

https://www.pembrokeshire.gov.uk/absorbent-hygiene-products


their collection day.  Smaller containers are easier to clean out between emptying 
too and are easier to store in a cool place in summer months, away from direct 
sunlight.   

We will not accept animal waste in the new Absorbent Hygiene Product (AHP) 
collection service for nappies and incontinence products. 

 

A6: Why are my waste collections being reduced? 

We are not reducing your waste and recycling collection service. We are expecting 
you to create the same amount of waste at the kerbside for collection, but asking 
you to present it in a different way.  

As we are increasing your recycling collections to every week, overall, you will have 
much more capacity on the new scheme. In fact, a typical household will have a 
recycling capacity increase of 170 litres every week, with only a reduction of 10-
litres in your non-recyclable waste capacity, the reduction is only about half a carrier 
bag full! 

This service change aims to encourage people to recycle as much as possible and 
only use their non-recyclable waste container for items that cannot be recycled.  The 
new service does require many households to take extra care to ensure their waste 
is segregated to make sure all non-recyclable waste can be contained in their black 
bin or gull-proof sacks, as we do not collect ‘side waste’. All waste must be contained 
within your Denbighshire container. Over 75% of the waste presented at the kerbside 
in Denbighshire will be recycled through the introduction of this new service. In 
addition, a new free collection service will be available to most households producing 
nappy or incontinence waste.   

Our service change follows the Welsh Recycling Blueprint. Other areas that have 
moved to a similar service are already meeting the 2024/25 recycling target of 70%, 
proving that increasing the number of collections for recycling, and reducing how 
often the black bin is collected actually encourages people recycle to more.  

 

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



Waste Service Remodelling – Financial Update 

Financial Position – November 2021: 

Latest Budget Position – November 2021 

Estimates: £000 Note 

Central Depot 9,649 

Highways Depot 1,100 

Vehicles 2,819 

Containers inc. delivery 3,060 

Communication 250 

Staff/HR/Training/Rollout support 500 

Routing 100 

Project Management 270 

Latest Estimated Scheme Cost 17,748 

Funding: £000 

Welsh Government Grants 9,544 Service Change, AHP, Transfer Station Development, EVCI 

DCC Reserve 1,000 

DCC Revenue Contribution 78 2018-19 

Highways Depot 1,100 DCC Prudential Borrowing - £63k budget requirement 

DCC Prudential Borrowing 6,026 Prudential Borrowing - £343k budget requirement 

Total Funding 17,748 

Appendix VIII

P
age 125



 
 

Service Costs - Waste Service Only DCC WRAP DCC Finance calculated; WRAP modelled. Figures checked May 2020 
 

 
Baseline (current service) 

 

 
6,243 

 

 
6,674 

 
Main difference around Fleet costs - approx. half current Fleet not on PB - WRAP have 
assumed all on PB 

New Waste Model 5,316 5,359  

Prudential Borrowing 343 343 Taken from Funding line above 

Cost Reduction 584 972  

 
NOTES: 

It is anticipated that the UPM gate fee DCC pays for our current baseline comingled recyclable material will continue to increase in price per tonne over 
coming years. From Nov 2020 it is £76 / tonne - this accounted for above. 

DCC Finance calculated baseline service costs, as noted above, include a significant proportion of current waste fleet owned outright (not on Prudential 
Borrowing terms) therefore reducing the DCC Finance calculated current baseline costs when compared to the baseline costs modelled by WRAP which 
assumes all waste fleet is funded via Prudential Borrowing. Moving forwards, regardless of the proposed service change, fleet costs will move to a 
position similar to the WRAP modelled baseline fleet costs therefore the respective difference between the baseline costs of the current service and the 
projected costs of the new service model and resultant cost reduction differential will more closely reflect the WRAP anticipated figure. 

 

The above budget has a Risk / Contingency sum of c. £2M which will be used to address anticipated cost pressures on new Fleet costs, Depot 
construction costs and new Container costs as a result of price pressures and inflation in the market which has risen significantly in recent months. The 
scale of these cost pressures will be firmed up in the first few months of 2022 once the new Fleet Tender and Phase 2 Depot Construction Tender are 
returned and updates on position provided. 
 
 

 
 

P
age 126



 

Report to Communities Scrutiny Committee 

Date of meeting 9 December 2021 

Lead Officer Rhian Evans, Scrutiny Co-ordinator 

Report author Rhian Evans, Scrutiny Co-ordinator  

Title Scrutiny Work Programme 

1. What is the report about? 

The report seeks Communities Scrutiny Committee to review its draft forward work   

programme.   In doing so the Committee is asked to reflect on the implications of the focus 

on business critical operations during the emergency phase of the COVID -19 pandemic 

and the programmes of work underway or being planned under the recovery phase, whilst 

also having regard to items of business already on its forward work programme prior to the 

pandemic. 

2. What is the reason for making this report? 

To seek the Committee to review and agree on its programme of future work, and to 

update members on relevant issues. 

3. What are the Recommendations? 

That the Committee  

3.1  considers the information provided and approves, revises or amends its forward 

work programme as it deems appropriate; and 

3.2 determines whether any key messages or themes from the current meeting should 

be publicised via the press and/or social media. 

Page 127

Agenda Item 7



 
 

4. Report details 

4.1 Section 7 of Denbighshire County Council’s Constitution sets out each Scrutiny 

Committee’s terms of reference, functions and membership, as well as the rules of 

procedure and debate.   

 

4.2 The Constitution stipulates that the Council’s scrutiny committees must set, and 

regularly review, a programme for their future work.  By reviewing and prioritising 

issues, members are able to ensure that the work programme delivers a member-

led agenda. 

 

4.3 For a number of years it has been an adopted practice in Denbighshire for scrutiny 

committees to limit the number of reports considered at any one meeting to a 

maximum of four plus the Committee’s own work programme report.  The aim of 

this approach is to facilitate detailed and effective debate on each topic. 

 

4.4 In recent years the Welsh Government (WG) and Audit Wales (AW) have 

highlighted the need to strengthen scrutiny’s role across local government and 

public services in Wales, including utilising scrutiny as a means of engaging with 

residents and service-users.  From now on scrutiny will be expected to engage 

better and more frequently with the public with a view to securing better decisions 

which ultimately lead to better outcomes for citizens.  AW will measure scrutiny’s 

effectiveness in fulfilling these expectations. 

 

4.5 Having regard to the national vision for scrutiny whilst at the same time focussing 

on local priorities, the Scrutiny Chairs and Vice-Chairs Group (SCVCG) 

recommended that the Council’s scrutiny committees should, when deciding on 

their work programmes, focus on the following key areas: 

 

 budget savings; 

 achievement of the Corporate Plan objectives (with particular emphasis on 

their deliverability during a period of financial austerity);  

 any other items agreed by the Scrutiny Committee (or the SCVCG) as high 

priority (based on the PAPER test criteria – see reverse side of the ‘Member 

Proposal Form’ at Appendix 2); 

Page 128



 
 

 Urgent, unforeseen or high priority issues; and 

 Supporting the Council’s recovery work in relation to the effects of the 

COVID-19 crisis on Council services, the local economy and the county’s 

communities 

 

4.6  Scrutiny Proposal Forms 

 As mentioned in paragraph 4.2 above the Council’s Constitution requires scrutiny 

committees to prepare and keep under review a programme for their future work.  

To assist the process of prioritising reports, if officers are of the view that a subject 

merits time for discussion on the Committee’s business agenda they have to 

formally request the Committee to consider receiving a report on that topic.  This is 

done via the submission of a ‘proposal form’ which clarifies the purpose, importance 

and potential outcomes of suggested subjects.  No officer proposal forms have 

been received for consideration at the current meeting. 

 

4.7 With a view to making better use of scrutiny’s time by focussing committees’ 

resources on detailed examination of subjects, adding value through the decision-

making process and securing better outcomes for residents, the SCVCG decided 

that members, as well as officers, should complete ‘scrutiny proposal forms’ 

outlining the reasons why they think a particular subject would benefit from 

scrutiny’s input.  A copy of the ‘member’s proposal form’ can be seen at Appendix 

2.  The reverse side of this form contains a flowchart listing questions which 

members should consider when proposing an item for scrutiny, and which 

committees should ask when determining a topic’s suitability for inclusion on a 

scrutiny forward work programme.  If, having followed this process, a topic is not 

deemed suitable for formal examination by a scrutiny committee, alternative 

channels for sharing the information or examining the matter can be considered e.g. 

the provision of an ‘information report’, or if the matter is of a very local nature 

examination by the relevant Member Area Group (MAG).  No items should be 

included on a forward work programme without a ‘scrutiny proposal form’ being 

completed and accepted for inclusion by the Committee or the SCVCG.  Assistance 

with their completion is available from the Scrutiny Co-ordinator.  

 

  

  

Page 129



 
 

   

 
 Cabinet Forward Work Programme 

4.8 When determining their programme of future work it is useful for scrutiny 

committees to have regard to Cabinet’s scheduled programme of work.  For this 

purpose, a copy of the Cabinet’s forward work programme is attached at Appendix 

3.  

Progress on Committee Resolutions  

4.9 A table summarising recent Committee resolutions and advising members on 

progress with their implementation is attached at Appendix 4 to this report.   

5. Scrutiny Chairs and Vice-Chairs Group 

5.1 Under the Council’s scrutiny arrangements, the Scrutiny Chairs and Vice-Chairs 

Group (SCVCG) performs the role of a coordinating committee.  The Group met on 

25 November 2021.  No topics were referred from the Group to this Committee for 

consideration.  The Group’s scheduled to hold its next meeting on the 20 January 

2022. 

5.2 At the above meeting the SCVCG discussed the feasibility of holding scrutiny 

committee meetings during the pre-local authority election period, from circa mid-

March 2022 onwards.  It was decided only to hold scrutiny committee meetings if 

urgent business, that could not be delayed of deferred, necessitated a meeting to 

be held. 

6. How does the decision contribute to the Corporate 

Priorities? 

Effective scrutiny will assist the Council to deliver its corporate priorities in line with 

community needs and residents’ wishes.  Continual development and review of a 

coordinated work programme will assist the Council to deliver its corporate 

priorities, improve outcomes for residents whilst also managing austere budget and 

resource pressures. 

Page 130



 
 

7. What will it cost and how will it affect other services? 

Services may need to allocate officer time to assist the Committee with the activities 

identified in the forward work programme, and with any actions that may result 

following consideration of those items. 

8. What are the main conclusions of the Well-being Impact 

Assessment?  

A Well-being Impact Assessment has not been undertaken in relation to the 

purpose or contents of this report.  However, Scrutiny through it work in examining 

service delivery, policies, procedures and proposals will consider their impact or 

potential impact on the sustainable development principle and the well-being goals 

stipulated in the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

9. What consultations have been carried out with Scrutiny 

and others? 

None required for this report.  However, the report itself and the consideration of the 

forward work programme represent a consultation process with the Committee with 

respect to its programme of future work. 

10. What risks are there and is there anything we can do to 

reduce them? 

No risks have been identified with respect to the consideration of the Committee’s 

forward work programme.  However, by regularly reviewing its forward work 

programme the Committee can ensure that areas of risk are considered and 

examined as and when they are identified, and recommendations are made with a 

view to addressing those risks. 

11. Power to make the decision 

11.1 Section 21 of the Local Government Act 2000. 

Page 131



 
 

11.2 Section 7.11 of the Council’s Constitution stipulates that scrutiny committees and/or 

the Scrutiny Chairs and Vice-Chairs Group will be responsible for setting their own 

work programmes, taking into account the wishes of Members of the Committee 

who are not members of the largest political group on the Council. 

 

Contact Officer:   

Rhian Evans, Scrutiny Coordinator 

Tel No: (01824) 712554    

e-mail: rhian.evans@denbighshire.gov.uk  

Page 132

mailto:rhian.evans@denbighshire.gov.uk


Appendix 1 
Communities Scrutiny Committee Forward Work Plan 

 1 

Note: Items entered in italics have not been approved for submission by the Committee.  Such reports are listed here for information, pending 
formal approval. 
 

Meeting Lead 
Member(s) 

Item (description / title) Purpose of report Expected Outcomes Author Date Entered 

        

20 January 
2022 

Cllr. Mark 
Young 

1. Planning 
Compliance 
Charter 
 
(may be 
presented 
earlier if other 
items are not 
available (tbc)) 

To examine the 
effectiveness of the 
Planning 
Compliance 
Charter with the 
county’s city, town 
and community 
councils in 
addressing 
planning 
contraventions, 
non-compliance 
and enforcement 
issues across the 
county 

An evaluation of the Charter’s 
effectiveness in order to determine 
whether recommendations are 
required to strengthen the Charter or 
increase resources available for 
planning enforcement across the 
county 

Emlyn 
Jones/Adam 
Turner 

By SCVCG 
October 2020 
(rescheduled 
by Committee 
January 2021 
due to COVID-
19) 

 Leader 2. Rhyl 
Regeneration 
Programme 

To examine the 
effectiveness of the 
Programme 
Board’s work in 
delivering the 
regeneration 
programme 

Identification of any barriers or 
slippages and the formulation of 
recommendations to try and address 
them and sustain the delivery of the 
programme to secure the 
regeneration of Rhyl to benefit the 
economy and the lives of the town’s 
residents and the county in general  

Graham 
Boase/Nicola 
Caie 

January 2021 

 Cllr. Brian 
Jones 

3. Highways 
Maintenance 
Policies for 
Unclassified 
Roads 

To examine the 
Council’s policy for 
maintaining 
unclassified roads 
along with the 
criteria and formula 

To ensure that the county’s 
unclassified roads receive their fair 
share of the funding allocated 
towards highways maintenance as 
the majority of the county’s roads are 
unclassified.  These roads  they are 

Tony Ward/Tim 
Towers 

By SCVCG 
September 
2021 

P
age 133



Appendix 1 
Communities Scrutiny Committee Forward Work Plan 

 2 

Meeting Lead 
Member(s) 

Item (description / title) Purpose of report Expected Outcomes Author Date Entered 

that will be applied 
for allocating and 
spending the 
additional funding 
allocated towards 
highways 
maintenance in the 
county  

key to delivering the Council’s 
connected communities corporate 
priority and support resilience within 
the communities. 

 Cllr. Huw 
Hilditch-
Roberts 

4. Safeguarding 
Welsh place 
names in 
Denbighshire 
(tbc) 

To detail the 
Council’s powers in 
relation to 
safeguarding 
Welsh and 
historical place 
names in the 
county 

A detailed examination of whether the 
Council is fully utilising all its powers 
in relation to safeguarding Welsh and 
historical names in both the natural 
and built environment to ensure that 
Welsh names are not replaced or 
displaced by English names  

Manon 
Celyn/Liz 
Grieve/Alan 
Smith/Emlyn 
Jones/Paul 
Mead/Gary 
Williams/Lisa 
Jones/Tim 
Dillon 

By SCVCG 
July 2021 

        

10 March Leader 
 
  

1. Draft Tourism 
Signage 
Strategy for 
Denbighshire 
(tbc) 

To examine the 
draft Tourism 
Signage Strategy 
for the county 
developed by the 
Working Group 
including potential 
funding sources 
and the anticipated 
timescale for the 
Strategy’s delivery 

The development of a tourism 
signage strategy that complements 
trunk road signage and technological 
innovations in the field of tourism, 
takes into account the aims of ‘The 
Wales Way’ project, attracts visitors 
and increases the value of tourism 
spend in the county in line with the 
corporate priority relating to the 
Environment, and in-keeping with the 
outcomes of Denbighshire’s Tourism 
Strategy 

Mike 
Jones/Peter 
McDermott 

March 2020 
(rescheduled 
due to COVID-
19 (Sept & Dec  
20 & Sept 
2021)) 

 Cllr. Mark 
Young 

2. Mistreatment of 
Dogs 

To examine the 
extent of legal and 
illegal dog sales 

Determination of whether working 
relationships need to be strengthened 
or improved in order to deal with any 

Emlyn 
Jones/Gareth 

By SCVCG 
September 
2021 

P
age 134



Appendix 1 
Communities Scrutiny Committee Forward Work Plan 

 3 

Meeting Lead 
Member(s) 

Item (description / title) Purpose of report Expected Outcomes Author Date Entered 

within 
Denbighshire 
(particularly during 
the COVID-19 
pandemic) – 
including the 
number of 
complaints 
received, 
investigated and 
substantiated and 
how various 
agencies work 
together to tackle 
any problems are 
reported 

problems or deter future problems in 
relation to this matter with a view to 
supporting the viability of properly 
licensed traders to operate thus 
reducing the suffering of the animals  

Roberts/Glesni 
Owen 

 Cllr. Mark 
Young 

3. Second Homes 
and Short-Term 
Holiday Lets 

To examine the 
planning 
requirements in 
relation to these 
types of 
properties/dwelling 

Determination on whether the 
requirements of Planning legislation 
in relation to these types of properties 
are sufficiently robust and are 
effectively applied to ensure that local 
residents are not deprived of the 
availability of affordable properties to 
buy or rent in Denbighshire.  This will 
support the delivery of the Council’s 
Corporate Priority relating to Housing 

Emlyn 
Jones/Paul 
Mead/Angela 
Loftus 

By SCVCG 
September 
2021 

        

30 July        

        

8 
September 

Cllr. Tony 
Thomas 

1. Wildflower 
Meadow Project 

To:  
(i) evaluate the 

effectiveness of 
the steps taken 

(i) To secure the delivery of the 
expected outcomes which will 
support the realisation of the 
Council’s corporate priority 

Tony 
Ward/Emlyn 
Jones/Joel 
Walley 

September 
2021 

P
age 135



Appendix 1 
Communities Scrutiny Committee Forward Work Plan 

 4 

Meeting Lead 
Member(s) 

Item (description / title) Purpose of report Expected Outcomes Author Date Entered 

to improve 
engagement and 
increase publicity 
with all 
stakeholders in 
relation of the 
project;  

(ii) consider the 
progress made 
to  date in 
delivering its 
expected 
benefits; and 

(iii) seek members’ 
support for the 
Project 

relating to the Environment as 
well as contributing towards the 
delivery of its Ecological and 
Climate Change Strategy; and  

(ii) Re-inforce elected members’ 
support for the project and its 
aims and objectives to enable 
them to explain to residents the 
rationale behind the project and 
how it contributes towards the 
wider national environmental, 
health and well-being objectives   

        

20 October        

        

8 
December 

       

        

June/July 
2023 

Cllr. Brian 
Jones 

1. Llangollen Car 
Park Tariff Pilot 
Scheme 

To outline the 
effectiveness of the 
pilot scheme for 
varying car park 
tariffs in Llangollen  

Identification of lessons learnt from 
the pilot scheme’s implementation 
and operation in readiness for the 
introduction of similar schemes in 
other areas in future 

Emlyn 
Jones/Mike 
Jones/Peter 
Lea 

January 2021 

 
 
Future Issues 
 

P
age 136



Appendix 1 
Communities Scrutiny Committee Forward Work Plan 

 5 

Item (description / title) Purpose of report Expected Outcomes Author Date 
Entered 

Flood Risk Management and 
Riparian Land Ownership  
 
(late 2021 tbc) 

To present the findings and conclusions of 
the Task and Finish Group established to 
examine methods of strengthening 
interaction and working relationships 
between public flood risk management 
authorities and riparian landowners 
across the county 

To identify methods and make 
recommendations in relation to 
the provision of clear 
communication channels, building 
levels of mutual trust, and 
strengthening working 
relationships between public flood 
risk flood management authorities, 
riparian landowners and their 
representatives to ensure effective 
management of watercourses with 
a view to reducing the risk of 
flooding in future 

Tony 
Ward/Wayne 
Hope 

December 
2020 

 
 
For future years 
 

 
 
 
 
 

    

 
Information/Consultation Reports 
 

Information / 
Consultation 

Item (description / title) Purpose of report Author(s) Date Entered 

INFORMATION 
(for circulation late 

2021 tbc once COVID-
19 restrictions permit 

the work to take place) 

Community Impact Assessment 
on the communities of Rhewl 
and Llanynys 

To present the findings of the community 
impact assessment undertaken following 
the closure of Ysgol Rhewl as agreed as 
part of the modernising education 
programme 

Geraint Davies/James Curran December 
2020 

 

P
age 137



Appendix 1 
Communities Scrutiny Committee Forward Work Plan 

 6 

Note for officers – Committee Report Deadlines 
 

Meeting Deadline Meeting Deadline Meeting Deadline 

      

20 January 2022 6 January 2022 10 March 24 February 30 July 16 July 

 
29/11/2021 RhE 

P
age 138



 

Appendix 2 

Member Proposal Form for Scrutiny Forward Work Programme 
 

 
NAME OF SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

 

 
TIMESCALE FOR CONSIDERATION 
 

 

 
TOPIC 
 

 

 
What needs to be scrutinised (and why)? 
 

 
 
 

 
Is the matter one of concern to 
residents/local businesses? 
 

 
YES/NO 

 
Can Scrutiny influence and change 
things?  
(if ‘yes’ please state how you think scrutiny 
can influence or change things) 
 

 
YES/NO 

 
 
 

 
Does the matter relate to an 
underperforming service or area? 
 

 
YES/NO 

 
Does the matter affect a large number of 
residents or a large geographical area of 
the County  
(if ‘yes’ please give an indication of the size 
of the affected group or area) 
 

 
YES/NO 

 
 
 

Is the matter linked to the Council’s 
Corporate priorities 
(if ‘yes’ please state which priority/priorities) 
 

 
YES/NO 

 

To your knowledge is anyone else 
looking at this matter? 
(If ‘yes’, please say who is looking at it) 
 

 
YES/NO 

 

If the topic is accepted for scrutiny who 
would you want to invite to attend e.g. 
Lead Member, officers, external experts, 
service-users? 

 

 
Name of Councillor/Co-opted Member 
 

 

 
Date 

 

Page 139



 

Consideration of a topic’s suitability for scrutiny 

 

Does it stand up to the PAPER test? 

 

 

 

 

 

NO  (no further action or information report) 

 

 

Proposal Form/Request received 

(careful consideration given to reasons for request) 

Does it stand up to the PAPER test? 

 Public interest – is the matter of concern to residents? 

 Ability to have an impact – can Scrutiny influence and change 

things? 

 Performance – is it an underperforming area or service? 

 Extent – does it affect a large number of residents or a large 

geographic area? 

 Replication – is anyone else looking at it? 

 

No further action required by 

scrutiny committee.  Refer 

elsewhere or request 

information report?   

 Determine the desired outcome(s) 

 Decide on the scope and extent of the scrutiny work required and the most 

appropriate method to undertake it (i.e. committee report, task and finish group 

inquiry, or link member etc.) 

 If task and finish route chosen, determine the timescale for any inquiry, who will 

be involved, research requirements, expert advice and witnesses required, 

reporting arrangements etc. 

YES 

NO 

Page 140



Appendix 3 
Cabinet Forward Work Plan   

Meeting Item (description / title) Purpose of report Cabinet 
Decision 
required 
(yes/no) 

Author – Lead member and 
contact officer 

 

14 Dec 1 Welsh in Education Strategic 
Plan 

To approve the new Welsh in 
Education Strategic Plan 
before submission to Welsh 
Government. 

Tbc Councillor Huw Hilditch-
Roberts/ Carwyn Edwards 

 2 Proposed Minimum Standard 
for Denbighshire County 
Council New Build and Major 
Extension/Refurbishment 
Construction Projects 

A decision is required on the 
adoption and implementation 
of the proposed minimum 
standard which would 
impose a duty on all Council 
services to ensure all new 
build and major 
extensions/refurbishment 
construction projects are built 
to meet in use and embodied 
carbon targets 

Yes Councillor Brian Jones / 
David Lorey 

 3 Contract Award – 
Redevelopment of the former 
library in Nant Hall Road, 
Prestatyn 

To award the construction 
contract for council housing 
development 

Yes Councillors Tony Thomas & 
Julian Thompson-Hill / Mark 
Dixon 

 4 Levelling Up – Vale of Clwyd 
bid approval 

Bid approval Yes Councillor Hugh Evans / 
Emlyn Jones / Gareth 
Roberts 

 5 Adra, all Wales Framework To seek approval to direct 
award a new materials 

Yes Councillor Tony Thomas 
/ Mark Cassidy 

P
age 141



Appendix 3 
Cabinet Forward Work Plan   

Meeting Item (description / title) Purpose of report Cabinet 
Decision 
required 
(yes/no) 

Author – Lead member and 
contact officer 

supplier for housing 
maintenance 

 6 Gypsy and Traveller 
Accommodation Assessment 

To seek approval to submit 
the new Gypsy and Traveller 
Accommodation Assessment 
(2021) for Denbighshire to 
WG in line with legislative 
requirements 

yes Councillor Mark Young / 
Emlyn Jones / Kim Waller / 
Angela Loftus 

 7 Establishing the North Wales 
Regional Corporate Joint 
Committee (CJC) 

To consider a report on 
establishing the region’s 
Corporate Joint Committee 

Tbc Councillor Hugh Evans / 
Graham Boase / Gary 
Williams 

 8 Finance Report To update Cabinet on the 
current financial position of 
the Council 

Tbc Councillor Julian Thompson-
Hill / Steve Gadd 

 9 Items from Scrutiny Committees To consider any issues 
raised by Scrutiny for 
Cabinet’s attention 

Tbc Scrutiny Coordinator 

 

18 Jan 1 Central Rhyl Flood Defence 
Scheme 

To recommend that Council 
agree the funding for the 
schemes and permit the 
service to proceed to the 
construction phase 

Tbc Councillor Brian Jones / Tony 
Ward / Wayne Hope / 
Matthew Hazlewood / Helen 
Johnson 

 2 Prestatyn Flood Defence 
Scheme 

To recommend that Council 
agree the funding for the 

Tbc Councillor Brian Jones / Tony 
Ward / Wayne Hope / 

P
age 142



Appendix 3 
Cabinet Forward Work Plan   

Meeting Item (description / title) Purpose of report Cabinet 
Decision 
required 
(yes/no) 

Author – Lead member and 
contact officer 

schemes and permit the 
service to proceed to the 
construction phase 

Matthew Hazlewood / Helen 
Johnson 

 3 Contract Award approval for 
new Waste Fleet to support new 
Waste Service Model 

To award the contract for the 
new Waste Fleet 

Yes Councillor Brian Jones / Tony 
Ward / Peter Clayton 

 4 Budget Proposals 2022/23 To consider a report setting 
out budget proposals for 
2022/23 

Tbc Councillor Julian Thompson-
Hill / Steve Gadd 

 5 Civica Options Report To review the proposed 
options paper for the delivery 
of Revenue and Benefit 
services 

Yes Councillor Julian Thompson-
Hill / Debbie Basham / Paul 
Barnes / Steve Gadd 

 6 Finance Report To update Cabinet on the 
current financial position of 
the Council 

Tbc Councillor Julian Thompson-
Hill / Steve Gadd 

 7 Items from Scrutiny Committees To consider any issues 
raised by Scrutiny for 
Cabinet’s attention 

Tbc Scrutiny Coordinator 

 

15 Feb 1 Regional Memory Assessment 
Service Invitation Tender 

To seek final approval of the 
tender award 

Yes Councillor Bobby Feeley / 
Catrin Roberts / Catrin Perry 

 2 Queens Market Phase 1 – 
award construction contract 

To seek approval to award a 
contract for the delivery of 
Phase 1 of the Queens 

Yes Councillor Hugh Evans / 
Russell Vaughan 

P
age 143



Appendix 3 
Cabinet Forward Work Plan   

Meeting Item (description / title) Purpose of report Cabinet 
Decision 
required 
(yes/no) 

Author – Lead member and 
contact officer 

Building Rhyl 

 3 Contract Award - Renovation of 
terraced houses at 2-16 
Aquarium Street in Rhyl 

To award a construction 
contract for housing 
development 

Yes Councillors Tony Thomas and 
Julian Thompson-Hill / Mark 
Dixon 

 4 Finance Report To update Cabinet on the 
current financial position of 
the Council 

Tbc Councillor Julian Thompson-
Hill / Steve Gadd 

 5 Items from Scrutiny Committees To consider any issues 
raised by Scrutiny for 
Cabinet’s attention 

Tbc Scrutiny Coordinator 

 

22 March 1 Contract Award approval for 
Phase 2 Construction Works – 
DCC Waste Transfer Station to 
support new Waste Service 
Model 

To award the contract for 
Phase 2 construction works 

Yes Councillor Brian Jones / Tony 
Ward / Peter Clayton 

 2 Finance Report To update Cabinet on the 
current financial position of 
the Council 

Tbc Councillor Julian Thompson-
Hill / Steve Gadd 

 3 Items from Scrutiny Committees To consider any issues 
raised by Scrutiny for 
Cabinet’s attention 

Tbc Scrutiny Coordinator 

 

26 April 1 Finance Report To update Cabinet on the 
current financial position of 

Tbc Councillor Julian Thompson-
Hill / Steve Gadd 

P
age 144



Appendix 3 
Cabinet Forward Work Plan   

Meeting Item (description / title) Purpose of report Cabinet 
Decision 
required 
(yes/no) 

Author – Lead member and 
contact officer 

the Council 

 2 Items from Scrutiny Committees To consider any issues 
raised by Scrutiny for 
Cabinet’s attention 

Tbc Scrutiny Coordinator 

      

 

Note for officers – Cabinet Report Deadlines 
 

Meeting Deadline Meeting Deadline Meeting Deadline 

      

December 30 November January 4 January February 1 February 
 
Updated 29/11/2021 - KEJ 
 
Cabinet Forward Work Programme.doc 

P
age 145



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 4 
Progress with Committee Resolutions 

 

Date of Meeting Item number and title Resolution  Progress 

21 October 2021 5.  Section 19 Flood 
Investigation Report 
into the Flood Event 
on 20th January 2021 

RESOLVED: to –  
(i) receive the findings and conclusions of the 

Section 19 January 2021 Flood Investigation 
Report; and  

(ii) to note the assurances given by Natural 
Resources Wales that the recommendations 
identified in its flood investigation reports 
would be carried out 

Lead Member, Officers and 
Natural Resources Wales 
(NRW) advised of the 
Committee’s recommendations 

 6. Flood Risk 
Management 
Responsibilities in 
Relation to the Rhyl 
Cut and Prestatyn 
Gutter  

RESOLVED subject to the above observations to: 
(i) receive the contents of the report, 

appendices and presentation; and  
(ii) seek Denbighshire County Council officers 

to establish whether the Council itself was 
a riparian landowner for any part the Rhyl 
Cut or the Prestatyn Gutter. 

 

Lead Member, Officers and 
Natural Resources Wales 
(NRW) advised of the 
Committee’s recommendations.  
The information on the 
Council’s riparian land 
ownership in the Rhyl Cut and 
Prestatyn Gutter areas was 
included in the Information Brief 
document circulated to 
Committee members under 
separate cover. 

 

P
age 147



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to Communities Scrutiny Committee  

Date of meeting 9th December 2021  

Lead Member / Officer Councillor Mark Young – Lead Member for Planning, Public 

Protection, Safer Communities and Domestic Abuse       

Cllr Barry Mellor - Chair – Gypsy and Traveller 

Accommodation Assessment Task and Finish Group                   

Report authors Angela Loftus (Strategic Planning & Housing Manager) & 

Kim Waller (Lead Project Manager) 

Title Denbighshire’s Gypsy & Traveller Accommodation 

Assessment (2021) – report back to Scrutiny from the Task 

& Finish Group 

1. What is the report about? 

1.1. The Housing (Wales) Act 2014 requires that an assessment of accommodation needs 

of Gypsies and Travellers must be undertaken and submitted to Welsh Government 

every 5 years.  The Council is now required to undertake and submit a new 

assessment, as the existing assessment was approved in 2017. Following a report to 

Scrutiny Committee on 13th May 2021, a Task and Finish Group was established to 

support work on the new assessment. The Task and Finish Group has now concluded 

its work and the final report from the Group is attached as Appendix 1. This report 

provides the conclusions from the work of the Task and Finish Group. 

1.2. This report also presents the draft Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment 

(GTAA) for Denbighshire (attached as Appendix 2). 

2. What is the reason for making this report? 

2.1. The purpose of this report is to update Scrutiny Committee on the work of the Task 

and Finish Group. Work on the GTAA has now been completed and the conclusions 

of the Task and Finish Group will help to inform Scrutiny’s consideration of the draft 

GTAA.   Page 149

Agenda Item 9



 
 

3. What are the Recommendations? 

3.1. That Scrutiny endorses the conclusions of the Task and Finish Group that: 

a) Work on the Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment has met the 

requirements of the Work Brief and Stakeholder Communication and Engagement 

Plan endorsed by Scrutiny on 26th July 2021 

b) The Welsh Government methodology has been applied appropriately to the 

analysis of need.   

3.2. That Scrutiny confirms support for the approach adopted for the delivery of 

Denbighshire’s Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment as being robust and 

in line with Welsh Government guidance.   

3.3. That Scrutiny confirms that it has read, understood and taken account of the Well-

being Impact Assessment (Appendix 3) as part of its consideration. 

3.4. That Scrutiny recommends to Cabinet that the draft Gypsy and Traveller 

Accommodation Assessment should be approved for submission to Welsh 

Government. 

4. Report details 

Background 

4.1. The Housing Act (Wales) 2014 places a legal duty on Local Authorities to assess the 

accommodation needs of Gypsies and Travellers (Section 101) and subsequently 

meet those needs (Section 103). There is a legal requirement (Housing (Wales) Act 

2014) for GTAAs to be undertaken as a minimum every 5 years and the Council is now 

required to undertake a new Assessment. An up to date GTAA is also a requirement 

for the replacement Local Development Plan (LDP). The deadline for the GTAA to be 

submitted to Welsh Government is 24th February 2022. 

Page 150



 
 

4.2. Welsh Government have published detailed statutory guidance ‘Undertaking Gypsy 

and Traveller Accommodation Assessments’1. Welsh Government will assess the 

completed GTAA against this methodology.  

4.3. A robust project management approach has been adopted with the establishment of a 

Member-led Project Board, with the Leader and Lead Member working with Senior 

Officers to direct this work ensuring Member involvement, openness and transparency.  

Task and Finish Group  

4.4. Elected Members and Scrutiny Committee had previously raised concerns regarding 

the level of consultation with Gypsy and Traveller communities and the need for early 

engagement with Members. Communities Scrutiny Committee agreed at its meeting 

on 13th May 2021 to establish a Task and Finish Group to provide support to the 

development of the new GTAA. (Terms of Reference are attached to Appendix 1). 

4.5. The purpose of the Group has been to ensure that the approach taken to deliver the 

new GTAA complies with the Welsh Government methodology and that previous 

feedback is taken into account within the document in line with Scrutiny requirements.  

4.6. The Task and Finish Group has met six times. Discussions have included all aspects 

of the Welsh Government methodology. They have reviewed progress on the 

assessment and the findings of the draft GTAA report. Their final report is attached as 

Appendix 1. The Lead Member, Councillor Mark Young has attended meetings as an 

observer at the invitation of the Task and Finish Group.  The company undertaking the 

GTAA on behalf of the Council, Opinion Research Services (ORS) has attended Group 

meetings to meet the members and discuss the methodology. The Group were 

satisfied with the company’s expertise and experience in undertaking GTAAs. 

4.7. At its meeting on 26th July 2021, Communities Scrutiny Committee endorsed the Work 

Brief and the Stakeholder Communication and Engagement Plan (both of which can 

be viewed as Appendices 2 & 3 to business item 4 on that meeting’s agenda) 

developed by the Task and Finish Group to support the delivery of the GTAA in line 

with the Welsh Government methodology. Scrutiny Committee confirmed that it 

                                            

1 https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-03/undertaking-gypsy-and-traveller-accommodation-
assessments.pdf  

Page 151

https://moderngov.denbighshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=271&MId=6424&LLL=0
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-03/undertaking-gypsy-and-traveller-accommodation-assessments.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-03/undertaking-gypsy-and-traveller-accommodation-assessments.pdf


 
 

supported the approach adopted as being robust and in line with Welsh Government 

guidance. With the support of Scrutiny, the GTAA was launched. Work on the 

Assessment was undertaken through August to October 2021.  

4.8. The Work Brief and Stakeholder Communication and Engagement Plan included 

activities to meet the requirements of the WG methodology as well as additional 

activities important to the Council. These have provided the framework for undertaking 

the GTAA. The range of additional activities included an on-line survey for members 

and the involvement of members in promoting the survey – ensuring greater member 

involvement at this early stage. The employment of a Gypsy, Roma, Traveller Liaison 

Officer during August also ensured that travelling families staying in the County during 

the Assessment period were made aware of then Assessment. 

4.9. The Task and Finish Group have reviewed the work undertaken and agreed that they 

were satisfied with the delivery of the Work Brief and Stakeholder Communication and 

Engagement Plan previously endorsed by Communities Scrutiny Committee. 

4.10. The draft GTAA findings and recommendations were presented to the Task and Finish 

Group at its meeting on 15th November and the Group agreed that they were satisfied 

that the WG methodology had been applied appropriately to the analysis of need.   

Draft Denbighshire GTAA  

4.11. A wide range of methods have been used to raise awareness of the GTAA and to 

engage with the Gypsy, Roma, Traveller (GRT) community in line with the Stakeholder 

Communication and Engagement Plan. 

4.12. Fieldwork and data collection for the survey was undertaken by Opinion Research 

Services on behalf of the Council. Gypsy and Traveller households who had been 

identified were interviewed by ORS fieldworkers to assess their needs using the survey 

questionnaire provided within the WG methodology. Work on the Assessment has now 

been completed and the draft GTAA is attached as Appendix 2 (Appendix D to 

Appendix 2 is excluded from publication by virtue of Paragraphs 12 and 13 of Part 4 of 

Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act, 1972.) 

4.13. The draft Denbighshire GTAA concludes that: 

Page 152



 
 

 There is a need for 8 residential pitches to meet the identified needs of 3 

households/ extended family groups in the County. 

 There is no evidence of need for a permanent transit site, due to the low 

numbers of unauthorised encampments, short term nature of these 

encampments and the fact that interviews with Gypsies and Travellers did not 

identify there was a need for permanent transit provision locally. It is 

recommended that the management based approach currently applied to 

unauthorised encampments could be further developed based on best practice 

from across the UK, which may include ‘negotiated stopping’. 

 Future household growth is predicted to be 4 additional households from 2026 

- 2033 

4.14. Discussions at this meeting will be reported to Cabinet on 14th December and the 

intention is to seek approval at that meeting for submission of the draft GTAA to Welsh 

Government for its approval.  

5. How does the decision contribute to the Corporate 
Priorities? 

Completion of the GTAA will contribute to the Corporate priority: Housing by identifying 

the accommodation needs of the Gypsy and Traveller community.  

6. What will it cost and how will it affect other services? 

Consultants have been procured jointly with Conwy County Borough Council (CCBC) 

to undertake a GTAA for each County. The DCC commitment of £5.5k will be met from 

the LDP budget.   

7. What are the main conclusions of the Well-being Impact 
Assessment? 

A Well-being Impact Assessment has been carried out for the project and is attached 

as Appendix 3. This concludes that the overall impact is positive.  

 

8. What consultations have been carried out with Scrutiny and 

others? 

Page 153



 
 

The Task and Finish Group established by this Committee has met six times and 

discussions informed the development of the Stakeholder Communication and 

Engagement Plan presented to Communities Scrutiny Committee on 26/7/21.  

9. Chief Finance Officer Statement 

As set out in Section 6 there are no direct costs related to the work of the Task and 

Finish Group and it is welcome that the initial costs of consultants have been taken 

account of within existing budgets.  

10. What risks are there and is there anything we can do to 
reduce them? 

A number of risks to the project have been identified and have been included in the full 

project business case risk assessment.  A lack of political support has been identified 

as a significant risk which has led to the engagement of the Leader and Lead Member 

in the project from the start. The establishment of the Task and Finish Group and 

reports to Scrutiny aimed to ensure wider Member involvement in the project.   

11. Power to make the decision 

Section 101 - Housing (Wales) Act 2014  

Section 21 of the Local Government Act 2000.  

Section 7.4.1 and Section 7.4.2 (d) of the Council’s Constitution.  

Page 154



Appendix 1 

Dat 

 

Gypsy & Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) 
Task and Finish Group Report November 2021 

Purpose of the Group  

The Housing Act (Wales) 2014 places a legal duty on Local Authorities to assess the 

accommodation needs of Gypsies and Travellers (Section 101) and subsequently meet 

those needs (Section 103). There is a legal requirement (Housing (Wales) Act 2014) for 

GTAAs to be undertaken as a minimum every 5 years and the Council is now required to 

complete and submit a new Assessment.  The deadline for the GTAA to be submitted to 

Welsh Government is 24th February 2022. An up to date GTAA is also a requirement for 

the Replacement LDP and must stand up to scrutiny from the Independent Planning 

Inspector. 

Following a report to Scrutiny Committee on 13th May 2021, a Task and Finish Group was 

established to support work on the new assessment. The agreed Terms of Reference for 

the Group are attached as Attachment 1. This report provides an update on the work of the 

Task and Finish Group and presents the findings and recommendations of the Task and 

Finish Group. 

Welsh Government have published detailed statutory guidance ‘Undertaking Gypsy and 

Traveller Accommodation Assessments’.1 This forms the basis for undertaking the GTAA 

and Welsh Government will assess the completed GTAA against this methodology. 

The purpose of the Group has been to provide quality assurance by ensuring that the 

approach taken to deliver the new GTAA has complied with the Welsh Government 

methodology and that previous feedback has been taken into account within the new 

                                            

1 https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-03/undertaking-gypsy-and-traveller-accommodation-
assessments.pdf 
 

Page 155



 

 2 

Gypsy & Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA)                
Task and Finish Group Report (November 2021) 

document in line with Scrutiny requirements. In addition, the Group has monitored progress 

and advised as necessary on the delivery of the Assessment. 

GTAA Project structure and management 

The WG GTAA methodology requires that a project Steering Group is established. There 

has been a more comprehensive and robust project structure developed for managing the 

Denbighshire GTAA, including establishment of a member-led Project Board and a Task 

and Finish Group.  This is above the requirements set out within the methodology and has 

included a role for elected members within the project structure through a Task and Finish 

Group. 

The Project Structure is illustrated in the Work Brief endorsed by Communities Scrutiny 

Committee at its meeting on 26th July 2021 (which can be viewed as Appendix 2 to business 

item 4 on that meeting’s agenda)  and comprised the following key groups. 

Project Board – This is a project management requirement and is a not a requirement of 

the WG GTAA methodology.  A Project Management Board was established with the 

purpose of ensuring that this piece of work is Member-led through inclusion of the Leader 

of the Council and the Lead Member. 

The role of the Project Board has been to manage the delivery of the project, secure 

resources for the project, and ensure communication about the project.  

Task and Finish Group – This is not a requirement of the WG GTAA methodology.  The 

role of the Task and Finish Group as defined in the agreed Terms of Reference has been to 

monitor adherence to the methodology, advise on the development of the Stakeholder 

Communication and Engagement Plan and Work Brief and report to Communities Scrutiny 

Committee.  

GTAA Steering Group – There is a requirement as set out within the WG GTAA 

methodology that a Steering Group should be established.  The methodology sets out the 

role and membership of the Steering Group. The focus of this Group is to provide operational 

support to those undertaking the study. 

Page 156

https://moderngov.denbighshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=271&MId=6424&LLL=0
https://moderngov.denbighshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=271&MId=6424&LLL=0


 

 3 

Gypsy & Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA)                
Task and Finish Group Report (November 2021) 

The role of the Steering Group as set out in the WG methodology is to confirm details of the 

commission with the researcher, publicise the study, provide local knowledge and cultural 

guidance, provide feedback to consultation participants and stakeholders, ensure results 

are taken seriously and acted on. The GTAA Steering Group should endeavour to include 

Gypsy and Traveller representatives on the Group to represent the views and interests of 

the Gypsy and Traveller community. It was proposed that an advisory group of Gypsy and 

Traveller community representatives could provide input to the project. Recruitment to this 

has been challenging and Travelling Ahead have liaised with members of the Gypsy and 

Traveller community to seek support and input. 

It is not the role of the Steering Group to undertake the assessment or scrutinise the data 

or study conclusions.  

Consultants 

The WG methodology allows for external consultants to be engaged to undertake the 

Accommodation Needs Assessment. Opinion Research Services (ORS) were 

commissioned to undertake the assessment on behalf of Denbighshire County Council and 

Conwy County Borough Council. Separate reports have been developed for each authority. 

Membership of the Task and Finish Group 

The Group comprises one elected Member appointed by each of the Council’s Member Area 

Groups, to ensure geographic spread. The Group has been chaired by Councillor Barry 

Mellor and has been supported by the Corporate Director Economy and Public Realm, Head 

of Planning, Public Protection and Countryside Services, Service representatives and the 

Corporate Project Manager. The Lead Member, Councillor Mark Young has attended 

meetings as an observer at the invitation of the Task and Finish Group.  The company 

undertaking the GTAA on behalf of the Council, Opinion Research Services (ORS) has also 

attended Group meetings to meet the members and outline the methodology and answer 

any questions raised. The Task and Finish Group has met six times and discussions have 

included all aspects of the Welsh Government methodology, project structure, data sources, 

engagement and communications, data analysis and draft GTAA findings. 

A summary of the issues discussed at each Task and Finish Group meeting is set out below:  

Page 157



 

 4 

Gypsy & Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA)                
Task and Finish Group Report (November 2021) 

Summary of Task and Finish Group meetings  

Meeting 1 

19th May 2021 

 

• Reviewed and agreed Terms of Reference for the Group 

• Agreed to invite Lead Member, Cllr Mark Young to all Group Meetings 

• Reviewed background and statutory requirements 

• Reviewed and agreed Project Structure and management 

• Discussed timetable for GTAA and future Task & Finish Group 

meetings 

Meeting 2 

11th June 2021 

• Introduction to Opinion Research Services (ORS), consultants 

undertaking the GTAA on behalf of the Council and met ORS Project 

Lead 

• Reviewed WG GTAA methodology, including data assessment, 

publicity and engagement, conducting the assessment and 

calculating need 

Meeting 3 

24th June 2021 

• Reviewed the project approach and agreed that they did not require 

any further information on the consultant 

• Agreed they were satisfied that project structure meets the 

requirements of the WG methodology 

• Received information on the new post of Gypsy, Roma, Traveller 

Liaison Officer 

• Discussed and understood the definition of Gypsies and Travellers 

for the purpose of the GTAA 

• Discussed how the assessment would be undertaken and the WG 

questionnaire to be used for the survey 

• Discussed engagement and communications to raise awareness of 

the GTAA. The WG methodology includes an engagement checklist  

to be followed as a minimum. Suggested additional engagement 

Page 158



 

 5 

Gypsy & Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA)                
Task and Finish Group Report (November 2021) 

activities to be included in a draft Stakeholder Communication and 

Engagement Plan. Discussed ideas around ways to support the 

development of better relations between the Gypsy and Traveller 

community and the Settled community 

Meeting 4 

5th July 2021 

• Reviewed and agreed draft GTAA Work Brief and proposed timeline 

• Reviewed and agreed draft Stakeholder Communication and 

Engagement Plan, developed with the support of DCC officers and 

members, Travelling Ahead (Gypsy and Traveller Advocacy 

Organisation), BCUHB, North Wales Police and the Task & Finish 

Group 

• Reviewed and agreed draft report to Communities Scrutiny (meeting 

26th July 2021), providing an update of the work of the Task & Finish 

Group, seeking Scrutiny endorsement of the Work Brief & 

Stakeholder Communication and Engagement Plan, and agreement 

to start the Assessment process. 

• Agreed the Group would attend Scrutiny with Chair Cllr Barry Mellor 

presenting the report. 

Meeting 5 

15th 

September 

2021 

 

• Report back from Scrutiny that Communities Scrutiny endorsed the 

Work Brief and the Stakeholder Communication and Engagement 

plan, supported the start of Assessment process and thanked the 

members of the Task & Finish group for their hard work. 

• Discussed interim progress report, with good progress reported and 

work still on-going. 

• Reviewed tasks agreed within the Work Brief and GTAA Stakeholder 

Communication and Engagement Plan to ensure compliance with 

WG methodology 

• Considered any gaps or challenges in complying with the WG 

methodology and identified any suitable actions  

Page 159



 

 6 

Gypsy & Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA)                
Task and Finish Group Report (November 2021) 

• Received a progress update from ORS on data captured to date 

Meeting 6 

15th November 

2021 

• Reviewed and agreed they were satisfied with the delivery of the 

Work Brief and GTAA Stakeholder Communication and Engagement 

Plan. 

• Discussed challenges:  

• Interviews - Due to the on-going pandemic ORS have offered 

face to face interviews but the preference of participants has 

been for telephone interviews.  ORS have followed the market 

research Code of Practice and used the Welsh Government 

GTAA survey. 

• Engaging with the Travelling community - Despite the GRT 

Liaison Officer actively promoting the assessment at 

unauthorised encampments there has been no contact from 

travelling families to participate in the GTAA process. 

• Received overview of the engagement and promotion undertaken to 

promote the GTAA, a summary of the desk based examination of 

existing data undertaken by ORS and the results of the on-line 

member survey, completed by County Councillors, City, Town & 

Community Councillors. 

• Received summary GTAA analysis and findings for residential and 

transit needs. Agreed they were satisfied that the Welsh Government 

methodology has been applied appropriately to the analysis of need. 

• Noted the lack of engagement from the travelling community around 

transit provision but concluded that Denbighshire County Council and 

ORS had done everything they could have done and gone above and 

beyond the methodology requirements to promote the assessment.  

• Comments from the Task & Finish Group will inform a report to 

Communities Scrutiny Committee on 9th December 2021, presented 

by the Chair of the Task & Finish Group, Cllr Barry Mellor. Agreed 

Page 160



 

 7 

Gypsy & Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA)                
Task and Finish Group Report (November 2021) 

Members of the Task & Finish Group could attend Community 

Scrutiny Committee meeting. 

 

Delivery of GTAA Work Brief & Stakeholder Communication and 
Engagement Plan 

The Welsh Government guidance ‘Undertaking Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation 

Assessments’ sets out clear stages and tasks to be followed when undertaking a GTAA. 

This formed the basis for the Work Brief & Stakeholder Communication and Engagement 

Plan developed by the Task and Finish Group to support the delivery of the Gypsy and 

Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) in line with the Welsh Government 

methodology. Input from discussions and recommendations from the Task and Finish Group 

were also incorporated into these documents.  

The Task and Finish Group presented the draft Work Brief and the draft Stakeholder 

Communication and Engagement Plan to Communities Scrutiny Committee on 26th July 

2021 and Scrutiny endorsed both documents at this meeting (both of which can be viewed 

as Appendices 2 & 3 to business item 4 on that meeting’s agenda) Scrutiny Committee 

confirmed that it supported the approach adopted for the delivery of Denbighshire’s Gypsy 

and Traveller Accommodation Assessment as being robust and in line with Welsh 

Government guidance and endorsed the start of the assessment. It was at this stage, with 

the support of Scrutiny, that the GTAA was launched. Work on the Assessment was 

undertaken through August to October 2021. 

The Work Brief and Stakeholder Communication and Engagement Plan included activities 

to meet the requirements of the WG methodology as well as additional activities important 

to the Council. These have provided the framework for undertaking the GTAA and a 

summary of activities required and work undertaken is set out in Attachment 2. The range 

of additional activities included an on-line survey for members and the involvement of 

members in promoting the survey – ensuring greater member involvement at this early 

stage.  

Page 161

https://moderngov.denbighshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=271&MId=6424&LLL=0


 

 8 

Gypsy & Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA)                
Task and Finish Group Report (November 2021) 

A number of Gypsy and Traveller households resident in the County were identified through 

the process and contacted suggesting that the engagement process has been effective for 

that target group. These households were also asked about their travelling requirements. 

Despite the Council’s Gypsy Roma Traveller Liaison Officer actively promoting the 

assessment at unauthorised encampments there has been no contact from travelling 

families to participate in the GTAA process.  It has been possible to provide additional 

anecdotal information to support the unauthorised encampment data and ORS have used 

information from other areas to inform the GTAA around Transit need. The Task and Finish 

Group noted the lack of engagement from the travelling community around transit provision 

but concluded that Denbighshire County Council and ORS had done everything they could 

have done and gone above and beyond the methodology requirements to promote the 

assessment. This is an area that could be developed through the new Gypsy, Roma, 

Traveller Liaison Officer role in the future. 

The Task and Finish Group reviewed the work undertaken at its meeting on 15th 
November 2021 and agreed that they were satisfied with the delivery of the Work Brief 
and Stakeholder Communication and Engagement Plan previously endorsed by 
Communities Scrutiny Committee. 

Review of GTAA summary findings 

A summary of the GTAA analysis and findings for residential and transit needs were 

presented to the Task and Finish Group at its meeting on 15th November 2021. The findings 

conclude that: 

• There is a need for 8 residential pitches to meet the identified needs of 3 

households/ extended family groups in the County. 

• There is no evidence of need for a permanent transit site, due to the low 

numbers of unauthorised encampments, short term nature of these 

encampments and the fact that interviews with Gypsies and Travellers did not 

identify there was a need for permanent transit provision locally. It is 

recommended that the management based approach currently applied to 

unauthorised encampments could be further developed based on best practice 

from across the UK, which may include ‘negotiated stopping’.  

Page 162



 

 9 

Gypsy & Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA)                
Task and Finish Group Report (November 2021) 

• Future household growth is predicted to be 4 additional households from 2026 

- 2033 

The Group discussed the findings in detail and debated the challenges experienced.  

The Task and Finish Group reviewed the GTAA data analysis and summary findings 
at its meeting on 15th November 2021 and agreed that they were satisfied that the WG 
methodology had been applied appropriately to the analysis of need.   

The Task and Finish Group concluded that the arrangements and process undertaken by 

the Group had worked well and requested that a Task and Finish Group be involved in the 

site selection for pitches, if required, in the future. 

Next steps 

At its meeting on 15th November 2021 the Task & Finish Group requested that comments 

and conclusions from the Group should inform a report to Communities Scrutiny Committee 

on 9th December 2021, presented by the Chair of the Task & Finish Group, Cllr Barry Mellor. 

It was agreed Members of the Task & Finish Group could attend Communities Scrutiny 

Committee meeting. This report summarises the detailed in depth discussions undertaken 

by the Group and presents the key conclusions: 

1. The Task and Finish Group reviewed the work undertaken at its meeting on 
15th November 2021 and agreed that they were satisfied with the delivery of the 
Work Brief and Stakeholder Communication and Engagement Plan previously 
endorsed by Communities Scrutiny Committee. 

2. The Task and Finish Group reviewed the GTAA data analysis and summary 
findings at its meeting on 15th November 2021 agreed that they were satisfied 
that the WG methodology had been applied appropriately to the analysis of 
need. 

 

Page 163



  APPENDIX 1 - Attachment 1 
    

Task & Finish Terms of Reference  

Gypsy & Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) 

1. Membership 
6 elected members – representatives appointed by each of the Council’s 
Member Area Groups (to ensure geographic spread)  

 
2. Officer Input   

• Corporate Director Economy and Public Realm 
• Head of Planning, Public Protection and Countryside Services 
• Service representatives 
• Corporate Project Manager 

Invitations will also be extended to Travelling Ahead (Third Sector Advocacy 
organisation for Gypsies and Travellers funded by WG), North Wales Police 
Diversity Team. 

The consultancy Opinion Research Services (ORS) will also be invited to 
meet the Task and Finish Group members and to attend to present updates 
as necessary. 

3. Purpose of the Work 
To ensure that the approach taken to deliver the new Gypsy and Traveller 
Accommodation Assessment complies with the Welsh Government 
methodology and that previous feedback is taken into account within the new 
document in line with Scrutiny requirements.   
 
To monitor progress and advise as necessary on the delivery of the 
Assessment.  To help to develop a suitable stakeholder engagement plan that 
will satisfy Scrutiny concerns and requirements.   
 
This work will be responsible for supporting the delivery of the new Gypsy and 
Traveller Accommodation Assessment document.  This work will not include 
any site selection or respond to/review other ongoing operational matters 
around Gypsy and Traveller sites or encampments.  
 

4. Sphere of Work 
For Members to: 
• gain an understanding of the work area including the statutory 

responsibilities for a GTAA  
• contribute to the development of the GTAA work brief and monitoring that 

this will comply with the requirements and methodology set out by Welsh 
Government (including considerations around consultation with Gypsy and 
Traveller families) and address the previous recommendations raised 
through the Scrutiny process 

• identify key stakeholders and contribute to the development of a 
Stakeholder Engagement plan (both for the Gypsy and Traveller 

Page 164



  APPENDIX 1 - Attachment 1 
    

community as part of the GTAA process and the wider stakeholders as 
part of the project communications plan) 
 

• monitor and advise as necessary on the delivery of the Assessment and 
subsequent report to ensure compliance with both WG methodology and 
Scrutiny recommendations  

 
5. Timescales 

Due to statutory deadlines for the submission of the GTAA it will be necessary 
for the Task and Finish group to meet several times over the first few months 
in order to develop and agree with Scrutiny Committee the delivery approach 
and stakeholder engagement plan for the work.   
 
The group’s focus will then move from assisting the development of the 
delivery approach to become one around monitoring.  Meetings will be set in 
line with the project delivery plan (currently under development).     
 
The Task and Finish Group meetings are expected to take place as follows:   
 
Meeting 1 – 19 May 2021  
Purpose Attendees 
Develop an understanding of the project, 
agree terms of reference and tasks 
required.  Identify key stakeholders. 

Task and Finish Group members 
ORS Consultants 
With invitations to Travelling Ahead 
& North Wales Police 
 

Meeting 2 – 11 June 2021  
Purpose Attendees 
Review GTAA methodology and consultants 
work brief. Develop and review draft 
communications and stakeholder 
engagement plans. 
 

Task and Finish Group members 
Lead Member 
With invitations to Travelling Ahead 
& North Wales Police 

Meeting 3 – 24 June 2021  
Purpose Attendees 
Further review of work brief / stakeholders 
communication plan 
Draft and agree report to Scrutiny 
 

Task and Finish Group Members 
Lead Member 
With invitations to Travelling Ahead 
& North Wales Police 

Meeting 4 – 5 July 2021  
Purpose Attendees 
Further review of work brief / stakeholders 
communication plan 
Draft and agree report to Scrutiny 
 

Task and Finish Group Members 
Lead Member 
With invitations to Travelling Ahead 
& North Wales Police 

Report to Scrutiny Committee 26th July 2021  
Purpose Attendees 

Page 165



  APPENDIX 1 - Attachment 1 
    

Present report, draft work brief and 
stakeholder engagement plan to 
Communities Scrutiny Committee  

Task and Finish Group Chair 

Meeting 5 –  15th September 2021  
Purpose Attendees 
Review progress of the GTAA consultation 
 

Task and Finish Group Members 
Consultants 
With invitations to Travelling Ahead 
& North Wales Police 

Meeting 6 – 15th November 2021 
Purpose Attendees 
Review draft GTAA report in preparation for 
Scrutiny meeting in November 2021 
 

Task and Finish Group Members 
Consultants 

Report to Scrutiny Committee – 9th December 2021 
Purpose Attendees 
Present T&F group update in relation to the 
GTAA report to Communities Scrutiny 
Committee 

Task and Finish Group Chair 

 
6. Governance 

The Task and Finish Group will report its findings, conclusions and any 
proposed recommendations to Communities Scrutiny Committee.  
 

7. Administration 
An officer from Planning, Public Protection and Countryside Services will 
provide administrative support to the Task and Finish Group.  They will be 
responsible for keeping an appropriate record of the Group’s proceedings 
which shall be made available upon request to elected members and/or 
Democratic Services staff.  

Elected Members: 

1 representative from each Member Area Group (MAG) 

Dee Valley: Cllr Alan Hughes 

Denbigh: Cllr Gwyneth Kensler 

Elwy:  Cllr Peter Scott 

Prestatyn: Cllr Hugh Irving 

Rhyl:  Cllr Barry Mellor 

Ruthin: Cllr Martyn Holland 

 

Page 166



    APPENDIX 1 - Attachment 2 

Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment  
 

Work Brief & Stakeholder Communication and Engagement Plan 
 

Update - November 2021 
 
 
What did we say we were going to do and what did we actually do? 

The following table sets out the activities that were identified within both the GTAA Work Brief and Stakeholder Communication and Engagement Plan that 
were agreed by the Task & Finish Group on 4 July 2021 and endorsed by Communities Scrutiny on 26 July 2021. 

The Work Brief set out a series of tasks that should be undertaken to comply with the Welsh Government (WG) methodology.   

In addition to the Work Brief, the Stakeholder Communication and Engagement Plan identified a range of actions to promote the study / raise awareness 
within both the Gypsy and Traveller community and across the wider community.  This reflected the areas that had been previously identified by the 
Council’s Communities Scrutiny Committee as requiring further focus.    

The Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment was launched at the beginning of August and closed on 7 October 2021.  Launching the Assessment in 
August has provided the opportunity to make contact with Gypsy and Traveller families moving through Denbighshire.  However, it was acknowledged that 
many Gypsy and Traveller families usually resident in Denbighshire as well as many service providers may be on holiday over the summer months.  
Therefore, while there was an initial wave of activities and communications to launch the GTAA, further communication took place over September. 
 
The following information sets out a summary of the key agreed activities and work undertaken.   
 
In summary the work brief and stakeholder communication and engagement plan developed by the Task & Finish Group has provided a comprehensive 
series of activities to promote and communicate the GTAA to both members of the Gypsy and Traveller community, to County, City, Town and Community 
Councillors and to the wider public.   
 
 
 
 

P
age 167



    APPENDIX 1 - Attachment 2 

Quantitative data – as set out within WG methodology 
 
Identified Activity 
 

Summary of Activities 
 

Census 2011 (2021 Census data will be more up to date but not 
available for this assessment)  
 

ORS have access to published Census records. 
 

Housing records, including waiting list data, tenants, RSL data 
relating to residents or waiting list information. Supporting 
People staff may also have information which could help to 
identify community members 

Contact made with DCC Housing Team and Registered Social Landlords 
(RSLs).  No information recorded on SARTH or TAI TEG waiting lists.  Housing 
staff have received the leaflet and information on the Assessment process.  
Request made to share this with any eligible households.  

Planning records including planning applications and information 
on unauthorised encampments or developments 

Information provided to ORS.  1 planning application submitted by DCC for 
residential site to meet housing needs identified in the 2017 GTAA report.  
Application not successful.   
Agreement for contact details for existing family in need to be passed to 
ORS. 

 2 known long-term unauthorised encampments/developments in the 
County.  Contact made through Planning Officer and agreement from 
households to share contact details with ORS.   
 

WG caravan count and sites database WG Caravan Count info provided to ORS as stipulated within methodology. 
This includes all encampments reported to DCC on public and private land 
during the relevant period.  Anecdotal information gleaned through welfare 
visits to encampments from June 2021 provided to ORS to supplement the 
quantitative data.   

Traveller Education records  
 

Email and virtual leaflet sent to staff by DCC.  Travelling Ahead also liaised 
with Education to identify families / promote the Assessment.  
 

Liaison officer/Gypsy and Traveller support organisations (such as 
Travelling Ahead)  
 

DCC Liaison Officer new in post – August 2021 – promoted the GTAA and 
distributed the leaflet to all households when visiting unauthorised 
encampments.   
 

P
age 168



    APPENDIX 1 - Attachment 2 

 Contact made with Travelling Ahead for information on any local families.  
Leaflet shared via WhatsApp with local contacts to raise awareness of the 
GTAA process.  

Qualitative data – additional to methodology as agreed within the DCC Work brief  
 
Activity 
 

Summary of Activities  
 

Any additional information arising from DCC welfare visits to 
unauthorised encampments that can inform the narrative / 
understanding around the need of Transit visitors  

 

Collection of additional narrative began in June/July and is on-going.   In 
addition, leaflets promoting the Assessment and contact details on how to 
participate shared with families on unauthorised encampments from August 
2021.  
 

Online survey of all elected members Online bilingual surveys sent to elected members – 6/8/21 with closing date 
of 30/9/21.  Reminder emails sent at the beginning of Sept 21 

Online survey of Town, City and Community Councils Online bilingual surveys sent to elected members – 6/8/21 with closing date 
of 30/9/21. Reminder emails sent at the beginning of Sept 21 

WG Engagement Checklist as set out within the WG methodology 
 
Activity 
 

Summary of Activities  
 

Visit every Gypsy and Traveller household identified through the 
data analysis process up to 3 times, if necessary  

Due to Covid restrictions/ self-isolation rules/ personal concerns about Covid 
participants have been interviewed over the phone (in line with market 
research guidelines) and been offered a face to face interview.  In some 
cases, it has taken several attempts to establish contact but contact has been 
possible with all households identified through the engagement process.   
 

Publish details of the GTAA process, including contact details to 
allow community members to request an interview, on the Local 
Authority website, Travellers’ Times website and World’s Fair 
publication. 
 
As The World’s Fair publication referred to no longer exists and 
the Travellers’ Times does not take GTAA adverts the Work Brief 

Information and leaflet live on DCC website from 2 Aug 2021.  
 
Has been promoted by Travelling Ahead and sent directly to key local 
contacts. 
 
Press Release and social media message issued w/c 8/9/21.  Featured in the 
Denbighshire Free Press and Rhyl Journal  

P
age 169



    APPENDIX 1 - Attachment 2 

identified that we will publish on the Council’s website, 
community support organisation websites, social media channels 
and any other community publications with contact details to 
allow community members to get in touch and have the 
opportunity to participate. 
 

  
https://www.denbighshirefreepress.co.uk/news/19500585.survey-help-
produce-needs-assessment-gypsy-traveller-accommodation/ 
 
Included in County Voice 6/9/21 – sent to all elected members and over 
1000 people signed up to receive the electronic publication.  Available on 
Linc for all DCC employees.  Available as a link on the DCC website. 
 
Social Media post again on 7/9/21 
Social Media reminders took place weekly during September until close on 7 
October 2021. 
 
(Updates weren’t circulated for several weeks in August so as not to confuse 
this work with the media interest in the unauthorised encampments that 
took place in August. ) 

Consult relevant community support organisations (as set out in 
WG methodology) 

ORS contacted all organisations listed in the WG methodology Appendix. 
 
DCC have on-going contact with Travelling Ahead 
 

Develop a Local Authority waiting list for both pitches and 
housing, which is accessible and communicated to community 
members 
 

Working with colleagues from housing on how to progress this as although 
there is an accessible waiting list for housing (SARTH) there is currently no 
provision to request a pitch. 

Endeavour to include Gypsies and Travellers on the GTAA project 
steering group 

Request made for support to encourage participation /feed into the Steering 
Group made to Travelling Ahead seeking guidance on ways to promote – 
June/July 2021.  Response received from Travelling Ahead in September 
2021 for possible interest in a meeting between Gypsy and Traveller 
community members and Steering Group.  This was too late to input into the 
Assessment process but an interest in discussion with DCC on better 
engagement and developing confidence within the GRT community around 
meeting any need.  Meeting proposed with Steering Group members for 
November 2021.  
 

P
age 170

https://www.denbighshirefreepress.co.uk/news/19500585.survey-help-produce-needs-assessment-gypsy-traveller-accommodation/
https://www.denbighshirefreepress.co.uk/news/19500585.survey-help-produce-needs-assessment-gypsy-traveller-accommodation/


    APPENDIX 1 - Attachment 2 

Ensure contact details provided to the Council by community 
members through the survey process are followed up and needs 
assessed. 
 

All contacts provided to ORS have been followed up.  Records maintained by 
ORS.    

Consider holding on-site (or nearby) GTAA information events to 
explain why community members should participate and 
encourage site residents to bring others who may not be known 
to the Council. 
 

No action required - Agreed in work brief not to progress this due to a) no 
sites in Denbighshire and b) the on-going Covid pandemic. 
 

Additional Engagement Activities as identified within the Work Brief 
 
Activity 
 

Summary of Activities  
 

Elected members will have contact details for ORS to provide any 
relevant local information 

Contact details for ORS included within Member survey sent to all members 
6/8/21 
 

Elected members could promote the survey within their wards –
members could ensure that leaflets are displayed in key local 
facilities i.e. shops, community centres in their wards 

Posters sent to all elected members on 6/8/21 with request to display at 
prominent locations within their community.  Covering letter from Lead 
Member. 
Reminder sent beginning of Sept with a request for photo evidence for WG 
report and details of locations. 
Photos of posters: 
Llanarmon-yn-Ial 
3 posters in Rhuddlan – High Street notice boards 
Photos of Rhyl, Prestatyn, St. Asaph, Denbigh and Ruthin. 
 

City, Town & Community Councils could help to publicise via 
community notice boards 

Posters sent to City, Town and Community Councils on 6/8/21 with request 
to display at prominent locations within their community.   
Request from one Community Council for posters with the closing date.   
Photos of posters: 
Llanarmon-yn-Ial 
3 posters in Rhuddlan – High Street notice boards 
Photos of Rhyl, Prestatyn, St. Asaph, Denbigh and Ruthin. 

P
age 171



    APPENDIX 1 - Attachment 2 

BCUHB may be able to assist. Health visitors /GP surgeries are 
most likely to have direct contact with households from this 
target group 

Contact provided for service managers with responsibility for Health visitors 
and GP services.  Virtual leaflet and information on the GTAA sent at launch 
of Assessment. 
 
300 paper copies of leaflet provided at request of BCUHB. 

Education, housing and social care teams may be able to 
promote the Assessment through their front line workers 

Information and virtual leaflet sent to education and social care staff 
following launch of GTAA in August 21. 
 
Follow up / Reminder emails sent 3/9/21. 
 
Direct contact made with key officers with responsibility for education 
support to Gypsies and Travellers. 
 
Virtual leaflet sent to all schools in Denbighshire with a request to circulate 
to all families.  
 
Received 6 photos of posters in libraries in Rhyl, Prestatyn, Rhuddlan, St. 
Asaph, Denbigh and Ruthin. 
 
Following request from T&F Group - Request to display flyer sent to leisure 
centres. 
 

Churches and faith groups could help to promote the Assessment Contact made with T&F Group members for suggestions of main local 
churches.   
 
Email sent to Cyntun (umbrella organisation), various Diocese of Wrexham 
(Denbigh, Rhyl, Tremeirchion – those with emails), Presbyterian Church of 
Wales, Methodist Wales as well as the Light of Life Church. 
 

Seek advice from Gypsy and Traveller representative groups / 
individuals (such as Travelling Ahead) on other ways to promote 
the survey. 

On-going communication taking place with Travelling Ahead.   
 

P
age 172



    APPENDIX 1 - Attachment 2 

As referenced earlier – Travelling Ahead identified a small number of 
community representatives who would be willing to meet with the GTAA 
Steering group to discuss engagement/next steps.   

Additional Engagement Activities as identified within the Stakeholder Communication and Engagement Plan 
 
 
Activity 
 

Summary of Activities  
 

North Wales Police Community Policing Teams may be able to 
assist  

Information and virtual leaflet sent to North Wales Police following launch of 
GTAA in August 21. Follow up / Reminder emails sent 3/9/21. 
Verbal confirmation that leaflet had been received and shared. 
 

Contact other neighbouring local authorities to avoid ‘double 
counting’ 

Contact details for relevant local authorities were provided to ORS as part of 
the Assessment process. 
 

Wider Communication for all as set out within the Stakeholder Communication and Engagement Plan 
 
Activity 
 

Summary of Activities  
 

Ensure wider stakeholders are informed of the GTAA project  
 

Report presented to Communities Scrutiny Committee on 26/7/21.  
Briefing note for all Members circulated following Communities Scrutiny 
Committee on 26/7/21. 
Information on DCC dedicated page from 2/8/21. 
Press release issued 9/8/21 followed by social media updates. 
Information in County Voice / Linc DCC Staff intranet page. 
Interim progress report provided to T&F Group on 15/9/21 
  

 
 

P
age 173



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Opinion Research Services | The Strand • Swansea • SA1 1AF | 01792 535300 | www.ors.org.uk | info@ors.org.uk 

Denbighshire County Council 
Gypsy and Traveller  

Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) 

Draft Final Report 

November 2021 

Appendix 2

Page 175

http://www.ors.org.uk/


Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

Page 2 
 

 

 

  

 
Opinion Research Services, The Strand, Swansea, SA1 1AF 
Steve Jarman and Michael Bayliss  
Enquiries:  01792 535300 - info@ors.org.uk - www.ors.org.uk 

 

© Copyright November 2021 

Contains public sector information licensed under the Open Government Licence v3.0 

Contains OS Data © Crown Copyright (2021) 

 

Page 176

mailto:info@ors.org.uk
http://www.ors.org.uk/


Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

Page 3 
 

Contents 
 

1. Executive Summary ......................................................................................................................... 6 

Introduction and Methodology ...................................................................................................................... 6 

Pitch Needs – Gypsies and Travellers ............................................................................................................. 6 

Plot Needs - Travelling Showpeople ............................................................................................................... 7 

Transit Recommendations .............................................................................................................................. 7 

2. Background and Policy Context ....................................................................................................... 9 

The Study ........................................................................................................................................................ 9 

Legislation and Guidance................................................................................................................................ 9 

Welsh Government Circular 005/2018 ........................................................................................................... 9 

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 ................................................................................... 10 

Housing (Wales) Act 2014 ............................................................................................................................ 10 

Mobile Homes (Wales) Act 2013 .................................................................................................................. 11 

Welsh Government Designing and Managing Gypsy and Traveller Sites Guidance .................................... 12 

Denbighshire Local Development Plan (2006-2021), Adopted 2013 ........................................................... 12 

Definition of Key Terms ................................................................................................................................ 13 

3. Analysis of Existing Data................................................................................................................ 14 

Current and Previous GTAAs ........................................................................................................................ 14 

Denbighshire GTAA 2017 .............................................................................................................................. 14 

Caravan Count Data ...................................................................................................................................... 15 

Sites and Yards in Denbighshire ................................................................................................................... 17 

4. Methodology ................................................................................................................................ 18 

GTAA Project Steering Group ....................................................................................................................... 18 

GTAA Project Board ...................................................................................................................................... 19 

Task & Finish Group ...................................................................................................................................... 19 

Stakeholder Engagement ............................................................................................................................. 20 

Identify and Analyse Existing Data ............................................................................................................... 20 

Publicise the Accommodation Assessment .................................................................................................. 21 

Conducting the Accommodation Assessment Surveys ................................................................................ 21 

Household Interviews ................................................................................................................................... 21 

Bricks and Mortar Interviews ....................................................................................................................... 22 

Calculate the Accommodation Needs of Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople .......................... 22 

Current Residential Supply ........................................................................................................................... 22 

Current Residential Demand ........................................................................................................................ 23 

Page 177



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

Page 4 
 

Future Demand ............................................................................................................................................. 23 

Final Outcomes ............................................................................................................................................. 23 

Transit Provision ........................................................................................................................................... 23 

Compliance with Engagement Checklist ................................................................................................ 24-24 

5. Survey Findings ............................................................................................................................. 26 

Background ................................................................................................................................................... 26 

Interview Log ................................................................................................................................................ 26 

Overview and Demographics of Residents ................................................................................................... 26 

Interview Summary ...................................................................................................................................... 27 

6. Assessing Accommodation Needs ..................................................................................................... 28 

Current Residential Supply ........................................................................................................................... 28 

Current Residential Demand ........................................................................................................................ 28 

Future Demand ............................................................................................................................................. 29 

Current Authorised Residential Supply ........................................................................................................ 29 

Current Residential Demand ........................................................................................................................ 30 

Current Unauthorised Sites .......................................................................................................................... 30 

Concealed Households and Over-Crowded Pitches ..................................................................................... 30 

Conventional Housing................................................................................................................................... 30 

New Households to Arrive ............................................................................................................................ 30 

Additional Pitch Provision: Future Need ...................................................................................................... 31 

Population and Household Growth ........................................................................................................ 31-31 

Overall Need for Gypsies and Travellers in Denbighshire ............................................................................ 33 

Transit Recommendations ............................................................................................................................ 35 

Need for Travelling Showpeople Plots ......................................................................................................... 36 

7. Conclusions ...................................................................................................................................... 37 

Gypsy and Traveller Pitch Need .................................................................................................................... 37 

Travelling Showpeople Plot Need ................................................................................................................ 37 

Transit Sites .................................................................................................................................................. 37 

Addressing Identified Need .......................................................................................................................... 37 

  

Page 178



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

Page 5 
 

Appendix A: Definition of Key Terms .................................................................................................... 38 

Appendix B: Sites and Yards in Denbighshire (November 2021) ............................................................. 42 

Appendix C: Interview Log .................................................................................................................... 43 

Appendix D: Household Interview Summary ......................................................................................... 44 

Appendix E: Interview Summary – Travelling Ahead .............................................................................. 46 

Appendix F: Publicity Examples….. ........................................................................................................ 48 

Appendix G: Technical Note on Household Formation and Growth Rates ............................................... 54 

 

Page 179



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

Page 6 
 

1. Executive Summary 
 

Introduction and Methodology 
1.1 The primary objective of the (2021) Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) is to provide a 

robust assessment of current and future need for Gypsy and Traveller1 accommodation in Denbighshire.  

1.2 The GTAA provides a robust and credible evidence base which can be used to aid in the understanding of, 
and the provision of Gypsy and Traveller pitches and plots, and potential transit provision, for the 
Denbighshire Local Development Plan period to 2033.  The outcomes of this GTAA will replace the outcomes 
of the previous GTAA that was published in 2017. 

1.3 The GTAA has sought to understand the accommodation needs of the Gypsy and Traveller population in 
Denbighshire through a combination of desk-based research, stakeholder engagement and engagement with 
members of the Travelling Community. In addition, a range of local stakeholders were invited to sit on a 
Project Steering Group; a wider GTAA Project Group was established; and a Task and Finish Group was 
established. An online survey was also distributed to all Elected Members, and City, Town, and Community 
Councils. 

1.4 Following the preliminary engagement and publicity that was put in place2, a total of 10 interviews were 
completed with Gypsies and Travellers living on unauthorised sites and living in bricks and mortar in 
Denbighshire. There was one refusal to be interviewed from a further household living in bricks and mortar. 
This represents a response rate of 91% of identified households. No Travelling Showpeople yards were 
identified in Denbighshire. Engagement was completed with neighbouring local authorities and other 
stakeholders to discuss potential need for transit provision. In addition, Denbighshire County Council’s Gypsy, 
Roma, Traveller Liaison Officer sought to engage with households travelling through the County and staying 
on unauthorised encampments during the period of the Assessment.    

1.5 The baseline date for the study is November 2021. 

Pitch Needs – Gypsies and Travellers 
1.6 The Welsh Government Guidance requires 2 assessments of need – for the first 5 years of the GTAA period 

(2021-2026), and for the full Local Development Plan period to 2033. 

1.7 Based upon the evidence presented in this study the estimated additional pitch provision needed for Gypsies 
and Travellers in Denbighshire for the first 5 years of the GTAA Study period to 2026 is for 8 pitches and need 
for the remainder of the Local Development Plan period is a further 4 pitches. This gives a total need to the 
end of the development plan period to 2033 for 12 pitches. These figures should be seen as the projected 
amount of provision which is necessary to meet the statutory obligations towards identifiable needs of the 
population arising in the area. These figures are made up from a combination of unauthorised pitches; 
movement from bricks and mortar; and new household formation. 

                                                           
1 See Chapter 2 for the planning definition of a Traveller in Wales. 
2 See Chapter 4 and Appendix F for further details. 

Page 180



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

Page 7 
 

1.8 A detailed breakdown which sets out the components that make up this identified need, together with any 
other issues that have been taken into consideration can be found in Chapter 6 of this report.  

Plot Needs - Travelling Showpeople  
1.9 There were no Travelling Showpeople identified living in Denbighshire so there is no current or future need 

for additional plots over the Local Development Plan period. The Council should however monitor any future 
approaches for planning permission from Travelling Showpeople and have in place appropriate Criteria-
Based Local Development Plan Policies to deal with any future applications. 

Transit Recommendations  
1.10 Discussions with local stakeholders, neighbouring local authorities, and analysis of records of unauthorised 

encampments, confirmed that there are instances of unauthorised encampments in Denbighshire, but that 
these are normally Travellers passing through for work purposes given that the area is on the main A55 
travelling corridor across North Wales for Travellers coming to and from Ireland on the ferry from Holyhead. 
This is also evidenced by anecdotal information of repeat visits from the same households at similar times of 
the year. 

1.11 There have been other localised instances of Travellers temporarily visiting Denbighshire to attend weddings 
or other events, but no further evidence of any long-term or permanent accommodation needs were 
identified. 

1.12 The outcomes from the household interviews and discussions with stakeholders did not identify that there 
was a need for permanent transit provision locally, although there were discussions about a need for more 
transit provision across Wales. 

1.13 It is understood that the Council have recently invested in employing a Gypsy, Roma, Traveller Liaison Officer 
as well as formalising a more co-ordinated process for the management of unauthorised encampments. This 
is understood to be to ensure early engagement with families travelling through Denbighshire, and to provide 
a coordinated approach to ensure that welfare checks and facilities such as bins and toilets are provided. This 
resulted in engagement with a total of 5 households living on encampments during the GTAA fieldwork 
period and none expressed a specific need for formal transit provision. This role is also intended to build 
better relations between the Council and the Travelling Community. Discussions with the Council have 
concluded that this approach could be developed further to form the basis of a more comprehensive 
managed approach to include considerations of options such as negotiated stopping. 

1.14 Despite the previous GTAA identifying a need for transit pitches in Denbighshire, more recent evidence 
suggests that this is no longer the case and that alternative approaches should be considered. As such it is 
recommended that there is not a need at this time for the Council to provide a transit site in Denbighshire 
due to the low numbers of unauthorised encampments, and the short-term transient nature of these 
encampments.  

1.15 It is also recommended that the Council should continue to monitor the number of unauthorised 
encampments and consider the use of a management based approach (including negotiated stopping 
arrangements) to deal with short-term transient stops. This management-based approach should also 
include consideration about whether to provide toilets, water and refuse facilities. There are a number of 
examples across Wales and England where management-based approaches to dealing with unauthorised 
encampments have been successful. A good example can be found at www.negotiatedstopping.co.uk. There 

Page 181

http://www.negotiatedstopping.co.uk/


Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

Page 8 
 

are also many examples where local authorities are taking a more strategic and regional approach towards 
addressing transit issues including in Essex, Leicestershire, the former Northamptonshire, and Hampshire. 

Page 182



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

Page 9 
 

2. Background and Policy Context 
The Study 

2.1 Opinion Research Services (ORS) were appointed by Denbighshire County Council (the Council) as 
independent consultants in January 2020 to complete a robust and up-to-date assessment of 
accommodation need for Gypsies and Travellers residing and resorting in Denbighshire for the new Local 
Development Plan (LDP) period to 2033. However, due to the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic in March 2020 
and subsequent lockdown and other restrictions that were put in place, work to complete the new GTAA did 
not start until 2021. 

2.2 The study provides an evidence base to enable the Council to comply with their requirements towards 
Gypsies and Travellers under Part 3 of the Housing (Wales) Act 2014, and to support the Denbighshire 
Replacement Local Development Plan (2018-33).  The Act requires Local Authorities to undertake a GTAA at 
least every 5 years, although Local Authorities have flexibility to undertake GTAAs more frequently if a 
material change in the level of need in the area has been identified. The Council published a GTAA in 2017 
(covering the period up to 2021). Welsh Government wrote to all Local Planning Authorities in September 
2019 to confirm those undertaking an LDP Review must ensure the GTAA establishes an evidence base for 
Gypsy and Traveller needs across the entire plan period. Welsh Government also confirmed that this may 
necessitate undertaking of a new GTAA (and providing appropriate site allocations, where relevant) prior to 
the statutory Deposit consultation to ensure plans can be found Sound through the examination process and 
are able to be adopted. Denbighshire commenced a review of their adopted LDP (2006-2021) in 2018. 

2.3 This GTAA provides an assessment of need for Gypsy and Traveller accommodation in Denbighshire to fulfil 
these requirements, updating the previous GTAA published in 2017. It is a robust and credible evidence base 
which can be used to aid in the understanding of, and the provision of Gypsy and Traveller pitches and plots, 
and also to support the Denbighshire Replacement Local Development Plan (2018-2033).   

2.4 We would note at the outset that the study covers the needs of Gypsies (including English, Scottish, Welsh 
and Romany Gypsies), Irish Travellers, New (Age) Travellers, and Travelling Showpeople, but for ease of 
reference we have referred to the study as a GTAA. 

2.5 The baseline date for the study is November 2021. 

Legislation and Guidance 

Welsh Government Circular 005/2018 
2.6 Welsh Government Circular 005/2018 provides updated guidance on the planning aspects of identifying 

sustainable sites for Gypsies and Travellers. It also outlines how planning authorities and Gypsies and 
Travellers can work together to achieve this aim. It supersedes advice contained in Circular 30/2007 “Planning 
for gypsy and traveller caravan sites”, Circular 78/91 “Travelling Showpeople” and Circular 76/94 “Gypsy Sites 
Policy and Unauthorised Camping”.  

2.7 The Circular include guidance on a range of issues relating to Gypsies and Travellers including:  

» Definition of Travellers 

» Gypsies and Travellers – A Context 

Page 183



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

Page 10 
 

» Duty to Provide Sites 

» Providing the Evidence Base 

» Regional Working 

» Development Plans 

» Major Development Projects 

» Designated Areas 

» Planning Applications 

» Enforcement 

» Appeals 

» Human Rights and Equality of Opportunity 

» Monitoring Planning Applications 

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
2.8 In relation to Gypsies and Travellers, Welsh Government Circular 005/2018 sets out that: 

7. The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 sets a framework for local authorities 
across Wales to ensure the ‘sustainable development principle’ (meeting the needs of the present 
without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs) is met. Section 4 of 
the Act puts in place a number of well-being goals which authorities are to seek to achieve in order to 
meet this principle. These goals include achieving ‘a Wales of cohesive communities’, containing 
attractive, viable, safe and well-connected communities, and ‘a Wales of vibrant culture and thriving 
Welsh language’, containing a society that promotes and protects culture, heritage and the Welsh 
language.  

8. Housing is a fundamental issue that affects the lives of people across Wales, including our Gypsy 
and Traveller communities. The Welsh Government seeks to ensure a wide choice of accommodation 
is available to meet the needs of all members of the community. It is reflective of the Government’s 
commitment to ensure equality of opportunity for all sections of the community and in this instance, 
Gypsies and Travellers should have equal access to culturally appropriate accommodation as all other 
members of the community.    

Housing (Wales) Act 2014 
2.9 Part 3 of the Housing (Wales) Act 2014 (the Act) sets out that a local housing authority must, in each review 

period, carry out an assessment of the accommodation needs of Gypsies and Travellers residing in or resorting 
to its area. 

2.10 Section 102 of the Act requires that local authorities must prepare a report which they must submit to Welsh 
Ministers for approval that: 

» details how the assessment was carried out. 

» contains a summary of: 

 the consultation it carried out in connection with the assessment, and 

 the responses (if any) it received to that consultation. 

Page 184



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

Page 11 
 

» details the accommodation needs identified by the assessment. 

2.11 Once approved the local housing authority must publish the assessment.  

2.12 If need is identified in the GTAA report, Section 103 of the Act requires that a local authority must exercise 
its powers in Section 56 of the Mobile Homes (Wales) Act 2013 so far as may be necessary to meet those 
needs. 

2.13 Section 106 of the Act sets out that local authorities should have regard to any guidance given by Welsh 
Ministers. Guidance on Undertaking GTAAs was published by Welsh Government in May 2015 and this 
Guidance still remains in place in 2020. 

2.14 The GTAA Guidance covers the following issues: 

» Why a specific GTAA is required?  

» What should be produced?  

» Who needs to be consulted?  

» What data sources need to be reviewed?  

» Understanding the culture of Gypsy and Traveller communities.  

» How to identify and communicate with Gypsies and Travellers?  

» How to design, manage and undertake a GTAA?  

» Support with partnership working and working regionally.  

» Exploring specialist surveys, techniques, and questions to be used.  

» How accommodation ‘need’ is assessed?  

» Submitting reports to Welsh Ministers.  

» How to make provision for identified need? 

2.15 Section 108 of the Act sets out that:  

» Accommodation needs - includes, but is not limited to, needs with respect to the provision 
of sites on which mobile homes may be stationed.  

» Gypsies and Travellers – means persons of a nomadic habit of life, whatever their race or 
origin, including persons who, on grounds only of their own or their family’s or dependant’s 
educational or health needs or old age, have ceased to travel temporarily or permanently, 
and members of an organised group of travelling show people or circus people (whether or 
not travelling together as such), and all other persons with a cultural tradition of nomadism 
or of living in a mobile home.  

» Mobile home - has the meaning given by section 60 of the Mobile Homes (Wales) Act 2013.  

Mobile Homes (Wales) Act 2013 
2.16 The GTAA Guidance sets out the requirement that local authorities have to meet a legal duty to exercise their 

functions to provide mobile home pitches to meet any identified needs. These are set out in Section 60 of 
the Mobile Homes (Wales) Act 2013.  

2.17 In this Act “mobile home” means: 

Page 185



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

Page 12 
 

» Any structure designed or adapted for human habitation which is capable of being moved 
from one place to another (whether by being towed, or by being transported on a motor 
vehicle or trailer) and any motor vehicle designed or adapted for human habitation but does 
not include any railway rolling stock which is for the time being on rails forming part of a 
railway system, or any tent. 

» A structure designed or adapted for human habitation which is composed of not more than 
2 sections separately constructed and designed to be assembled on a site by means of bolts, 
clamps, or other devices, and is, when assembled, physically capable of being moved by 
road from one place to another (whether by being towed, or by being transported on a 
motor vehicle or trailer). 

Welsh Government Designing and Managing Gypsy and Traveller Sites Guidance 
2.18 As well as publishing guidance on undertaking GTAAs in May 2015 the Welsh Government also published 

additional guidance on designing and managing Gypsy and Traveller sites in order to assist local authorities 
in meeting need for Gypsies and Travellers. These two documents are intended as a guide to assist Local 
Authorities in providing appropriate services at reasonable cost to the public purse for Gypsies and Travellers 
living on residential sites in Wales. They contain practical guidance to assist local authorities to ensure sites 
are fit-for-purpose, and how best to manage public Traveller sites. The guidance is not statutory. However, 
it is anticipated by Welsh Government that the guidance will help local authorities and others in the 
development, improvement and management of Gypsy and Traveller sites, and will form part of the 
consideration of the Welsh Government in assessing applications for Sites Capital Grant funding in relation 
to Gypsy and Traveller sites. 

Denbighshire Local Development Plan (2006-2021), Adopted 2013 
2.19 The Denbighshire Local Development Plan (2006-2021) was adopted by Denbighshire County Council on the 

4th of June 2013 and became operative immediately. The adopted LDP superseded and replaced the earlier 
Denbighshire Unitary Development Plan.  

2.20 The Plan includes one Policy relating to Gypsies and Travellers – Policy BSC 10 Gypsy and Traveller Sites. 

Policy BSC 10 – Gypsy & Traveller Sites 

Proposals for gypsy and traveller caravan sites (including mixed residential and business sites) will be 
permitted provided the following criteria are met: 

i) the site is situated outside the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, Green Barriers and the Pontcysyllte 
Canal and Aqueduct World Heritage site (including the buffer zone); and 

ii) the site is located within or on the outskirts of an established settlement boundary with access to a range 
of facilities/services (including schools), public transport and main transport routes; and, 

iii) the proposal makes suitable provision for on-site play space, storage, and parking; and, 

iv) the proposal would not be detrimental to the amenity of occupiers of adjacent properties. 

Sites in other locations will only be permitted where it is demonstrated that sites within or on the outskirts 
of an established settlement boundaries are not available and all the above criteria are met. 

Page 186



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

Page 13 
 

The Council will identify permanent and transit caravan sites for gypsies and travellers should an unmet need 
be identified for Denbighshire in the emerging North West Wales Local Housing Market Assessment.  

Definition of Key Terms 
2.21 The 2015 GTAA Guidance contains common definitions that have been used in the Guidance and that will 

also be used in the GTAA Report. These can be found in Appendix A.  

Page 187



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

Page 14 
 

3. Analysis of Existing Data 
3.1 The purpose of this section of the GTAA is to set out current information relating to the Gypsy and Traveller 

population in Denbighshire including previous assessments of need, socio-demographic data, caravan count 
data and the current provision of accommodation.  

Current and Previous GTAAs 

Denbighshire GTAA 2017 
3.2 The most recent GTAA for Denbighshire was completed by the Council with assistance from ORS to complete 

the household interviews. The Final GTAA report was published in January 2017. Based upon the evidence 
presented in the study the estimated additional pitch provision needed for Gypsies and Travellers in 
Denbighshire for the first 5 years of the GTAA plan period was for 6 pitches, and for the remainder of the 
GTAA plan period no further need was identified. This gave a total need for the whole GTAA plan period of 6 
pitches. As a result of this the recommendations in the GTAA were that the Council should consider 
developing a new residential site with 6 pitches. 

3.3 It was also recommended that there was a need for the Council to provide 4-5 transit pitches in Denbighshire. 

3.4 Given that there were no Travelling Showpeople identified as living in Denbighshire, no assessment of need 
was undertaken. 

Population Data – 2011 Census 

3.5 Analysis of 2011 Census data relating to the Gypsy and Traveller population identified a total of 16 
households and 34 individuals who identified as Gypsies or Irish Travellers living in Denbighshire – 
representing less than 0.04% of the population as a whole. It is likely that this could be an under-estimate 
given the accepted lower than average levels of response to the Census from the members of the Gypsy and 
Traveller community. The 2021 Census may provide a better understanding of the Gypsy and Traveller 
population through the inclusion of Roma in the question about ethnicity. 

3.6 Despite the likely under-estimate of the population of Gypsies and Irish Travellers, data from the 2011 Census 
does identify some significant demographic differences when compared to the population as a whole. These 
are important in terms of explaining the higher rate of new household formation for Gypsy and Traveller 
households compared with the settled population. In summary the Census shows that nationally for England 
and Wales: 

» Just under half of Gypsy or Irish Traveller households had dependent children (45%), 
compared to 29% for England and Wales as a whole. 

» The median age of Gypsies or Irish Travellers was 26 years compared to the national median 
of 39 years. 

» Just 6% of the Gypsy or Irish Traveller population were aged 65 years and over compared 
to a national figure of 16%. 

» Gypsies or Irish Travellers below 20 years of age accounted for 39% of the population 
compared to a national figure of 24%. 

Page 188



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

Page 15 
 

» Gypsies or Irish Travellers below 10 years of age accounted for 20% of the population 
compared to a national figure of 12%. 

» Gypsies or Irish Travellers had the lowest proportion of people rating their health as good 
or very good at 70% compared to a national figure of 81%. 

3.7 The chart below shows the age structure for the whole population (All) and the Gypsy or Irish Traveller 
population in England and Wales. This shows that there is a higher proportion of Gypsy or Irish Traveller 
children and younger adults, and significantly lower proportions of those aged 50 and over. This is due to 
higher birth rates and lower life expectancy for the Gypsy and Traveller population. Unfortunately due to the 
low numbers of Gypsies and Irish Travellers identified in the Census living in Denbighshire it is not possible 
to make any meaningful comparisons at a local level. 
 
Figure 1 - Comparison of Census Age Structure (2011 Census) 

 

Caravan Count Data 
3.8 Another source of published information on the Gypsy and Traveller population is the Welsh Government 

Gypsy and Traveller Caravan Count which is uses data provided by Local Authorities and is published twice a 
year.  

3.9 This is a physical count of the number of caravans on both authorised and unauthorised sites across Wales. 
As this count is of caravans and not households, it makes it very difficult to interpret and use for a study such 
as this because it does not count pitches, resident households, or household demographics. The count is 
merely a ‘snapshot in time’ conducted by the Local Authority on a specific day, and therefore any 
unauthorised sites or encampments which occur on other dates are not recorded. Likewise any caravans that 
are away from sites on the day of the count will not be included. The count also does not seek to determine 
the ethnic status of the occupiers of caravans.  

3.10 However, the data captured in the Caravan Count does give an indication of the number of sites, and 
authorised and unauthorised caravans in each local authority, and can be useful in supporting the 
determination of any transit needs and identifying year on year trends to support an assessment of need. 

3.11 The latest Gypsy and Traveller Caravan County data for Wales is from July 2021 and was published in October 
2021. 

Page 189



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

Page 16 
 

3.12 Analysis of the Caravan Count Data for Denbighshire between January 2010 and July 2021 shows that there 
have been 2 unauthorised sites recorded in recent years, with 3 tolerated caravans on 1 site and 3 non-
tolerated caravans on the other site. It is understood from the Council that these are the 2 unauthorised sites 
that have been identified in this GTAA. 

3.13 In addition, details of all recorded encampments from 2014 were provided by the Council and were analysed 
to help to determine whether there was any need for transit provision. See Chapter 6 for further details.  
 

Current Accommodation Provision 
3.14 One of the main considerations of this study is to provide evidence to support the provision of pitches and 

plots to meet the current and future accommodation needs of Gypsies and Travellers in Denbighshire. In 
general, a pitch is an area which is large enough for one household to occupy and typically contains enough 
space for one or two caravans but can vary in size. A site is a collection of pitches which form a development 
exclusively for Gypsies and Travellers. For Travelling Showpeople, the most common descriptions used are a 
plot for the space occupied by one household and a yard for a collection of plots which are typically 
exclusively occupied by Travelling Showpeople.  

3.15 The public and private provision of mainstream housing is also largely mirrored when considering Gypsy and 
Traveller accommodation. One common form of a Gypsy and Traveller site is a publicly-provided residential 
site, which is provided by a Local Authority or by a Housing Association. Pitches on public sites can usually be 
obtained through signing up to a waiting list, and the costs of running the sites are met from the rent paid by 
the tenants (similar to social housing).    

3.16 The alternatives to public residential sites are private residential sites and yards for Gypsies and Travellers. 
These result from individuals or families buying areas of land and then obtaining planning permission to live 
on them. Households can also rent pitches on some private sites that are run on a commercial basis. 
Therefore, these two forms of accommodation are the equivalent to private ownership and renting for those 
who live in bricks and mortar housing. Generally, the majority of Travelling Showpeople yards are privately 
owned and managed. 

3.17 The Gypsy and Traveller population also has other forms of sites due to its mobile nature. Transit sites tend 
to contain many of the same facilities as a residential site, except that there is a restricted period of residence 
which can vary from a period of weeks to a period of months. An alternative to a transit site is an emergency 
stopping place. This type of site also has restrictions on the length of time someone can stay on it but has 
much more limited facilities. Another alternative is a Negotiated Stopping Agreement that allows Gypsy and 
Traveller families to set up short-term camps as long as they agree to certain conditions. These are designed 
to accommodate, for a temporary period, Gypsies and Travellers whilst they travel. A number of authorities 
also operate an accepted encampments policy where short-term stopovers are tolerated without 
enforcement action.  

3.18 Further considerations for the Gypsy and Traveller population are unauthorised developments and 
encampments. Unauthorised developments occur on land which is owned by the Gypsies and Travellers or 
with the approval of the landowner, but for which they do not have planning permission to use for residential 
purposes. Unauthorised encampments occur on land which is not owned by the Gypsies and Travellers – for 
example laybys or car parks.   

Page 190



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

Page 17 
 

Sites and Yards in Denbighshire 

3.19 In Denbighshire, at the baseline date for the GTAA, there were no sites with planning permission, and 2 
unauthorised sites (with a total household requirement for 7 pitches). There was also no transit provision. 

3.20 Despite efforts to identify them, no Travelling Showpeople yards were found in Denbighshire. This is 
consistent with findings from the previous GTAAs for Denbighshire. 

3.21 Further details can be found in Chapter 5 and Appendix B. 
 
Figure 2 - Total amount of provision in Denbighshire (November 2021)   

Category Sites/Yards Pitches/Plots 
Private with permanent planning permission 0 0 
Private sites with temporary planning permission 0 0 
Public sites  0 0 
Public transit provision (seasonal) 0 0 
Private transit provision 0 0 
Tolerated sites 0 0 
Unauthorised sites 2 7 
Travelling Showpeople yards 0 0 
TOTAL 2 7 

 
Figure 3 - Sites and Yards in Denbighshire (November 2021)   

Site Name Pitches/Plots Status 
Unauthorised 1 6 Unauthorised 
Unauthorised 2 1 Unauthorised 
Total 7  

 

 

Page 191



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

Page 18 
 

4. Methodology 
4.1 This section sets out the methodology that has been followed to deliver the outputs for this study. The Welsh 

Government GTAA Guidance issued under Section 106 of the Housing (Wales) Act sets out the requirements 
for the GTAA and the methodology and calculation of need that has been followed has sought to address 
these and allow for a full and robust GTAA to be completed. The study has been undertaken by Opinion 
Research Services, in conjunction with Denbighshire County Council and the approach taken covers the 
following core areas of work: 

» GTAA Project Steering Group. 

» GTAA Project Board. 

» Task and Finish Group. 

» Identifying and analyse existing data sources. 

» Publicising the accommodation assessment. 

» Conducting the accommodation assessment surveys. 

» Calculating the accommodation needs of Gypsies and Travellers. 

4.2 The stages below provide a summary of the methodology that was used to complete this study.  

GTAA Project Steering Group 
4.3 The Welsh Government GTAA Guidance requires that a Project Steering Group be established to ensure that 

the study is informed by all available local knowledge and expertise. The Council set up and managed a Joint 
Steering Group for Denbighshire and Conwy as the GTAA was a joint commission. The individuals who 
attended the meetings of the GTAA Steering Group were: 
 
Figure 4 – GTAA Project Steering Group Membership   

Organisation Role 

Denbighshire CC Lead Member for Planning, Public Protection, Safer Communities and 
Domestic Abuse 

Denbighshire CC Strategic Planning and Housing Manager 
Denbighshire CC Lead Project Manager 
Denbighshire CC Senior Officer, Strategic Planning and Housing 
Denbighshire CC Senior Officer, Strategic Planning and Housing 
Conwy CBC Cabinet Member for Housing and Regulatory Services 
Conwy CBC Strategic Planning Policy Manager 
Opinion Research Services Consultant 
Opinion Research Services Consultant 
Travelling Ahead North Wales Engagement Lead 
Travelling Ahead Team Manager 

4.4 As set out in the GTAA Guidance the key responsibilities of the Steering Group were to agree on the aims and 
objectives of the study; promote the benefits of the study to members of the Travelling Community; help 
identify households living in bricks and mortar and on unauthorised sites and encampments; provide expert 
stakeholder input into the identification of local need; provide feedback on the emerging outputs from the 

Page 192



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

Page 19 
 

study; and to share and promote the final outcomes to members of the Travelling Community. The first 
Steering Group meeting was held in June 2021, the second Steering Group Meeting is was held in November 
2021, and a final Steering Group Meeting is planned for December 2021 or January 2022. All meetings have 
been held online due to COVID-19. 

4.5 The first Steering Group meeting discussed the background to the GTAA and clarified the purpose and the 
role of the Group. Means of communicating the GTAA were also discussed, together with opportunities to 
engage with households living in bricks and mortar. The second Steering Group meeting provided an 
opportunity for an update on the emerging outcomes of the assessment of need and an opportunity to 
discuss the content of the Draft GTAA Report. The final Steering Group meeting is due to discuss sharing the 
GTAA Report, discussing how the study outcomes could be communicated to members of the Travelling 
Community and how to address the identified need in LDP Policies.  

GTAA Project Board 
4.6 In addition to establishing a GTAA Steering Group as required by the Welsh Government GTAA Guidance, the 

Council also established a GTAA Project Board. The key purpose of the Project Board is to provide oversight, 
direction, and governance for the GTAA project and its workstreams in Denbighshire. It also provides a forum 
for managing communications and stakeholder engagement. It has operated in a similar manner to other 
Project Boards within the local authority, managing the detail of the project including progress, issues, and 
risks. The Project Board has met on a monthly basis since June 2020, with 2 further meetings planned in 
November and December 2021. 

4.7 Membership of the GTAA Project Board currently comprises the following members with full voting rights: 
 
Figure 5 – GTAA Project Board Membership   

Role 
Leader of Denbighshire County Council 
Lead Member for Planning, Public Protection and Safer Communities and Domestic 
Abuse 
Head of Planning, Public Protection and Countryside Services 
Head of Legal, HR & Democratic Services 
Head of Customers, Communications and Marketing – replaced Corporate Director 
– Economy & Public Realm (post currently vacant) 

Task & Finish Group 
4.8 A Task & Finish Group was also established by the Council. The key purposes of the group were to: 

» Ensure that the approach taken to deliver the new Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation 
Assessment complies with the Welsh Government methodology and that previous 
feedback is taken into account within the new document in line with Scrutiny 
requirements. 

» To monitor progress and advise as necessary on the delivery of the Assessment. To help 
to develop a suitable stakeholder engagement plan that will satisfy Scrutiny concerns and 
requirements. 

4.9 A total of 6 meetings of the group were held between May and November 2021.    

Page 193



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

Page 20 
 

4.10 Membership of the Task & Finish Group comprises Elected Members appointed by each of the Councils 6 
Member Area Groups, together with support from Officers. In addition, other individuals were invited to 
attend certain meetings of the group to discuss specific issues: 
 
Figure 6 – GTAA Task & Finish Group   

Role 
Member Area Group Representative for Rhyl (Chair) 
Member Area Group Representative for Dee Valley 
Member Area Group Representative for Denbigh 
Member Area Group Representative for Prestatyn 
Member Area Group Representative for Ruthin 
Member Area Group Representative for Elwy 
Corporate Director Economy and Public Realm - Advisory 
Head of Planning, Public Protection and Countryside Services - Advisory 
Strategic Planning and Housing Manager - Advisory 
Corporate Project Manager - Advisory 

Stakeholder Engagement 
4.11 In addition to the Steering Group contact was made with a number of stakeholders listed in Annex 1 in the 

GTAA Guidance to identify whether they had any particular issues they would like to raise in relation to 
Gypsies and Travellers in Denbighshire. The organisations that were contacted were: 

» Gypsies & Travellers Wales  

» Travelling Ahead  

» The Unity Project  

» The Bridges Project  

» The Showmen’s Guild of Great Britain - South Wales 

» The Traveller Movement  

» Friends, Families and Travellers  

» The National Federation of Gypsy Liaison Groups 

» The Gypsy Council   

» Roma Support Group  

4.12 At the time of preparing this report the only response that was received was from Travelling Ahead and a 
summary of the interview that was completed can be found in Appendix E. 

Identify and Analyse Existing Data  
4.13 A desk-based review was undertaken to collate and analyse a range of secondary data and other local 

intelligence that has been used to identify and support the assessment of current and future accommodation 
need including: 

» Planning records. 

» Census data. 

Page 194



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

Page 21 
 

» Site records and waiting lists. 

» Caravan Counts data. 

» Records of unauthorised sites/encampments. 

» Information on planning applications/appeals. 

» Information on enforcement actions. 

» Existing GTAA’s and other relevant local studies. 

» Existing national and local policy, guidance, and best practice. 

Publicise the Accommodation Assessment 
4.14 In order to get buy-in from members of the Travelling Community to ensure that they were able and willing 

to participate in the site and household interviews and provide accurate information, it was important that 
effective publicity and pre-notification was put in place. This was also very important in terms of identifying 
households living in bricks and mortar accommodation to interview as part of the study.  

4.15 The approach to publicity was discussed with members of the Steering Group prior to the fieldwork 
commencing. This publicity that was put in place included the actions below and examples can be found in 
Appendix F: 

» Press Releases. 

» Information on the Council’s website. 

» Information in the Council’s online publication for residents ‘County Voice’. 

» Social media adverts. 

» Posters in a range of community venues and libraries. 

» Promotion through front-line services including the Local Health Board and North Wales 
Police. 

» Online engagement with Elected Members, and City, Town, and Community Councillors. 

» Information circulation by Gypsy and Traveller advocacy organisations. 

» Word-of-mouth information sharing by Gypsy Liaison officers. 

» Contact with organisations set out in the Welsh Government GTAA Guidance. 

Conducting the Accommodation Assessment Surveys 

Household Interviews  
4.16 Through the desk-based research and information from the Steering Group, ORS sought to identify all 

authorised and unauthorised sites, yards, and encampments in Denbighshire, and sought to undertake a full 
demographic study of the residents on all pitches and plots – as required by the Welsh Government GTAA 
Guidance.   

4.17 Contact details for site residents were obtained from members of the Steering Group and permission was 
obtained from residents to allow the sharing of contact information and telephone numbers with 
Researchers from ORS.  This information was shared via secure email. 

Page 195



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

 

 

Page 22 
 

4.18 Residents on sites were contacted by telephone by Researchers from ORS to request an appointment to 
complete an interview in line with the ORS COVID-19 Risk Assessment Process. All households who were 
interviewed requested to complete their interviews over the telephone. Interviews were completed with all 
households using the Welsh Government GTAA Household Interview questions. Following further guidance 
from Welsh Government that set out that face-to-face interviews should be completed wherever possible, 
households were recontacted to see if they would like to complete a further face-to-face interview, however, 
households on both unauthorised sites stated that they would prefer to complete interviews over the 
telephone.  

Bricks and Mortar Interviews 
4.19 ORS worked closely with the Council to identify and encourage households living in bricks and mortar to 

participate in the GTAA. Contacts were sought through members of the Steering Group, speaking with people 
on existing sites and adverts on social media, and through posters displayed on community noticeboards and 
within local communities. Permission was obtained for telephone numbers to be shared with Researchers 
from ORS. 

4.20 Residents living in bricks and mortar were contacted by telephone by Researchers from ORS to request an 
appointment to complete an interview in line with the ORS COVID-19 Risk Assessment Process. All 3 
households who were interviewed requested to complete their interviews over the telephone. Interviews 
were completed with all households using the Welsh Government GTAA Household Interview questions. 
Following further guidance from Welsh Government that set out that face-to-face interviews should be 
completed wherever possible, households were recontacted to see if they would like to complete a further 
face-to-face interview, however, all households stated that they would prefer to complete interviews over 
the telephone.  

Calculate the Accommodation Needs of Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling 
Showpeople 

4.21 The Welsh Government GTAA Guidance sets out a detailed methodology to assess current and future pitch 
needs. This approach has been followed for the purpose of this GTAA. As with any housing assessment, the 
underlying calculation is comprised of a relatively small number of factors. In this case, the key issue for 
residential pitches is to compare the supply of pitches available for occupation with the current and future 
population need. This information has been obtained from a combination of the desk-based research and 
the outcomes of the site and household interviews, together with additional information from members of 
the Steering Group and other local stakeholders. The key factors in each of these elements are set out below. 

Current Residential Supply 

» Occupied local authority pitches. 

» Occupied authorised private pitches. 

» Vacant local authority pitches and available private pitches. 

» Pitches expected to be vacated in the near future. 

» New local authority pitches private pitches with planning permission. 

Page 196



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

 

 

Page 23 
 

Current Residential Demand 
4.22 Total current residential demand is made up of the following components. It was important to make full use 

of the desk-based research and intelligence from members of the Steering Group to address issues of double 
counting (for example bricks and mortar households who are also on the waiting list for pitches): 

» Households on unauthorised encampments. 

» Households on unauthorised developments. 

» Concealed /over-crowded/doubled-up households3. 

» Conventional housing – movement from bricks and mortar4. 

» New households to arrive from waiting lists/in-migration. 

Future Demand 
4.23 Total future demand is a result of the formation of new households during the study period. ORS has 

undertaken extensive research into the population and household growth of the Gypsy and Traveller 
community in England and Wales (Appendix G). This was used to inform this element of the Welsh 
Government GTAA Guidance (see Paragraphs 203-209). Paragraph 203 sets out that the research completed 
by ORS suggests that an acceptable growth rate is usually within the range of 1.50% – 3.00% per annum and 
Paragraph 204 sets out that Local Authorities should analyse the demographic data provided by community 
members to consider their own local anticipated future household growth. 

4.24 Information from the site interviews provides details of the gross number of new households expected to 
form within the first 5 years of the study. 

4.25 The estimate of new household formation for remaining years of the study has been completed based on 
demographic evidence from the site interviews that were completed. Further evidence to support the 
approach taken to calculate new household formation is set out in Chapter 6. 

Final Outcomes 
4.26 All of the components of supply and demand are presented in an easy-to-understand table as set out in the 

GTAA Guidance in Table 3. A separate table has been prepared for the current and future needs of Gypsies, 
Travellers and for Travelling Showpeople as their needs should be considered independently as their 
circumstances are different from that of the wider travelling community.  

Transit Provision 
4.27 The GTAA also includes an assessment of the need for any transit sites or temporary stopping places to meet 

the needs of members of the Travelling Community who either travel permanently or for part of the year. In 
order to investigate the potential need for transit provision when undertaking the GTAA, ORS have 
undertaken analysis of records of unauthorised sites and encampments that were identified during the desk-

                                                           
3 Following the guidance set out in Paragraphs 195-201 of the GTAA Guidance. 
4 Following the guidance set out in Paragraphs 172-183 of the GTAA Guidance. 

Page 197



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

 

 

Page 24 
 

based research. Data from the Gypsy and Traveller Caravan Count has also been considered as supporting 
evidence.  

Compliance with Engagement Checklist 
4.28 The table below shows that this GTAA has been compliant with all of points set out in the Engagement 

Checklist in the Welsh Government GTAA Guidance. 
 
Figure 7 – Engagement Checklist   

 Task Completed 

1 

Visit every Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showperson household identified through 
the data analysis process up to 3 times, if necessary. 
 
Whilst it was not possible for ORS Researchers to visit every site in Denbighshire, it was 
possible to interview all resident households that were identified over the phone. 
   

 

2 

Publish details of the GTAA process, including contact details to allow community 
members to request an interview, on the local authority website, Travellers Times 
website and the World’s Fair publication. In addition adverts were placed by Welsh 
Government. 
 
Extensive publicity was undertaken to promote the GTAA and details can be found in 
Appendix F. However, Worlds Fair ceased being published as a weekly newspaper in 
2019 (although there are plans to relaunch it in 2021) and Travellers Times no longer 
publish details of GTAAs on their Facebook pages. 

 

3 

Consult relevant community support organisations, such as those in Annex 1. 
 
Engagement was sought with all organisations listed in Annex 1 of the GTAA Guidance. 
The only organisation that responded was Travelling Ahead and a telephone interview 
was completed with their Team Manager. A summary of the outcomes of the interview 
can be found in Appendix E. 
 

 

4 

Develop a Local Authority waiting list for both pitches and housing, which is accessible 
and communicated to community members. 
 
There are no public sites in Denbighshire County Council. 

 

5 

Endeavour to include Gypsies and Travellers on the GTAA Project Steering Group. 
 
Due to the small numbers of Gypsy and Traveller households within the county, it was 
not possible to encourage a member of the Gypsy and Traveller community to sit on 
the Steering Group. 
 

 

6 

Ensure contact details provided to the local authority by community members through 
the survey process are followed up and needs assessed.  
 
All contacts provided by the local authority were followed up and interviews were 
completed. 
 

 

Page 198



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

 

 

Page 25 
 

7 

Consider holding on-site (or nearby) GTAA information events to explain why 
community members should participate and encourage site residents to bring others 
who may not be known to the local authority. 
 
Due to the very small number of Travellers in Denbighshire, and ongoing concerns due 
to COVID-19 it was not possible to hold any on-site information events.  
 

 

 
 

 

Page 199



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

 

 

Page 26 
 

5. Survey Findings 
Background 

5.1 The desk-based research, and additional information from members of the Steering Group, identified a total 
of 2 unauthorised Gypsy and Traveller sites and no Travelling Showpeople yards in Denbighshire. A total of 4 
households living in bricks and mortar were also identified. 
 
Figure 8 - Sites in Denbighshire (November 2021)  

Site Name Pitches Status 
Unauthorised 1 6 Unauthorised 
Unauthorised 2 1 Unauthorised 
Various (x4) n/a Bricks and mortar 
TOTAL 7  

5.2 Interviews were attempted on the sites and yards between August 2021 and November 2021 and a total of 
7 successful interviews were completed across the 2 unauthorised sites. In addition, a total of 3 interviews 
were completed with households that were identified living in bricks and mortar. In addition, whilst another 
extended family were identified living in bricks and mortar who had completed an interview during the 
previous GTAA, they declined to be interviewed as part of the new GTAA. This represented an overall 
response rate of 91% of occupied pitches and households 
 
Figure 9 – Interviews completed in Denbighshire (November 2021)   

Site/Yard Name Pitches Interviews Refusals 
Unauthorised 1 6 6 0 
Unauthorised 2 1 1 0 
Bricks and Mortar 1 n/a 1 0 
Bricks and Mortar 2 n/a 1 0 
Bricks and Mortar 3 n/a 1 0 
Bricks and Mortar 4 n/a 0 1 
TOTAL 7 10 1 

Interview Log 
5.3 A copy of the Interview Log can be found in Appendix C. 

Overview and Demographics of Residents 
5.4 Information collected on the type of accommodation lived in by those who were interviewed shows that the 

Gypsies and Travellers who were interviewed in Denbighshire live on unauthorised sites, or in bricks and 
mortar. 

Page 200



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

 

 

Page 27 
 

5.5 Ethnicity data was captured from all of the households that were interviewed on the unauthorised Gypsy and 
Traveller sites and for those living in bricks and mortar. All those who were interviewed identified as Welsh 
Gypsies. 

5.6 In total the site interviews covered 28 residents living on the 2 unauthorised Gypsy and Traveller sites and 
living in bricks and mortar. This was made up of 15 adults and 13 children aged under 18 and is a total of 10 
households. This equates to 54% adults and 46% children and teenagers. Although not a direct comparison, 
data from the Census for Denbighshire as a whole (the settled community and the Gypsy or Irish Traveller 
community) and for Gypsies or Irish Travellers has been compared to the site population. This shows a higher 
proportion of those aged under 18 in the Gypsy and Traveller population when compared to that of the 
Denbighshire population as a whole. This is important when considering the new household growth rate that 
could be applied to the population when longer-term need is determined. 
 
Figure 10 – Age and Gender of Household Members as % of Total Residents Interviewed (November 2021)   

Age and Gender - Sites Number % 
Male 17 61 
Female 11 39 
   
Under 18 13 46 
18 and over 15 54 

Interview Summary 
5.7 Summaries of the interviews that were completed with Gypsies and Travellers living on unauthorised site 

and living in bricks and mortar can be found in Appendix D. 

 

Page 201



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

 

 

Page 28 
 

6. Assessing Accommodation Needs 
6.1 This section focuses on the pitch provision which is needed by Denbighshire County Council for a short-term 

period of 5 years and the full Local Development Plan period to 2033. This includes both current unmet need 
and need which is likely to arise in the future. This time period allows for robust forecasts for future provision, 
based upon the evidence contained within this study and also from secondary data sources.   

6.2 This section is based upon a combination of information from the household interviews, planning records, 
Steering Group members, and from other stakeholders. In many cases, the survey data is not used in 
isolation, but instead is used to validate information from planning records or other sources.    

6.3 This section concentrates not only upon the total provision which is needed in the area, but also whether 
there is a need for any transit sites and/or emergency stopping place provision.  

6.4 Welsh Government Guidance requires an assessment of current and future pitch needs and provides a 
prescribed framework for undertaking this calculation. This framework has been followed for the purpose of 
this GTAA.  

6.5 As with any assessment of housing need the underlying calculation can be broken down into a relatively small 
number of factors. In this case, the key issue for residential pitches is to compare the supply that is available 
for occupation with the current and future needs of the households. The key factors in each of these elements 
are set out in the sections below. 

Current Residential Supply 

» Occupied local authority pitches. 

» Occupied authorised private pitches. 

» Vacant local authority pitches and available private pitches. 

» Pitches expected to be vacated in the near future. 

» New local authority pitches private pitches with planning permission. 

Current Residential Demand 

» Households on unauthorised encampments. 

» Households on unauthorised developments. 

» Concealed /over-crowded/doubled-up households5. 

» Conventional housing – movement from bricks and mortar6. 

» New households to arrive from waiting lists/in-migration. 

                                                           
5 Following the guidance set out in Paragraphs 195-201 of the GTAA Guidance 
6 Following the guidance set out in Paragraphs 172-183 of the GTAA Guidance 

Page 202



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

 

 

Page 29 
 

Future Demand 
6.6 Total future demand is a result of the formation of new households during the study period. Information 

from the site interviews provides details of the gross number of new households expected to form within the 
first 5 years of the study (although it is important to net this off against supply that has been identified during 
the first 5 years of the study). New household formation for the remainder of the study period have been 
based on demographic evidence from the site interviews.  

Current Authorised Residential Supply 
6.7 To assess the current Gypsy and Traveller provision it is important to understand the total number of existing 

pitches and their planning status. At the baseline for the GTAA there were no authorised sites in 
Denbighshire.  
 
Figure 11 – Total number of authorised sites in Denbighshire (November 2021)  

Category Sites Pitches Occupied 
Private sites with permanent planning permission 0 0 0 
Private sites with temporary planning permission 0 0 0 
Public sites (Council and Registered Providers) 0 0 0 
Public transit provision 0 0 0 
Private transit provision 0 0 0 
Tolerated sites 0 0 0 
Total 0 0 0 

 

6.8 The next stage of the process is to assess how much space is, or will become, available on existing sites in 
order to determine the supply of available pitches. The main ways of finding this is through: 

» Current vacant pitches – There are no authorised sites in Denbighshire.   

» Pitches expected to become vacant – There are no authorised sites in Denbighshire.      

» Pitches currently with planning permission – There are no pitches on sites that have 
planning permission that have not been implemented. 

6.9 This gives a figure for overall supply of no pitches.  
  
Figure 12 - Summary of Pitch Supply in Denbighshire - November 2021  

Category Pitches 
Current vacant pitches 0 
Pitches expected to become vacant  0 
Movement to bricks and mortar 0 
Out-migration 0 
Unimplemented pitches with planning consent 0 
TOTAL SUPPLY 0 

Page 203



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

 

 

Page 30 
 

Current Residential Demand 
6.10 The next stage of the process is to assess current need and determine how many households are currently 

seeking pitches in the area.  

Current Unauthorised Sites  
6.11 The study has identified 2 unauthorised sites in Denbighshire. A site with 6 pitches (Unauthorised 1) and a 

site with 1 pitch (Unauthorised 2). 
 
Figure 13 - Summary of Unauthorised and Tolerated Pitches in Denbighshire (November 2021)  

Site Pitches 
Unauthorised pitches 7 
TOTAL  7 

Concealed Households and Over-Crowded Pitches 
6.12 The site interviews sought to identify concealed or doubled-up households on authorised sites that require 

a pitch immediately. Welsh Government Guidance defines concealed households as those which are unable 
to achieve their own authorised accommodation and are instead living within authorised accommodation 
(houses or pitches) assigned to another household. This may include adult children who have been unable to 
move home or different households occupying a single pitch. The site interviews identified no concealed or 
doubled-up households, and no over-crowded pitches. 

Conventional Housing 
6.13 Identifying households in bricks and mortar has been frequently highlighted as an issue with GTAAs. The 2011 

UK Census of Population identified a total of just 15 Gypsy or Irish Traveller households in Denbighshire living 
in bricks and mortar.  

6.14 As noted earlier, ORS went to all possible lengths to identify Gypsies and Travellers living in bricks and mortar 
and worked with stakeholders, Council officers, and households that were interviewed to identify households 
to interview. This process resulted in 1 household that was interviewed who stated that they had a need to 
move to a site in Denbighshire.  
 
Figure 14 - Summary of Bricks and Mortar Need in Denbighshire - November 2021  
 

Site Pitches 
Existing households 1 
TOTAL  1 

New Households to Arrive 
6.15 At the time of the GTAA there were no public sites in Denbighshire and no waiting list. Therefore, there are 

no additional households in need of a pitch in Denbighshire from the waiting list.  

Page 204



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

 

 

Page 31 
 

6.16 Assessments also need to consider in-migration (households requiring accommodation who intend to move 
into the study area from outside) and out-migration (households intending to move away from the study 
area). Site surveys typically identify only small numbers of in-migrant and out-migrant households and the 
data is not normally robust enough to extrapolate long-term trends. At the national level, there is zero net 
migration of Gypsies and Travellers across the UK, but this assessment has taken into account local migration 
effects on the basis of the best local evidence available.  

6.17 Evidence drawn from household interviews in Denbighshire has been carefully considered and has identified 
no evidence of any in-migration. 

Additional Pitch Provision: Future Need 
6.18 The next stage of the process is to assess future need and determine how many households are likely to be 

seeking pitches in the area in the future during the first 5 years of the assessment, and for the longer Local 
Development Plan period to 2033. 

Population and Household Growth 
6.19 Nationally, a household formation and growth rate of 3.00% net per annum has been commonly assumed 

and widely used in local GTAAs, even though there is no statistical evidence of households growing so quickly. 
The result has been to inflate both national and local requirements for additional pitches unrealistically. In 
this context, ORS has prepared a Technical Note on Household Formation and Growth Rates that was updated 
in June 2020. The main conclusions are set out here and the full Technical Note can be found in Appendix G.  

6.20 Those seeking to provide evidence of high annual net household growth rates for Gypsies and Travellers have 
sometimes sought to rely on increases in the number of caravans, as reflected in the Caravan Counts. 
However, Caravan Count data is unreliable and erratic – so the only proper way to project future population 
and household growth is through detailed demographic analysis.  

6.21 The research undertaken by ORS has identified that in fact, the growth in the national Gypsy and Traveller 
population may be as low as 1.50% per annum – much less than the 3.00% per annum often assumed, but 
still greater than in the settled community. Even using extreme and unrealistic assumptions, it is hard to find 
evidence that net Gypsy and Traveller population and household growth rates are above 2.00% per annum 
nationally.  

6.22 The often assumed 3.00% per annum net household growth rate is unrealistic and would require clear 
statistical evidence before being used for planning purposes. In practice, the best available evidence supports 
a national net household growth rate of 1.50% per annum for Gypsies and Travellers.  

6.23 There are 2 measures of household growth that are used for the assessment of need in this study. Evidence 
of gross household formation (family growth) from Section D of the Household Survey, netted off against 
evidence of 1 year pitch turnover and pitches expected to become vacant, has been used for the first 5 year 
period. New household formation for the remaining years of the GTAA has been based on demographic 
evidence from the household interviews.  

6.24 The site and bricks and mortar interviews identified no new households as a result of family growth over the 
first 5 years of the assessment, and a no annual pitch turnover as there are no public sites.   

Page 205



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

 

 

Page 32 
 

6.25 Household formation for the remainder of the GTAA period to 2033 has been based on the overall 
demographics of the population. The GTAA Guidance recommends that applying a net compound growth 
rate should be considered. 

6.26 However, in certain circumstances where the numbers of households and children are low, or the population 
age structure is skewed by certain age groups, it is not appropriate to apply a percentage rate for new 
household formation. In these cases, a judgement is made on likely new household formation based on the 
age and gender of the children. This is based on the assumption that 50% of households likely to form will 
stay in the area. This is based on evidence from other GTAAs that ORS have completed across England and 
Wales. This approach has been taken to determine levels of new household formation for Gypsies and 
Travellers in Denbighshire for the wider period to 2033. The outcome is that a total future need for 4 pitches 
was identified for the period 2026–33. However, it should be noted that this growth figure of 4 is an estimate 
and therefore may vary i.e. increase or decrease beyond 2026.    

Page 206



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

 

 

Page 33 
 

Overall Need for Gypsies and Travellers in Denbighshire  
6.27 The Welsh Government Guidance requires 2 assessments of need – for the first 5 years of the study period, 

and for the full Local Development Plan period.  

6.28 Following this approach, the overall estimated provision that is needed in Denbighshire for the first 5 years 
is for 8 pitches.  

6.29 The overall estimated provision that is needed up to 2033 is for 12 pitches.  
 
Figure 15 – Pitches Needed in Denbighshire from 2021-2033  

Current Residential Supply Number of Pitches Notes 
A. Occupied Local Authority Pitches 0 No public sites 
B. Occupied authorised private pitches/tolerated 

pitches 
0 No authorised sites 

Total 0  
Planned Residential Supply Number of Pitches  
C. Vacant Local Authority pitches and available 

vacant pitches  
0 No public sites 

D. Pitches expected to become vacant in near 
future  

0 No public sites 

E. New Local Authority and private pitches with 
planning permission 

0 No unimplemented pitches 

Total 0  
Current Residential Demand Pitch Demand  
F. Unauthorised encampments 0 None 
G. Unauthorised developments 7 7 unauthorised pitches 
H. Overcrowded pitches/Unsuitable 

accommodation  
0 No doubled-up households 

I. Conventional housing  1 1 household from bricks 
and mortar  

J. New households to arrive  0 No in-migration 
Total 8  
Current Households  Future Households 

(at year 5) 
Future Households 

(years 6 to 12) 
K. 8 8 12 
L. Additional household pitch need 0 4 
Unmet Need Need Arising Need 

Accommodated 
M. Current residential demand –  8  
N. Future residential demand (year 5)  0  
O. Future residential demand (years 6 to 15) 4  
P. Planned residential supply   0 
Q. Unmet need (5 year) 8  
R. Unmet need (to end of the Denbighshire Local 

Development Plan period to 2033 
12  

 
  

Page 207



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

 

 

Page 34 
 

Transit/Emergency Stopping Site Provision  

6.30 Transit sites serve a specific function of meeting the needs of Gypsy and Traveller households who are visiting 
an area or who are passing through.  A transit site typically has a restriction on the length of stay of around 
13 weeks and has a range of facilities such as water supply, electricity, and amenity blocks. An alternative to 
a transit site is a temporary stopping place. This type of site also has restrictions on the length of time a 
Traveller can stay on it but has much more limited facilities with typically only a source of water and chemical 
toilets provided. 

6.31 The Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994 is particularly important with regard to the issue of Gypsy and 
Traveller transit site provision. Section 62A of the Act allows the Police to direct trespassers to remove 
themselves, their vehicles, and their property from any land where a suitable pitch on a relevant caravan site 
is available within the same Local Authority area. A suitable pitch on a relevant caravan site is one which is 
situated in the same Local Authority area as the land on which the trespass has occurred, and which is 
managed by a Local Authority, a Registered Provider or other person or body as specified by order by the 
Secretary of State. Case law has confirmed that a suitable pitch must be somewhere where the household 
can occupy their caravan. Bricks and mortar housing is not a suitable alternative to a pitch7. Therefore, a 
transit site both provides a place for households in transit to an area and also a mechanism for greater 
enforcement action against inappropriate unauthorised encampments.    

6.32 In order to identify whether there is a need for the Council to provide transit accommodation analysis has 
been undertaken of the Caravan Count data, recorded encampment data provided by the Council, and the 
outcomes from the household interviews.  

6.33 Discussions with local stakeholders, and analysis of records of unauthorised encampments, confirmed that 
there are instances of unauthorised encampments in Denbighshire, but that these are normally Travellers 
passing through for work purposes given that the area is on the main A55 travelling corridor across North 
Wales for Travellers coming to and from Ireland on the ferry from Holyhead. There have also been records 
of encampments in the middle and south of the county. There is also anecdotal evidence of repeat visits from 
the same households at similar times of the year. 

6.34 Detailed analysis of records of unauthorised encampments in Denbighshire from 2014 to 2021 (to date) are 
shown in the table below. These include localised instances of Travellers temporarily visiting Denbighshire to 
attend weddings or other events, but no further evidence of any long-term or permanent accommodation 
needs were identified. 

6.35 The outcomes from the household interviews and discussions with stakeholders did not identify that there 
was a need for permanent transit provision locally, although there were discussions about a need for more 
transit provision across Wales. 
 
 
  

                                                           
7 https://www.travellerstimes.org.uk/features/lawyers-opinion-police-powers-and-unauthorised-camps-
travellers-motor-vehicles-and 

 

Page 208

https://www.travellerstimes.org.uk/features/lawyers-opinion-police-powers-and-unauthorised-camps-travellers-motor-vehicles-and
https://www.travellerstimes.org.uk/features/lawyers-opinion-police-powers-and-unauthorised-camps-travellers-motor-vehicles-and


Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

 

 

Page 35 
 

Figure 16 – Recorded Encampments in Denbighshire 2014-2021 (to date)  
 

Year Recorded Encampments No. of Locations 

2014 9 8 
2015 6 6 
2016 15 13 
2017 15 14 
2018 16 15 
2019 8 7 
2020 2 2 
2021 (to date) 5 5  

Transit Recommendations 
6.36 Discussions with local stakeholders, neighbouring local authorities, and analysis of records of unauthorised 

encampments, confirmed that there are instances of unauthorised encampments in Denbighshire, but that 
these are normally Travellers passing through for work purposes given that the area is on the main A55 
travelling corridor across North Wales for Travellers coming to and from Ireland on the ferry from Holyhead. 
This is also evidenced by anecdotal information of repeat visits from the same households at similar times of 
the year. 

6.37 There have been other localised instances of Travellers temporarily visiting Denbighshire to attend weddings 
or other events, but no further evidence of any long-term or permanent accommodation needs were 
identified. 

6.38 The outcomes from the household interviews and discussions with stakeholders did not identify that there 
was a need for permanent transit provision locally, although there were discussions about a need for more 
transit provision across Wales. 

6.39 It is understood that the Council have recently invested in employing a Gypsy, Roma, Traveller Liaison Officer 
as well as formalising a more co-ordinated process for the management of unauthorised encampments. This 
is understood to be to ensure early engagement with families travelling through Denbighshire, and to provide 
a coordinated approach to ensure that welfare checks and facilities such as bins and toilets are provided. This 
resulted in engagement with a total of 5 households living on encampments during the GTAA fieldwork 
period and none expressed a specific need for formal transit provision. This role is also intended to build 
better relations between the Council and the Travelling Community. Discussions with the Council have 
concluded that this approach could be developed further to form the basis of a more comprehensive 
managed approach to include considerations of options such as negotiated stopping. 

6.40 Despite the previous GTAA identifying a need for transit pitches in Denbighshire, the more recent evidence 
suggests that this is no longer the case and that alternative approaches should be considered. As such it is 
recommended that there is not a need at this time for the Council to provide a transit site in Denbighshire 
due to the low numbers of unauthorised encampments, and the short-term transient nature of these 
encampments.  

6.41 It is also recommended that the Council should continue to monitor the number of unauthorised 
encampments and consider the use of a management based approach (including negotiated stopping 

Page 209



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

 

 

Page 36 
 

arrangements) to deal with short-term transient stops. This management-based approach should also 
include consideration about whether to provide toilets, water and refuse facilities. There are a number of 
examples across Wales and England where management-based approaches to dealing with unauthorised 
encampments have been successful. A good example can be found at www.negotiatedstopping.co.uk. There 
are also many examples where local authorities are taking a more strategic and regional approach towards 
addressing transit issues including in Essex, Leicestershire, the former Northamptonshire, and Hampshire. 

Need for Travelling Showpeople Plots  
6.42 Given that there have been no Travelling Showpeople identified as living in Denbighshire, no assessment of 

need has been undertaken. The Council should however monitor any future approaches for planning 
permission from Travelling Showpeople and have in place appropriate criteria-based development plan 
policies to deal with any future applications. 
 

 

Page 210

http://www.negotiatedstopping.co.uk/


Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

 

 

Page 37 
 

7. Conclusions 
Gypsy and Traveller Pitch Need 

7.1 Based upon the evidence presented in this study the estimated additional pitch provision needed for Gypsies 
and Travellers in Denbighshire for the first 5 years of the study period (2021-26) is for 8 pitches and the 
estimated need by 2033, the end of the Denbighshire replacement LDP period, is for a further 4 pitches. This 
gives a total need for the whole period and across Denbighshire for 12 pitches.   

Travelling Showpeople Plot Need 
7.2 Given that there have been no Travelling Showpeople identified as living in Denbighshire, no assessment of 

need has been undertaken. The Council should however monitor any future approaches for planning 
permission from Travelling Showpeople and have in place appropriate criteria-based development plan 
policies to deal with any future applications. 

Transit Sites 
7.3 Despite the previous GTAA identifying a need for transit pitches in Denbighshire, more recent evidence 

suggests that this is no longer the case and that alternative approaches should be considered. As such it is 
recommended that there is not a need at this time for the Council to provide a transit site in Denbighshire 
due to the low numbers of unauthorised encampments, and the short-term transient nature of these 
encampments.  

Addressing Identified Need 
7.4 In general terms need identified in a GTAA should be seen as need for pitches. Welsh Government Guidance 

on Designing Gypsy and Traveller Sites (2015) recommends that as a minimum a pitch should be capable of 
accommodating an amenity block, a mobile home, a touring caravan, and parking for two vehicles. However, 
this guidance relates only to public sites provided by Local Authorities and there are currently no public sites 
in Denbighshire. 

7.5 Given that the need identified in Denbighshire is from households living on unauthorised sites, or from 
households living in bricks and mortar who have all expressed the desire to meet their own need rather than 
live on a public site, it is recommended that the Council should seek to support these households to meet 
their need.   

7.6 It is recognised that the Council are in the process of reviewing their adopted Local Development Plan that 
sets out how overall housing need will be addressed.  The replacement Denbighshire Local Development Plan 
covers the period 2018-2033.  The findings of this report should be considered as part of future housing mix 
and type within the context of the assessment of overall housing need in relation to Gypsies, Travellers and 
Travelling Showpeople.  

 

Page 211



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

 

 

Page 38 
 

Appendix A: Definition of Key Terms 
 

Gypsies and Travellers  (a) Persons of a nomadic habit of life, whatever 
their race or origin, including:  

(1) Persons who, on grounds only of their own or 
their family’s or dependant’s educational or 
health needs or old age, have ceased to travel 
temporarily or permanently, and  

(2) Members of an organized group of travelling 
show people or circus people (whether or not 
travelling together as such); and  

(b) All other persons with a cultural tradition of 
nomadism or of living in a mobile home.  

Source: Section 108, Housing (Wales) Act 2014  

Residential site  A permanent residential site can be privately 
owned or owned by the Local Authority. This site 
will be designated for use as a Gypsy and Traveller 
site indefinitely. Residents on these sites can 
expect to occupy their pitches for as long as they 
abide by the terms of their pitch agreements, 
under the Mobile Homes (Wales) Act 2013.  

Working space may also be provided on, or near, 
sites for activities carried out by community 
members.  

Temporary residential site  These sites are residential sites which only have 
planning permission or a site licence for a limited 
period. Residents on these sites can expect to 
occupy their pitches for the duration of the 
planning permission or site licence (or as long as 
they abide by the terms of their pitch agreements, 
under the Mobile Homes (Wales) Act 2013 – 
whichever is sooner).  

Transit site  Transit sites are permanent facilities designed for 
temporary use by occupiers. These sites must be 
designated as such and provide a route for 
Gypsies and Travellers to maintain a nomadic way 

Page 212



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

 

 

Page 39 
 

of life. Individual occupiers are permitted to 
reside on the site for a maximum of 3 months at a 
time.  

Specific terms under the Mobile Homes (Wales) 
Act 2013 apply on these sites. Working space may 
also be provided on, or near, sites for activities 
carried out by community members 

Temporary Stopping Place  Also known as a ‘stopping place’, ‘Atchin Tan’, or 
‘green lane’, amongst other names. These are 
intended to be short-term in nature to assist Local 
Authorities where a need for pitches is accepted, 
however, none are currently available. Pro-
actively identified temporary stopping places can 
be used to relocate inappropriately located 
encampments, whilst alternative sites are 
progressed.  

Temporary stopping places must make provision 
for waste disposal, water supply and sanitation at 
a minimum.  

Residential pitch  Land on a mobile home site where occupiers are 
entitled to station their mobile homes indefinitely 
(unless stated in their pitch agreement). Typically 
includes an amenity block, space for a static 
caravan and touring caravan and parking.  

Transit pitch  Land on a mobile home site where occupiers are 
entitled to station their mobile homes for a 
maximum of 3 months.  

Transit pitches can exist on permanent residential 
sites; however, this is not recommended.  

Unauthorised encampment  Land occupied without the permission of the 
owner or without the correct land use planning 
permission. Encampments may be tolerated by 
the Local Authority, whilst alternative sites are 
developed.  

Unauthorised development  Land occupied by the owner without the 
necessary land use planning permission.  

Page 213



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

 

 

Page 40 
 

Current residential supply  The number of authorised pitches which are 
available and occupied within the Local Authority 
or partnership area. This includes pitches on Local 
Authority or private sites.  

Current residential demand  Those with a need for authorised pitches for a 
range of reasons, including:  

An inability to secure an authorised pitch leading 
to occupation of unauthorised encampments.  

An inability to secure correct planning 
permission for an unauthorised development.  

Households living in overcrowded conditions and 
want a pitch.  

Households in conventional housing 
demonstrating cultural aversion.  

New households expected to arrive from 
elsewhere.  

Future residential demand  The expected level of new household formation 
which will generate additional demand within the 
5-year period of the accommodation assessment 
and longer LDP period. 

Overall residential pitch need  The ultimate calculation of unmet 
accommodation need which must be identified 
through the Gypsy and Traveller accommodation 
assessment process. This figure can be found by 
adding the immediate residential need to the 
future residential demand. The overall residential 
need will capture the needs across the 5-year 
period within which the accommodation 
assessment is considered to be robust.  

Planned residential pitch supply  The number of authorised pitches which are 
vacant and available to rent on Local Authority or 
private sites. It also includes pitches which will be 
vacated in the near future by households moving 
to conventional housing or in other 
circumstances. Additional pitches which are due 
to open or private sites likely to achieve planning 
permission shortly should be included as planned 
residential supply.  

Page 214



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

 

 

Page 41 
 

Household  In this guidance this refers to individuals from the 
same family who live together on a single pitch / 
house / encampment.  

Concealed or ‘doubled-up’ household  This refers to households which are unable to 
achieve their own authorised accommodation 
and are instead living within authorised 
accommodation (houses or pitches) assigned to 
another household.  

This may include adult children who have been 
unable to move home or different households 
occupying a single pitch.  

Household growth  In this guidance household growth is defined by 
the number of new households arising from 
households which are already accommodated in 
the area. 

  

Page 215



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

 

 

Page 42 
 

Appendix B: Sites and Yards in 
Denbighshire (November 2021) 
 
 
 

 

  

Site/Yard Operational 
Pitches/Plots  

Unauthorised 
Pitches/Plots 

Public Sites   
None - - 
Private Sites with Permanent Permission   
None - - 
Private Sites with Temporary Permission   
None - - 
Tolerated Sites   
None - - 
Unauthorised Sites   
Unauthorised 1 - 6 
Unauthorised 2 - 1 
TOTAL PITCHES 0 7 
Public Transit Sites   
None - - 
Private Transit Sites   
None - - 
Private Travelling Showpeople Yards   
None - - 
Tolerated Travelling Showpeople Yards   
None - - 
Unauthorised Travelling Showpeople Yards   
None  - - 

Page 216



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

 

 

Page 43 
 

Appendix C: Interview Log  
 
 

Address Type of tenure Engagement 
attempts 

Engagement 
techniques 

Completed 
or refusal? 

Reason for 
refusal? 

      
Unauthorised 1 Unauthorised 08/10/2021 Telephone Completed n/a 
Unauthorised 1 Unauthorised 08/10/2021 Telephone Completed n/a 
Unauthorised 1 Unauthorised 08/10/2021 Telephone Completed n/a 
Unauthorised 1 Unauthorised 08/10/2021 Telephone Completed n/a 
Unauthorised 1 Unauthorised 08/10/2021 Telephone Completed n/a 
Unauthorised 1 Unauthorised 08/10/2021 Telephone Completed n/a 
      
Unauthorised 2 Unauthorised 14/09/2021 Telephone Completed n/a 

      
Bricks and Mortar 1 Bricks and Mortar 04/10/2021 Telephone Completed n/a 
      
Bricks and Mortar 2 Bricks and Mortar 08/10/2021 Telephone Completed n/a 
      
Bricks and Mortar 3 Bricks and Mortar 03/09/2021 Telephone Completed n/a 
      
Bricks and Mortar 4 Bricks and Mortar 01/10/2021, 

02/11/21 
and 
04/11/2021 

Face-to-
Face 
(meeting 
with the 
Leader of 
the Council 
to discuss 
concerns) 
and 
telephone 

Refused Lack of 
confidence 
that the 
Council 
will deliver 
a new site 

 

 

  

Page 217



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 

Page 44 

Appendix D: Household Interview 
Summary 

Appendix D is excluded from publication by virtue of Paragraphs 12 and 13 of Part 
4 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act, 1972

Page 218



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

 

 

Page 46 
 

Appendix E: Interview Summary – 
Travelling Ahead 
ORS interviewed a representative from Travelling Ahead8 . 

Travelling Ahead are an organisation which provides support, advice and advocacy for Gypsy, Traveller and 
Roma families across Wales. They have helped to raise awareness of Accommodation Assessments across 
Wales to ensure that the Travelling community are represented and were able to offer assistance to ORS in 
engaging with Travelling Community in Denbighshire for the latest Assessment.  

The following matters were highlighted during the discussion with ORS and relate to existing matters in 
Denbighshire, and the wider context of Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showperson accommodation in 
Wales. 

Denbighshire Specific Issues 

» It was felt that, within Denbighshire Council, there should be continued engagement with 
members of the Travelling Community, including relationship-building engagement with 
elected members. This engagement should be intended to better understand what the 
needs of the Travelling community are and to strengthen understanding of the Local 
Authority duty to actually deliver sites.  

» Underlying all of the Gypsy and Traveller accommodation work in Denbighshire is the 
recent history concerning the planning committee’s refusal of the site put forward by 
Council Officers last year (2020). The refusal of the site was accompanied by public 
opposition. The whole process has done untold damage to the faith of the community 
into how likely it is that the Council are willing or will be able to follow through on 
delivering any sites in the foreseeable future. This is felt by and impacts not just the local 
family who were due to be allocated the site, but all the community across North Wales. 
The council has to work to address these issues systemically and urgently if there is any 
chance of rebuilding this trust.   

» The new Gypsy and Traveller Liaison post in Denbighshire Council is understood to have 
helped with the management of encampments in the area. It was felt it has allowed for 
negations on stopping which has made mutually beneficial arrangements and is building 
relationships/reputation with members of the Travelling community. 

Wider Regional/National Issues 

» It was highlighted that there could be unidentified need arising from people living in 
nomadic accommodation, such as vans, who reside regularly on the North coast of Wales. 
This includes holiday makers and others that would not be seen as traditional Gypsy 
Travellers. These people are therefore not subjected to the same sort of scrutiny and the 

                                                           
8 https://www.tgpcymru.org.uk/what-we-do/travelling-ahead-wales-gypsy-roma-and-traveller-advice-and-advocacy-
service/ 

Page 219

https://www.tgpcymru.org.uk/what-we-do/travelling-ahead-wales-gypsy-roma-and-traveller-advice-and-advocacy-service/
https://www.tgpcymru.org.uk/what-we-do/travelling-ahead-wales-gypsy-roma-and-traveller-advice-and-advocacy-service/


Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

 

 

Page 47 
 

same sort of response from local people and Councils as those seen as Gypsies and 
Travellers would be.  

» The lack of any form of transit provision in North Wales is seen as a big concern, especially 
after a need for transit provision was identified in the last round of GTAAs and no 
provision has been delivered. The Housing Act duty has not been met and shows no signs 
of being met. It was suggested that advice on this issue could be sought from 
organisations outside of Councils and discussed with people with experience of travelling. 
It was felt that engagement with members of the Travelling community will be the best 
way to identify what form the transit provision should take. Furthermore, the Council 
should continually be monitoring the situation and hold itself accountable for any lack of 
action.  

» Given the lack of progress with transit provision in North Wales, there is concern whether 
the GTAA process as a whole actually delivers the network of support for nomadic families 
that is actually needed. While need is being systematically measured, it can be questioned 
whether what is identified is monitored and/or implemented correctly. Concerns 
regarding the reviews of encampment being undertaken by the police and councils across 
North Wales with no involvement of Gypsies and Travellers  

» Travelling Ahead would like to see Welsh Government promote a form of ‘pre-application 
support’ for Travellers looking to purchase land. This is in order to limit the frequency 
with which Traveller’s purchase land that is ultimately unsuitable for permanent 
accommodation.  

» Travelling Ahead would also like to see Welsh Government provide grants and encourage 
leases so that people who don’t have their own resources may be able to access land over 
the long-term. 

 

  

Page 220



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

 

 

Page 48 
 

Appendix F: Publicity Examples  
 

Page 221



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

 

 

Page 49 
 

  

  
Page 222



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

 

 

Page 50 
 

 

Page 223



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

 

 

Page 51 
 

  

Page 224



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

 

 

Page 52 
 

  

Page 225



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

 

 

Page 53 
 

  

Page 226



Opinion Research Services – Denbighshire County Council GTAA – November 2021 
 

 

 

Page 54 
 

Appendix G: Technical Note on 
Household Formation and Growth 
Rates  -  
 
 
 

Page 227



 
 
 

Opinion Research Services | The Strand • Swansea • SA1 1AF | 01792 535300 | www.ors.org.uk | info@ors.org.uk 

 

  

 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Technical Note                     

Gypsy and Traveller Household 
 Formation and Growth Rates 

 

June 2020 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Opinion Research Services                                  

 
 

 

Page 228

http://www.ors.org.uk/


Opinion Research Services | Gypsy and Traveller Household Formation and Growth Rates | June 2020 

 

Page 2 

As with all our studies, this research is subject to Opinion Research Services’ Standard 

Terms and Conditions of Contract. 

 

Any press release or publication of this research requires the advance approval of ORS. 

Such approval will only be refused on the grounds of inaccuracy or misrepresentation. 

 

© Copyright June 2020 

 

 

Page 229



Opinion Research Services | Gypsy and Traveller Household Formation and Growth Rates | June 2020 

 

Page 3 

Contents   
 
Contents .............................................................................................................................................. 3 

Household Growth Rates ........................................................................................................................ 4 

Abstract and Conclusions ............................................................................................................................. 4 

Introduction ................................................................................................................................................. 4 

Modelling Population and Household Growth Rates ................................................................................... 4 

Migration Effects .......................................................................................................................................... 4 

Population Profile ......................................................................................................................................... 5 

Birth and Fertility Rates ................................................................................................................................ 5 

Death Rates .................................................................................................................................................. 6 

Modelling Outputs ....................................................................................................................................... 6 

Household Growth ....................................................................................................................................... 6 

Summary Conclusions .................................................................................................................................. 8 

 

Page 230



Opinion Research Services | Gypsy and Traveller Household Formation and Growth Rates | June 2020 

 

Page 4 

Household Growth Rates 
Abstract and Conclusions 

1. National and local household formation and growth rates are important components of Gypsy and Traveller 

accommodation assessments, but until 2013 little detailed work had been done to assess their likely scale.  

ORS undertook work in 2013 to assess the likely rate of demographic growth for the Gypsy and Traveller 

population and concluded that the figure could be as low 1.25% per annum, but that best available evidence 

supports a national net household growth rate of 1.50% per annum.  

2. This analysis was produced as a separate document in 2013 and then updated in 2015 

(www.opinionresearch.co.uk/formation2015) in light of comments from academics, planning agents and 

local authorities.  The 2015 document was complex because there was still serious dispute as to the level of 

demographic growth for Gypsies and Travellers in 2015. However, ORS now consider these disputes have 

largely been resolved at Planning Appeals and Local Plan Examinations, so we consider that much of the 

supporting evidence is now no longer required to be in the document. 

3. This current document represents a shortened re-statement to our findings in 2015 to allow for easier 

comprehension of the issues involved. It contains no new research and if reader wishes to see further details 

of the supporting information, they should review the more detailed 2015 report.  

Introduction 

4. Compared with the general population, the relative youthfulness of many Gypsy and Traveller populations 

means that their birth rates are likely to generate higher-than-average population growth, and 

proportionately higher gross household formation rates. However, while their gross rate of household 

growth might be high, Gypsy and Traveller communities’ future accommodation needs are, in practice, 

affected by any reduction in the number of households due to dissolution and/or by movements in/out of 

the area and/or by transfers into other forms of housing. Therefore, the net rate of household growth is the 

gross rate of formation minus any reductions in households due to such factors.  

Modelling Population and Household Growth Rates 

5. The basic equation for calculating the rate of Gypsy and Traveller population growth seems simple: start with 

the base population and then calculate the average increase/decrease by allowing for births, deaths, in-/out-

migration and household dissolution. Nevertheless, deriving satisfactory estimates is difficult because the 

evidence is often tenuous – so, in this context in 2013, ORS modelled the growth of the national Gypsy and 

Traveller population based on the most likely birth and death rates, and by using PopGroup (the leading 

software for population and household forecasting). To do so, we supplemented the available national 

statistical sources with data derived from our own surveys.  

Migration Effects 

6. Population growth is affected by national net migration and local migration (as Gypsies and Travellers move 

from one area to another). In terms of national migration, the population of Gypsies and Travellers is 

relatively fixed, with little international migration. It is in principle possible for Irish Travellers (based in 

Ireland) to move to the UK, but there is no evidence of this happening to a significant extent and the vast 

majority of Irish Travellers were born in the UK or are long-term residents. 

Page 231

https://www.opinionresearch.co.uk/formation2015


Opinion Research Services | Gypsy and Traveller Household Formation and Growth Rates | June 2020 

 

Page 5 

Population Profile 

7. The main source for the rate of Gypsy and Traveller population growth is the UK 2011 Census. The ethnicity 

question in the 2011 Census included for the first time ‘Gypsy and Irish Traveller’ as a specific category. While 

non-response bias probably means that the size of the population was underestimated, the age profile the 

Census provides is not necessarily distorted and matches the profile derived from ORS’s extensive household 

surveys. 
 
Table 1 - Age Profile for the Gypsy and Traveller Community in England (Source: UK Census of Population 2011) 

Age Group Number of People Cumulative Percentage 

Age 0 to 4 5,725 10.4 

Age 5 to 7 3,219 16.3 

Age 8 to 9 2,006 19.9 

Age 10 to 14 5,431 29.8 

Age 15 1,089 31.8 

Age 16 to 17 2,145 35.7 

Age 18 to 19 1,750 38.9 

Age 20 to 24 4,464 47.1 

Age 25 to 29 4,189 54.7 

Age 30 to 34 3,833 61.7 

Age 35 to 39 3,779 68.5 

Age 40 to 44 3,828 75.5 

Age 45 to 49 3,547 82.0 

Age 50 to 54 2,811 87.1 

Age 55 to 59 2,074 90.9 

Age 60 to 64 1,758 94.1 

Age 65 to 69 1,215 96.3 

Age 70 to 74 905 97.9 

Age 75 to 79 594 99.0 

Age 80 to 84 303 99.6 

Age 85 and over 230 100.0 

Birth and Fertility Rates 

8. The table above provides a way of understanding the rate of population growth through births. The table 

shows that surviving children aged 0-4 years comprise 10.4% of the Gypsy and Traveller population – which 

means that, on average, 2.1% of the total population was born each year (over the last 5 years). The same 

estimate is confirmed if we consider that those aged 0-14 comprise 29.8% of the Gypsy and Traveller 

population – which also means that almost exactly 2% of the population was born each year. 

9. The total fertility rate (TFR) for the whole UK population is just below 2 – which means that on average each 

woman can be expected to have just less than two children who reach adulthood. We know of only one 

estimate of fertility rates of the UK Gypsy and Traveller community, in ‘Ethnic identity and inequalities in 

Page 232



Opinion Research Services | Gypsy and Traveller Household Formation and Growth Rates | June 2020 

 

Page 6 

Britain: The dynamics of diversity’ by Dr Stephen Jivraj and Professor Ludi Simpson (published May 2015). 

The authors use the 2011 Census data to estimate the TFR for the Gypsy and Traveller community as 2.75. 

10. ORS used our own multiple survey data to investigate the fertility rates of Gypsy and Traveller women. The 

ORS data shows that on average Gypsy and Traveller women aged 32 years have 2.5 children (but, because 

the children of mothers above this age point tend to leave home progressively, full TFRs were not completed). 

On this basis it is reasonable to infer an average of 3 children per woman during her lifetime, which is broadly 

consistent with the estimate of 2.75 children per woman derived from the 2011 Census. 

Death Rates 

11. Although the above data imply an annual growth rate through births of about 2%, the death rate has also to 

be taken into account. Whereas the average life expectancy across the whole population of the UK is 

currently just over 80 years, a Sheffield University study found that Gypsy and Traveller life expectancy is 

about 10-12 years less than average (Parry et al (2004) ‘The Health Status of Gypsies and Travellers: Report 

of Department of Health Inequalities in Health Research Initiative’, University of Sheffield).  

12. Therefore, in our population growth modelling we used a conservative estimate of average life expectancy 

as 72 years – which is entirely consistent with the lower-than-average number of Gypsies and Travellers aged 

over 70 years in the 2011 Census (and also in ORS’s own survey data). 

Modelling Outputs 

13. If we assume a TFR of 3 and an average life expectancy of 72 years for Gypsies and Travellers, then the 

modelling, undertaken in PopGroup, projects the population to increase by 66% over the next 40 years – 

implying a population compound growth rate of 1.25% per annum. If we assume that Gypsy and Traveller life 

expectancy increases to 77 years by 2050, then the projected population growth rate rises to nearly 1.50% 

per annum. To generate an ‘upper range’ rate of population growth, we assumed an implausible TFR of 4 and 

an average life expectancy rising to 77 over the next 40 years – which then yields an ‘upper range’ growth 

rate of 1.90% per annum.  

Household Growth 

14. In addition to population growth influencing the number of households, the size of households also affects 

the number. Hence, population and household growth rates do not necessarily match directly, mainly due to 

the current tendency for people to live in smaller childless or single person households. 

15. Because the Gypsy and Traveller population is relatively young and has many single parent households, a 

1.25%-1.50% annual population growth could yield higher-than-average household growth rates, particularly 

if average household sizes fall or if younger-than-average households form. However, while there is evidence 

that Gypsy and Traveller households already form at an earlier age than in the general population, the scope 

for a more rapid rate of growth, through even earlier household formation, is limited.  

16. Based on the 2011 Census, the table below compares the age of household representatives in English 

households with those in Gypsy and Traveller households – showing that the latter has many more household 

representatives aged under-25 years. In the general English population 3.60% of household representatives 

are aged 16-24, compared with 8.70% in the Gypsy and Traveller population. ORS’s survey data shows that 

about 10% of Gypsy and Traveller households have household representatives aged under-25 years. 
 

 

Page 233



Opinion Research Services | Gypsy and Traveller Household Formation and Growth Rates | June 2020 

 

Page 7 

Table 2 - Age of Head of Household (Source: UK Census of Population 2011) 

Age of household representative 

All households in England 
Gypsy and Traveller 

households in England 

Number of 
households 

Percentage of 
households 

Number of 
households 

Percentage 
households 

Age 24 and under 790,974 3.6% 1,698 8.7% 

Age 25 to 34 3,158,258 14.3% 4,232 21.7% 

Age 35 to 49 6,563,651 29.7% 6,899 35.5% 

Age 50 to 64 5,828,761 26.4% 4,310 22.2% 

Age 65 to 74 2,764,474 12.5% 1,473 7.6% 

Age 75 to 84 2,097,807 9.5% 682 3.5% 

Age 85 and over 859,443 3.9% 164 0.8% 

Total 22,063,368 100% 19,458 100% 

17. The following table shows that the proportion of single person Gypsy and Traveller households is not 

dissimilar to the wider population of England; but there are more lone parents, fewer couples without 

children, and fewer households with non-dependent children amongst Gypsies and Travellers 

Table 3 - Household Type (Source: UK Census of Population 2011) 

Household Type 

All households in England 
Gypsy and Traveller 

households in England 

Number of 
households 

Percentage of 
households 

Number of 
households 

Percentage 
households 

Single person 6,666,493 30.3% 5,741 29.5% 

Couple with no children 5,681,847 25.7% 2345 12.1% 

Couple with dependent children 4,266,670 19.3% 3683 18.9% 

Couple with non-dependent 

children 1,342,841 
6.1% 

822 
4.2% 

 Lone parent: Dependent children 1,573,255 7.1% 3,949 20.3% 

 Lone parent: All children non-

dependent 
766,569 3.5% 795 4.1% 

Other households 1,765,693 8.0% 2,123 10.9% 

Total 22,063,368 100% 19,458 100% 

 

Page 234



Opinion Research Services | Gypsy and Traveller Household Formation and Growth Rates | June 2020 

 

Page 8 

18. The key point, though, is that since 20% of Gypsy and Traveller households are lone parents with dependent 

children, and up to 30% are single persons, there is limited potential for further reductions in average 

household size to increase current household formation rates significantly – and there is no reason to think 

that earlier household formations or increasing divorce rates will in the medium term affect household 

formation rates. While there are differences with the general population, a 1.25%-1.50% per annum Gypsy 

and Traveller population growth rate is likely to lead to a household growth rate of 1.25%-1.50% per annum 

Summary Conclusions 

19. The best available evidence suggests that the net annual Gypsy and Traveller household growth rate is 1.50% 

per annum. Some local authorities might allow for a household growth rate of up to 2.50% per annum, to 

provide a ‘margin’ if their populations are relatively youthful; but in areas where on-site surveys indicate that 

there are fewer children in the Gypsy and Traveller population, lower estimates should be used. 

20. The outcomes of this Technical Note can be used to provide an estimate of local new household formation 

rates by adjusting the upper national growth rate of 1.50% based on local demographic characteristics. 

21. In addition, in certain circumstances where the numbers of households and children are higher or lower than 

national data has identified, or the population age structure is skewed by certain age groups, it may not be 

appropriate to apply a percentage rate for new household formation. In these cases, a judgement should be 

made on likely new household formation based on the age and gender of the children identified in local 

household interviews. This should be based on the assumption that 50% of households likely to form will stay 

in any given area and that 50% will pair up and move to another area, while still considering the impact of 

dissolution. This is based on evidence from over 140 GTAAs that ORS have completed across England and 

Wales involving over 4,300 household interviews. 

 

Page 235



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 237

By virtue of paragraph(s) 12, 13 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Gypsy and Traveller
Accommodation Assessment
2021
Well-being Impact Assessment Report
This report summarises the likely impact of the proposal on the social, economic, environmental
and cultural well-being of Denbighshire, Wales and the world.

Assessment Number: 896

Brief description:

The Council is required under the Housing Act (Wales) 2014 section 101,
to assess the accommodation needs of Gypsies, Roma and Travellers .
The report provides an assessment of need to meet this duty. The
Council is required to update the GTAA every five years. New
assessments were originally required to be submitted to Welsh
Government by Feb 2021 but this has been extended to Feb 2022 in the
light of Covid restrictions which impact on the methodology required to
compete the assessment. The assessment and report are now in draft
final form.

Date Completed: Version: 0

Completed by:

Responsible Service: Planning & Public Protection

Localities affected by
the proposal: Whole County,

Who will be affected by
the proposal?

Members of the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller community in need of
residential or transit accommodation. Residents of Denbighshire Elected
Members.

Was this impact
assessment completed
as a group?

Yes

Appendix 3

Page 239



Well-being Goals

A prosperous Denbighshire Neutral

A resilient Denbighshire Positive

A healthier Denbighshire Positive

IMPACT ASSESSMENT SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION
Before we look in detail at the contribution and impact of the proposal, it is important to consider
how the proposal is applying the sustainable development principle. This means that we must act "in
a manner which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the
ability of future generations to meet their own needs."

Score for the sustainability of the approach

 ( 3 out of 4 stars ) Actual score : 27 / 36.

Summary for each Sustainable Development principle

Long term

Project is limited to a needs assessment at this stage and only identifies
need. It does not propose mechanisms for meeting the identified need.
Future stages will involve the consideration of physical assets, climate
change etc but at this stage the report only assesses existing and
predicted future growth.

Prevention

Through the identification of any housing needs for members of the
Gypsy, Roma and Traveller Community the Council can actively take
steps to address any need. This project is limited to the assessment of
need. Any future actions to address the need will seek to ensure that the
accommodation needs of members of the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller
Community are appropriately met and seek to reduce the occurrence of
unauthorised encampments which may be in ecologically sensitive
locations.

Integration

An up to date Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment is a
required piece of evidence for the progression of an LDP. Not having this
assessment completed and approved by Council and Welsh Government
will prevent the replacement LDP from progressing to Deposit,
Examination and Adoption. This would leave the Council vulnerable to
speculative development.

Collaboration

The assessment process has been progressed jointly with Conwy CBC to
Welsh Government Guidance to achieve benefits of collaboration.
Denbighshire has received an individual needs assessment report for the
county area. The Council has a duty under the Housing Act (Wales) 2014
to carry out this work.

Involvement

The assessment is a factual price of work not subject to public
consultation. There has been consultation with members of the Gypsy,
Roma and Traveller Community and with representative organisations.
Face to face interviews were offered as set out in WG Guidance. Criticism
of previous assessments included insufficient engagement with members
of the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller Community, additional steps have been
taken to increase involvement in this assessment. A Task and Finish
Group has overseen the consultation and engagement with the Gypsy,
Roma and Traveller Community and that the study is compliant with the
WG methodology.

Summary of impact

Page 240



A more equal Denbighshire Positive

A Denbighshire of cohesive communities Neutral

A Denbighshire of vibrant culture and thriving
Welsh language Positive

A globally responsible Denbighshire Positive

Main conclusions

The overall impact of the proposal to carry out the Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment
(GTAA) is positive. The assessment is required by law and forms a key piece of evidence for the
replacement LDP. Gypsies and Travellers are a group often subject to discrimination and they have
protected characteristics recognised in law. The GTAA will form an assessment and identify any need
for culturally appropriate accommodation for members of the Gypsy and Traveller community
currently residing within Denbighshire or travelling through the County. A project management
approach is being taken to progressing the study with regular briefings for elected members and
senior officers. A member led Task and Finish group was established to oversee the consultation with
members of the Gypsy and Traveller community to ensure that their views are understood and taken
into account. The GTAA establishes need for culturally appropriate accommodation but does not
make recommendations on site specific locations to address that need.

Evidence to support the Well-being Impact Assessment

 We have consulted published research or guides that inform us about the likely impact of the
proposal

 We have involved an expert / consulted a group who represent those who may affected by the
proposal

 We have engaged with people who will be affected by the proposal

Page 241



THE LIKELY IMPACT ON DENBIGHSHIRE, WALES AND THE
WORLD

A prosperous Denbighshire

Overall Impact Neutral

Justification for
impact

The project was limited to an assessment of the accommodation needs of
members of the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller community. The assessment
identifies any accommodation needs but the strategy for meeting any
needs will form a separate piece of work. Having a clear picture of
accommodation needs will be beneficial as having stable and suitable
accommodation provides a secure base from which to learn, seek
employment and access health care.

Further actions
required

Awareness raising must be carefully managed to ensure that consistent
messages are used across Council services and in dealing with comments
from the public. The Council should take a clear stance on how it will
respond to racist comments and take appropriate action. The benefits of
having a clear picture of accommodation needs needs to be
communicated to all groups.

Positive impacts identified:

A low carbon society

In conducting telephone, rather than face to face interviews there have
been carbon savings. Although all households were offered the opportunity
to have a face to face interview, preference for telephone interviews were
given in all cases.

Quality
communications,
infrastructure and
transport

Having a clear and agreed assessment of accommodation needs of
members of the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller Community for Denbighshire
will enable the Council to plan effectively.

Economic
development

Members of the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller Community may be at
greater socio-economic disadvantage when compared to the general
population. having a clear and agreed assessment of their needs may
assist in reducing this inequality.

Quality skills for the
long term

Conducting the assessment and progressing it through approval by the
Council and Welsh Government may provide opportunities for awareness
raising and training both across the Council and the wider public.

There has been considerable experience gained in the project
management of a sensitive study which must be delivered to a limited
timescale.

Quality jobs for the
long term

The assessment required project management support which has
generated income for this service that is reliant on fees.

Childcare There are no anticipated impacts on childcare arising from the
assessment.

Negative impacts identified:

A low carbon society No impacts identified.

Quality
communications,
infrastructure and
transport

No impacts identified.

Economic
development No impacts identified.

Page 242



Quality skills for the
long term

The assessment interviews were carried out by consultants who are
experienced in this type of work. There were limited opportunities for
shared learning around the technical side of the assessment but there was
learning around the management of a sensitive project.
Awareness raising can generate negative comments linked to stereotypes
of people with protected characteristics.

Quality jobs for the
long term No impacts identified.

Childcare There are no anticipated impacts on childcare arising from the
assessment.

A resilient Denbighshire

Overall Impact Positive

Justification for
impact

The GTAA is a report that identifies the accommodation needs of Gypsy,
Roma and Traveller Families in Denbighshire. The GTAA only identifies the
quantum of any need, it does not propose sites to address any identified
need. The GTAA identifies need and indicates broadly where within the
County the need exists. The identification of any sites to meet this need
will form a separate piece of work. Completion of a GTAA is a requirement
under the Housing Act (Wales) 2014. The GTAA is also a required part of
the evidence base for the replacement LDP and must be completed and
approved before the replacement LDP can be progressed to Examination
and adoption. A new LDP is required to provide an up to date
development framework that contributes to a more resilient
Denbighshire.

Further actions
required

The GTAA is a report that identifies the accommodation needs of Gypsy,
Roma and Traveller Families in Denbighshire. The GTAA only identifies the
quantum of any need, it does not propose sites to address any identified
need. A project management approach is being used to try to ensure that
the progression and approval of the GTAA is completed in a timely
fashion. Elected members and senior officers have been regularly briefed
and updated on the project prior to it starting and this has continued
throughout it's development.

Positive impacts identified:

Biodiversity and the
natural environment

The GTAA is a required part of the evidence base for the replacement LDP.
Having an up to date and approved GTAA will enable the replacement LDP
to progress towards adoption. This will ensure that development happens
in a planned manner on sites where the impacts on biodiversity and the
natural environment are minimised. The replacement LDP will also contain
up to date policies that will seek to protect the natural environment.

Biodiversity in the
built environment

The GTAA is a required part of the evidence base for the replacement LDP.
Having an up to date and approved GTAA will enable the replacement LDP
to progress towards adoption. This will ensure that development happens
in a planned manner on sites where the impacts on the built environment
are minimised. The replacement LDP will also contain up to date policies
that will seek to protect the built environment.

Reducing waste,
reusing and
recycling

The GTAA is a required part of the evidence base for the replacement LDP.
Having an up to date and approved GTAA will enable the replacement LDP
to progress towards adoption. The replacement LDP will contain up to date
policies that will seek to reduce and manage waste.

Page 243



Reduced energy/fuel
consumption

The GTAA is a required part of the evidence base for the replacement LDP.
Having an up to date and approved GTAA will enable the replacement LDP
to progress towards adoption. The replacement LDP will contain up to date
policies that will seek to reduce energy consumption through increased
use of renewable technologies, requirements for the installation of
renewable technology in new developments and the drive towards being a
net zero carbon Council.

People’s awareness
of the environment
and biodiversity

No impacts identified.

Flood risk
management

The GTAA is a required part of the evidence base for the replacement LDP.
Having an up to date and approved GTAA will enable the replacement LDP
to progress towards adoption. The replacement LDP will reflect the latest
flood risk policies and mapping to ensure that any developments are not
subject to flood risk and that the impacts of climate change are fully
considered.

Negative impacts identified:

Biodiversity and the
natural environment

Any delay in approving the GTAA will impact on the progress of the
replacement LDP as it is a required part of the evidence base.
Denbighshire may be subject to speculative development on non allocated
sites due to not having an up to date LDP and an identified land supply for
housing, employment, retail etc.

Biodiversity in the
built environment

Any delay in approving the GTAA will impact on the progress of the
replacement LDP as it is a required part of the evidence base.
Denbighshire may be subject to speculative development on non allocated
sites due to not having an up to date LDP and an identified land supply for
housing, employment, retail etc.

Reducing waste,
reusing and
recycling

Any delay in approving the GTAA will impact on the progress of the
replacement LDP as it is a required part of the evidence base. If there is
no up to date LDP then the Council will be reliant on old policies that do
not fully reflect the aspiration for carbon reduction and addressing the
environmental emergency declared.

Reduced energy/fuel
consumption No impacts identified.

People’s awareness
of the environment
and biodiversity

No impacts identified.

Flood risk
management

Any delay in approving the GTAA will impact on the progress of the
replacement LDP as it is a required part of the evidence base. If there is
no up to date LDP then the Council will be reliant on old policies that do
not fully reflect the latest position regarding flood risk policy and mapping.

A healthier Denbighshire

Overall Impact Positive

Justification for
impact

Members of the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller community have protected
characteristics and need culturally appropriate accommodation to support
their emotional and mental well-being. Completing a GTAA identifies
families in need. Establishing contact with Gypsy, Roma and Traveller
families may enable other support services to build improved relationships
and improve the health outcomes for members of the Gypsy, Roma and
Traveller Community.

Page 244



Further actions
required

Throughout the GTAA process the scope of the assessment has been made
clear in that it relates to an assessment of need and that the study will not
make any recommendations on sites. This can help to manage the
expectations of members of the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller Community.

Positive impacts identified:

A social and physical
environment that
encourage and
support health and
well-being

The identification of Gypsy, Roma and Traveller families in need of
culturally appropriate accommodation in Denbighshire may assist other
services in better engaging with families to support their health and well-
being. As a highly marginalised group in society with protected
characteristics, improved engagement may enable services to be better
delivered through improved communication and the building of
relationships.

Access to good
quality, healthy food No impacts identified

People’s emotional
and mental well-
being

The GTAA is restricted to the identification of housing need for Gypsy,
Roma and Traveller families. In carrying out the assessment the Council is
acknowledging that people with protected characteristics may have
different accommodation needs that are culturally appropriate to them.
The acknowledgement of this need may improve the well-being of Gypsy,
Roma and Traveller families if they feel that their needs are better
understood.

Access to healthcare

The identification of Gypsy, Roma and Traveller families in need of
culturally appropriate accommodation in Denbighshire may assist other
services in better engaging with families to support their health and well-
being. As a highly marginalised group in society with protected
characteristics, improved engagement may enable services to be better
delivered through improved communication and the building of
relationships.

Participation in
leisure opportunities No impacts identified

Negative impacts identified:

A social and physical
environment that
encourage and
support health and
well-being

No impacts identified.

Access to good
quality, healthy food No impacts identified

People’s emotional
and mental well-
being

Approving the GTAA will raise the profile of the issue and may increase
concern amongst both the settled and Gypsy, Roma and Traveller
communities about future stages.

Access to healthcare No impacts identified.

Participation in
leisure opportunities No impacts identified

A more equal Denbighshire

Overall Impact Positive

Page 245



Justification for
impact

Members of the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller community have protected
characteristics under the Equalities Act and frequently suffer from
discrimination. Completing and approving the GTAA which will identify any
accommodation needs is a step towards reducing the inequality in housing
opportunity suffered by members of the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller
Community. Improved health and education outcomes might also be a
positive impact in the longer term.

Further actions
required

Regular briefings for elected members to pass on to their communities to
dispel common misconceptions and reduce discrimination should it arise.
Emphasise that the GTAA does not make recommendations on sites to
meet the need identified. The Council can ensure that the project aligns
with its Public Sector Equality Duty under the Equalities Act (2010).

Positive impacts identified:

Improving the well-
being of people with
protected
characteristics. The
nine protected
characteristics are:
age; disability;
gender
reassignment;
marriage or civil
partnership;
pregnancy and
maternity; race;
religion or belief;
sex; and sexual
orientation

Members of the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller community have protected
characteristics under the Equalities Act. Completing and approving the
GTAA which will identify any accommodation needs is a step towards
reducing the inequality in housing opportunity suffered by members of the
Gypsy, Roma and Traveller Community.

People who suffer
discrimination or
disadvantage

Members of the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller community have protected
characteristics under the Equalities Act and frequently suffer from
discrimination. Completing and approving the GTAA which will identify any
accommodation needs is a step towards reducing the inequality in housing
opportunity suffered by members of the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller
Community.

People affected by
socio-economic
disadvantage and
unequal outcomes

Members of the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller community have protected
characteristics under the Equalities Act and frequently suffer from
discrimination and socio-economic disadvantage. Completing and
approving the GTAA which will identify any accommodation needs is a step
towards reducing the inequality in housing opportunity suffered by
members of the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller community.

Areas affected by
socio-economic
disadvantage

The GTAA identifies families in need of culturally appropriate
accommodation. The GTAA does not make any recommendations as to
sites but the Council will have information on the location of families in
any need. This can be mapped against areas of known socio-economic
disadvantage.

Negative impacts identified:

Page 246



Improving the well-
being of people with
protected
characteristics. The
nine protected
characteristics are:
age; disability;
gender
reassignment;
marriage or civil
partnership;
pregnancy and
maternity; race;
religion or belief;
sex; and sexual
orientation

Carrying out the GTAA may raise the profile of members of the Gypsy,
Roma and Traveller community currently resident in Denbighshire which
may increase their vulnerability as a group with protected characteristics.

People who suffer
discrimination or
disadvantage

Approving the GTAA may raise the profile of members of the Gypsy and
Traveller community currently resident in Denbighshire which may
increase their vulnerability as a group with protected characteristics.

People affected by
socio-economic
disadvantage and
unequal outcomes

Approving the GTAA may raise the profile of members of the Gypsy,
Roma and Traveller community currently resident in Denbighshire which
may increase their vulnerability as a group with protected characteristics
who are also subject to socio-economic disadvantage..

Areas affected by
socio-economic
disadvantage

No impacts identified.

A Denbighshire of cohesive communities

Overall Impact Neutral

Justification for
impact

The impact is considered to be neutral as there are positive impacts in
terms of increased consultation with a group with protected characteristics
but that raising the profile of members of the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller
Community may lead to division. Lack of consultation with the Gypsy,
Roma and Traveller Community was highlighted by Scrutiny Committee
as a weakness in the current GTAA. This has been addressed via a Task &
Finish group of elected members who have overseen and approved all of
the engagement for the assessment.

Further actions
required

Individual families have been interviewed as part of the preparation and
consultation of the assessment. Their identities and address details will
not be disclosed although general geographical area(s) of need are
highlighted in the report . A Task and finish group was established to
ensure that the consultation and engagement was robust. A detailed
communication and engagement strategy was developed to ensure there
was early engagement with key stakeholders to raise awareness of the
project. Officers will continue to support understanding through reviewing
good practice and lessons learnt from across the UK.

Positive impacts identified:

Safe communities
and individuals

Members of the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller Community currently living in
culturally inappropriate accommodation may be subject to discrimination

Page 247



Community
participation and
resilience

The Welsh Government methodology for preparing the GTAA which must
be followed includes a requirement for face to face interviews with
members of the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller community. This ensures that
members of the community who may not normally be reached by
consultations have an opportunity to input into the assessment which
directly concerns them. All households identified through extensive
engagement expressed a preference for a telephone interview where they
agreed to participate in the assessment.

The attractiveness of
the area

The GTAA itself only assesses housing need and has no impact on the
physical environment at this stage. The GTAA is a required part of the
evidence base for the LDP and without it, the LDP cannot progress. The
replacement LDP will contain policies for environmental protection and
enhancement, and safeguard green space.

Connected
communities No impacts identified

Rural resilience No impacts identified

Negative impacts identified:

Safe communities
and individuals

Approving the GTAA may raise awareness within wider communities that
members of the Gypsy and Traveller community are resident within an
area. This may lead to an increase in discrimination and the perception
that a particular group in society are receiving more assistance than
others.

Community
participation and
resilience

This Needs Assessment is targeting a traditionally hard to reach group
which even with additional efforts taken to engage may not wish to
participate in this process.

The attractiveness of
the area

The GTAA itself only assesses housing need and will have no impact on the
physical environment at this stage. The GTAA is a required part of the
evidence base for the LDP and without it, the LDP cannot progress. With
no replacement LDP there will be no up to date policies for environmental
protection and enhancement, and the safeguarding of green space.

Connected
communities No impacts identified

Rural resilience No impacts identified

A Denbighshire of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language

Overall Impact Positive

Justification for
impact

The GTAA assesses the need for culturally appropriate accommodation of
members of the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller community. This is a vital
aspect of Gypsy, Roma and Traveller culture and the assessment will
inform the Council of the needs of the community in order to sustain their
heritage and culture. The GTAA is also a required piece of evidence for the
replacement LDP. Having an up to date LDP will ensure that the latest
policies to protect and enhance the Welsh language and our cultural
heritage will be in force.

Further actions
required

A project management approach was taken to the GTAA to ensure that it
was completed in a timely fashion. There are regular briefings for elected
Members and senior officers to ensure that there is clarity over the
requirement to produce a GTAA; the methodology that must be followed
and the reporting and approval process. The need to have the GTAA in
place in order to progress the LDP is also being clearly communicated.

Positive impacts identified:
Page 248



People using Welsh

Some members of the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller Community will be
Welsh speakers. The GTAA is a required part of the evidence base for the
replacement LDP and must be completed and approved before the
replacement LDP can be progressed to Examination and adoption. Having
an up to date LDP will ensure that appropriate policies for the protection
and enhancement of the Welsh language are included in the plan.

Promoting the Welsh
language

Some members of the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller Community will be
Welsh speakers. The GTAA is a required part of the evidence base for the
replacement LDP and must be completed and approved before the
replacement LDP can be progressed to Examination and adoption. Having
an up to date LDP will ensure that appropriate policies for the protection
and enhancement of the Welsh language are included in the plan.

Culture and heritage

Some members of the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller community have
protected characteristics linked to their cultural identity. The GTAA will
assess the needs of members of this community in terms of culturally
appropriate accommodation.

Negative impacts identified:

People using Welsh

Any delay to the completion and approval of the GTAA will impact on the
LDP preparation. The replacement LDP cannot be approved without an up
to date GTAA. If the replacement LDP is not progressed then the policies
used to determine planning proposals will be increasingly out of date and
opportunities may be lost to encourage the use of the Welsh language.

Promoting the Welsh
language

Any delay to the completion and approval of the GTAA will impact on the
LDP preparation. The replacement LDP cannot be approved without an up
to date GTAA. If the replacement LDP is not progressed then the policies
used to determine planning proposals will be increasingly out of date and
opportunities may be lost to promote the use of the Welsh language.

Culture and heritage No impacts identified

A globally responsible Denbighshire

Overall Impact Positive

Justification for
impact

A jointly commissioned study has reduced costs and the need to travel to
conduct interviews. Improved communication and links between members
of the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller community and service providers may
lead to improved outcomes in terms of health and education.

Further actions
required

Positive impacts identified:

Local, national,
international supply
chains

The study has been jointly commissioned with Conwy CBC to reduce the
impact of travel for interviews and consultations. Each authority will
receive it's own detailed report and evidence of need.

Human rights

Members of the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller community have protected
characteristics under the Equalities Act. The GTAA is a requirement under
the Housing Act (Wales) 2014 to make an assessment of the need for
culturally appropriate accommodation for members of the Gypsy, Roma
and Traveller community in Denbighshire.

Broader service
provision in the local
area or the region

The GTAA requires face to face interviews and consultation with members
of the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller community. Establishing links with
families currently resident in the County or passing through may assist
other services concerned with health, education etc to build relationships
with the families to better deliver services and improve outcomes across a
range of partner organisations.Page 249



Reducing climate
change None identified

Negative impacts identified:

Local, national,
international supply
chains

None identified

Human rights None identified

Broader service
provision in the local
area or the region

None identified

Reducing climate
change None identified

Page 250


	Agenda
	2 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
	4 MINUTES
	5 STAKEHOLDER/COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT ACTIVITY FOR POTENTIAL CENTRAL RHYL AND CENTRAL PRESTATYN COASTAL DEFENCE SCHEMES
	Flood Defence Schemes Report 091221 - App 1 Prestatyn
	Flood Defence Schemes Report 091221 - App 2 Central Rhyl
	Flood Defence Schemes Report 091221 Appendix 3a Prestatyn Well Being Assessment
	Coastal defence works at Prestatyn
	Well-being Impact Assessment Report
	IMPACT ASSESSMENT SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION
	Score for the sustainability of the approach
	Summary for each Sustainable Development principle
	Summary of impact
	Main conclusions
	Evidence to support the Well-being Impact Assessment

	THE LIKELY IMPACT ON DENBIGHSHIRE, WALES AND THE WORLD
	A prosperous Denbighshire
	A resilient Denbighshire
	A healthier Denbighshire
	A more equal Denbighshire
	A Denbighshire of cohesive communities
	A Denbighshire of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language
	A globally responsible Denbighshire



	Flood Defence Schemes Report 091221 Appendix 3b Central Rhyl Well Being Assessment
	Central Rhyl Coastal Defence Works
	Well-being Impact Assessment Report
	IMPACT ASSESSMENT SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION
	Score for the sustainability of the approach
	Summary for each Sustainable Development principle
	Summary of impact
	Main conclusions
	Evidence to support the Well-being Impact Assessment

	THE LIKELY IMPACT ON DENBIGHSHIRE, WALES AND THE WORLD
	A prosperous Denbighshire
	A resilient Denbighshire
	A healthier Denbighshire
	A more equal Denbighshire
	A Denbighshire of cohesive communities
	A Denbighshire of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language
	A globally responsible Denbighshire




	6 NEW WASTE AND RECYCLING OPERATING MODEL GENERAL UPDATE AND COMMUNICATIONS PROGRESS
	Waste Model Report 091221 - App I
	Waste Model Report 091221 - App II
	Waste Model Report 091221 - App III
	Waste Model Report 091221 - App IV
	Waste Model Report 091221 - App V
	Waste Model Report 091221 - App VI
	Waste Model Report 091221 - App VII
	Waste Model Report 091221 - App VIII

	7 SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME
	Communities FWP - App 1[1]
	Work Programme Report  - App 2E
	Work Programme Report  - App 3
	Work Programme Report  - App 4

	9 DENBIGHSHIRE'S GYPSY AND TRAVELLER ACCOMMODATION ASSESSMENT (2021)
	GTAA Report 091221 - App 1
	Appendix 1 GTAA - T & F Group report
	Gypsy & Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) Task and Finish Group Report November 2021

	Appendix 1 Annex 1 GTAA T&F Group  Terms of Reference
	Appendix 1 Annex 2 GTAA Workbrief update report

	GTAA Report 091221 - App 2
	Draft Final Report Denbighshire GTAA Redacted with explanation (1.0)
	Denbighshire County Council Gypsy and Traveller  Accommodation Assessment (GTAA)
	Contents

	1. Executive Summary
	Introduction and Methodology
	Pitch Needs – Gypsies and Travellers
	Plot Needs - Travelling Showpeople
	Transit Recommendations

	2. Background and Policy Context
	The Study
	Legislation and Guidance
	Welsh Government Circular 005/2018
	Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015
	Housing (Wales) Act 2014
	Mobile Homes (Wales) Act 2013
	Welsh Government Designing and Managing Gypsy and Traveller Sites Guidance
	Denbighshire Local Development Plan (2006-2021), Adopted 2013
	Policy BSC 10 – Gypsy & Traveller Sites
	Proposals for gypsy and traveller caravan sites (including mixed residential and business sites) will be permitted provided the following criteria are met:
	i) the site is situated outside the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, Green Barriers and the Pontcysyllte Canal and Aqueduct World Heritage site (including the buffer zone); and
	ii) the site is located within or on the outskirts of an established settlement boundary with access to a range of facilities/services (including schools), public transport and main transport routes; and,
	iii) the proposal makes suitable provision for on-site play space, storage, and parking; and,
	iv) the proposal would not be detrimental to the amenity of occupiers of adjacent properties.
	Sites in other locations will only be permitted where it is demonstrated that sites within or on the outskirts of an established settlement boundaries are not available and all the above criteria are met.
	The Council will identify permanent and transit caravan sites for gypsies and travellers should an unmet need be identified for Denbighshire in the emerging North West Wales Local Housing Market Assessment.
	Definition of Key Terms

	3. Analysis of Existing Data
	Current and Previous GTAAs
	Denbighshire GTAA 2017
	Caravan Count Data
	Sites and Yards in Denbighshire

	4. Methodology
	GTAA Project Steering Group
	GTAA Project Board
	Task & Finish Group
	Stakeholder Engagement
	Identify and Analyse Existing Data
	Publicise the Accommodation Assessment
	Conducting the Accommodation Assessment Surveys
	Household Interviews
	Bricks and Mortar Interviews
	Calculate the Accommodation Needs of Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople
	Current Residential Supply
	Current Residential Demand
	Future Demand
	Final Outcomes
	Transit Provision
	Compliance with Engagement Checklist

	5. Survey Findings
	Background
	Interview Log
	Overview and Demographics of Residents
	Interview Summary

	6. Assessing Accommodation Needs
	Current Residential Supply
	Current Residential Demand
	Future Demand
	Current Authorised Residential Supply
	Current Residential Demand
	Current Unauthorised Sites
	Concealed Households and Over-Crowded Pitches
	Conventional Housing
	New Households to Arrive
	Additional Pitch Provision: Future Need
	Population and Household Growth
	Overall Need for Gypsies and Travellers in Denbighshire
	Transit Recommendations
	Need for Travelling Showpeople Plots

	7. Conclusions
	Gypsy and Traveller Pitch Need
	Travelling Showpeople Plot Need
	Transit Sites
	Addressing Identified Need

	Appendix A: Definition of Key Terms
	Appendix B: Sites and Yards in Denbighshire (November 2021)
	Appendix C: Interview Log
	Appendix D: Household Interview Summary
	Unauthorised Sites
	Unauthorised 1 and Bricks and Mortar 2
	Unauthorised 2

	Appendix E: Interview Summary – Travelling Ahead
	Appendix F: Publicity Examples
	Appendix G: Technical Note on Household Formation and Growth Rates  -

	2020 06 26 ORS Technical Note Household Formation and Growth Rates - Revised

	GTAA Report 091221 - App 2(App D) PART II
	GTAA Report 091221 - App 3
	Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment 2021
	Well-being Impact Assessment Report
	IMPACT ASSESSMENT SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION
	Score for the sustainability of the approach
	Summary for each Sustainable Development principle
	Summary of impact
	Main conclusions
	Evidence to support the Well-being Impact Assessment

	THE LIKELY IMPACT ON DENBIGHSHIRE, WALES AND THE WORLD
	A prosperous Denbighshire
	A resilient Denbighshire
	A healthier Denbighshire
	A more equal Denbighshire
	A Denbighshire of cohesive communities
	A Denbighshire of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language
	A globally responsible Denbighshire







